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1 Hearing opens with Ka Waiata and karakia timatanga by Ngati Whatua Orakei

2 [9.48 am]

3 CHAIR: Nau mai hoki mai ki tcnci timatanui tcna koutou, tcna koutou, a ra tcna ra tatou katoa.

4 Bceforc I open the hearing to counscl, can I just acknowledge some people who arc in the

5 room, particularly the survivors of abusc in carc and their network and their representatives
6 who have been attending regularly. 1 just want to acknowledge first that you have been

[ attending, that you do come and go and it's quite obvious that some of this is very painful

] for you, and in spite of that, you maintain a presence here, a vigil, if you like, and just to

L say that the Commissioners have noticed and appreciate your attention, your close and quiet
10 attention to the evidence. So, thank you for your presence.
11 Good morning. I'll invitc Ms Spclman now to opcn.

12 MS SPELMAN: Téna ra tatou, ¢ mihi ana ki tc pou whakawairua Matua Wyllis nau i

13 whakatowhera t€nci nohoanga kia tika ai te mahi ¢ whai ake nci, t€na koc, otira ki a ratou o
14 Ngati Whatua Orakei, e noho tonu ana matou i raro i td mana, téna koutou. Ki nga purapura
15 kua whettirangitia e mihi ana, ki nga purapura ora ki konei a-ipurangi, ki te kainga e

16 whakarongo mai ana, mai 1 t€nei uri o Ngati Hikairo ki Kawhia, téna koutou katoa. E te

j t€pu nga Kaikdmihana t€na koutou, huri noa ki te whare, t€na koutou, t€na koutou, té€na ra
18 tatou katoa.

19 Good moming, cveryone, my name is Julia Spclman, I'm onc of the Counscl

20 Assisting thc Royal Commission. I'm a woman in my carly 3@s of Maori and Pakcha

21 descent. Today I'm wearing a black dress with a very bright pink jacket and I have brown
22 hair.

23 I'm joined today by my Counsel Assisting colleague, Ms Basire, and together we

24 will be doing the questioning of Police.

25 But first, Madam Chair, 1 will be passing over to the Crown who will begin with the
26 evidence-in-chief.

27  CHAIR: And before we do that, I'll take the affirmation, but before I cven do that, thank you for

28 reminding me, I have not introduced myself to thosc who cannot scc. My namc is Coral
29 Shaw, the Chair of the Commission, I am clderly, I have whitc chin Iength hair and I wear
30 glasses.

31 So, let's, first of all, take the affirmation then I'll invite Mr Clarke-Parker.

32 NEW ZEALAND POLICE

33 ANDREW COSTER AND TANIA KURA (Affirmed)

34  CHAIR: Good morning, Mr Clarkc-Parker.
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1 QUESTIONING BY MR CLARKE-PARKER: Good morning, téna koutou katoa, ko Max

2 Clarkc-Parker ahau. And for thosc who can't sec me, I am Pakcha, I have brown hair, a
3 beard, and today a purple tic. Tena korua.

4 Beginning with you, Commissioncr Coster, may I plcasc have you just give your
5 full name and description.

6 MR COSTER: Andrew David Coster, I'm a male Pakeha, approaching 50, wearing a grey suit,
i with brown hair, short back and sides.
8 MR CLARKE-PARKER: And Deputy Commissioner Kura.
L MS KURA: Kia ora, I'm Tania Ruth Kura, I'm female, part Maori, other side of 50, and I'm
10 wearing a black jacket and a black dress with bright orange flowcrs.
11 MR CLARKE-PARKER: Thank you. And you arc the Dcputy Commissioncr for Leadcership
12 and Capability.
13 MSKURA: Iam.
14 MR CLARKE-PARKER: Commissioner Coster, you have prepared a written brief of evidence

15 for this hearing and that's been submitted to the Commission and that will be taken as read.
16 But you also have a short summary of that brief in front of you that you will read through
17 now?

18 MR COSTER: Ihave.
19 MR CLARKE-PARKER: Thank you, and please go ahcad.
20 MR COSTER: Tcna koutou katoa. E nga mana whcnua o tenci rohe, Ngati Whatua ki Orakei,

21 tenci tc mihi. E nga morchu katoa i to mamac, i to maia, i to manawanui, kci tc mihi, kci tc
22 mihi, kei te mihi. Ki nga Kaikomihana teéna koutou. Ki a koutou katoa kua huihui mai nci,
23 kia ora. Ko Andrew Coster toku ingoa, ko au te Kaikdmihana o Nga Pirithimana o Aotearoa,
24 no reira, téna koutou, téna koutou, téna koutou katoa.

25 I'd first like to acknowledge the courage of those survivors who have appeared

26 before the Commission. [t's clear many have suffered greatly. It's also apparent that some
27 have rcceived inadequate scrvice from Police. This has been difficult to hear.

28 As Commissioner of New Zcaland Policc, I know this is a vastly changced

29 organisation from the one I joined 25 years ago. We don't always get it right, but our

30 people serve their communities with empathy, compassion and professionalism and I'm

31 proud to be their boss.

32 The following statement is a summary of my brief of evidence. It touches on the
33 major themes, and I'll be pleased to go into detail on any point the Commission wishes to

34 know further about.
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CHAIR: Before you carry on, can 1 just ask you to keep an eye on the pace, we have a

2 stcnographcr and the signers who need to kecp up with you

3 MR COSTER: Of course.

4 Bcforc I address the qucstions, the Commission has asked, I wish to makc somce
5 general comments on evidence the Commission has hcard.
6 I acknowledge that Police has historically had relatively few policies, processes and
] procedures aimed at supporting the Deaf community and people with disabilities to engage
] with us. Police continues to work on the gaps which have existed and how we have
L engaged with some Deaf and disabled survivors of abuse.
10 We recognisc we can do morc to improvc scrvices and rclationships with disablcd
11 people.
12 A rccent disability stocktake has led to work to improve our scrvices for disabled
13 communities.
14 I acknowledge that Maori are disproportionately represented across the criminal
15 Justice system. | accept there are serious questions to answer in relation to Maori and
16 Pasifika experiences of policing in New Zealand.
17 Police strongly supports efforts to shine a light on these issues as part of the
18 Waitangi Tribunal's ongoing Justicc System Kaupapa Inquiry.
19 We have initiated a major research programme, Understanding Policing Delivery,
20 focused on whcther and to what cxtent bias cxists at a systcm level in Policc's opcerating
21 environment. The research will explore who Police stop and speak to and how Police
22 engage with them, decisions around the usc of force and prosccution decision-making.
23 We're taking care to ensure the research gives us actionable insights that enable us to
24 quickly make changes as opportunities present.
25 Further, I acknowledge the lack of a clear statutory framework for vetting, which
26 creates uncertainty about what information can be considered as part of the process. Police
27 is an cntry point to the criminal justice system and somctimes Statc carc. With this comcs
28 the responsibility of ensuring our actions are fair, equitable and in the best interests of the
29 community.
30 The Commission has asked Police to comment on the following topics: Te Tiriti o
31 Waitangi, priority groups, Maori, Pacific, and disabled people, monitoring, oversight and
32 safeguarding, entry into care, particularly in relation to surveillance and charging decisions
33 of youth, complaints, referrals and criminal justice, staffing, funding and resources, lessons

34 Icarned.
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1 Te Tiriti o Waitangi. Police is committed to honouring Te Tiriti and upholding its

2 principlcs as Ncw Zcaland's founding document. Onc of our six corc valucs is commitment

3 to Maori and Tc Tiriti. Wc have cstablishcd mechanisms and proccsscs supported by our

4 Maori, Pacific and Ethnic Services, or MPES; to govern our rclationships with tangata

5 whcnua and provide fecdback on our strategics and wherce there is room for improvement.

6 These include the Commissioner’'s Maori Focus Forum, which brings together

i Kaumatua and kuia to provide input at a strategic level to the Police Executive.

] Maori responsiveness managers and Maori advisory groups are active in Police

’ districts operating at the highest levels of district decision-making.
10 Iwi liaison officcrs lcad initiatives to support Maori communitics and cnhance
11 cultural capability in Policc.
12 Thc Maori Wardens programmc brings cxpertisc to Police and gives the wardens
13 valuablc support and rcsources. Recruits arc cxposcd to Maori culturc, tikanga, and
14 language from their first days at the Royal New Zealand Police College.
15 The Turning of the Tide, launched in 2012 and refreshed in 2019 as Te Huringa o te
16 Tal, is our prevention strategy for working with and for Maori communities. This work is
17 guided by a Deputy Chief Executive Maori within the senior Police Executive.
18 Priority groups. As well as tangata whenua, Pacific communities influence policy
19 and service delivery through the Commissioner's Pacific Advisory Forum, Pacific liaison
20 officer roles and the establishment of Pacific staff networks.
21 Woc built relationships by engaging with cight Pacific community rcfecrence groups
22 undcr the Ministry of Pacific Island Affairs Pacific Capacity Building Programmc and
23 established Police Pacific Peoples advisory groups.
24 From 2008 leadership and management commitment were strengthened through an
25 annual national Pacific fono, later sponsored by an Assistant Commissioner. It has a strong
26 and growing membership.
27 Rccruitment and representation. We understand the need to reflect the communitics
28 we serve, so we focus recruitment efforts among Maori, Pacific and cthnic communitics.
29 Bceyond recruitment we are working to incrcasc diversity at all Icvels of our organisation.
30 Disabled people. In 2021 Police undertook a disability stocktake to enhance
31 understanding of our current situation and identify future opportunities. Its findings
32 concluded that Police is an inclusive employer, but community engagement was often

33 reliant on individual staff rather than national leadership. It found our property portfolio
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| included some buildings without disability access or facilities and that Police held data did
2 not mcct the requircd standard.
3 Wc have initiatcd a range of work to ensure wc improvce our scrvices to disabled
4 communities. We recognise that we can do better.
5 Monitoring, oversight and safeguarding. Policc as a carc provider. Policc's rolc as
6 a care provider is limited. @ur facilities are primarily to hold people awaiting court
i appearance or bail with some short-term exceptions. Programmes are underway to address
] the requirements of the present and to redesign Police custody in partnership with iwi for
’ the future.
10 Monitoring of pcoplc in Police custody. Monitoring of a pcrson in custody begins
11 at the time of arrcst or detention and continues until they arc relcased or custody is
12 transfcrred. On arrival, a person's dctails arc recorded in the Electronic Custody Module
13 and an cvaluation of their mental and physical hecalth is made. The Icvel of monitoring
14 from constant to every two hours depends on the perceived risk. Any concern about a
15 person's welfare triggers a call for medical assistance.
16 Entry into care. Before any action that could lead a child or young person towards
17 care, Police must consider the principles of Section 208 of the Oranga Tamariki Act 1989,
18 including: unlcss the public intercst requires otherwisc, criminal proccedings should not be
19 instituted against a child or young person if there is an altcrnative means of dcaling with the
20 mattcr.
21 Before deciding to lay charges, Police will consider the appropriateness of a
22 warning, alternative action, or a family group conference. Alternative actions include
23 Te Pae @ranga, which applies an iwi Maori led framework to the community justice panel
24 approach.
25 Decisions about charging are guided by the Solicitor-General's prosecution
26 guidelines, particularly whether there is enough evidence to convict and whether it is in the
27 public interest to prosecute. The way the guidelines are applied may be different where the
28 accused is a young person.
29 The Commission has identified public survcillance of young pcople Icading them
30 into State care as an area of interest. Police patrol public areas, and intelligence functions
31 access a range of information sources to inform deployment. Helping ensure decisions are

32 supported by robust evidence and analysis.
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1 Police works closely with organisations which work with children, like Oranga

2 Tamariki and its predecessors, to ensure cfticient information sharing and a consistent

3 approach.

4 Complaints, referrals and criminal justicc. Handling of complaints. The handling

5 of allegations of abusc of children, young people, Dcaf or disabled pcople or pcople with

6 mental health conditions has evolved over time. This includes significantly improved

(] management of complaints to ensure interviewing techniques are accurate and reliable

8 while reducing re-traumatisation.

L Improved investigative practices have brought national consistency and a more
10 consistent level of service to victims.
11 Complaints of abuse. Police does not have a universal policy on allegations of
12 abusc in care. All abuse reports are thoroughly investigated in accordance with child
13 protection investigation policy and adult sexual assault investigation policy. Police does
14 not have a specific policy for approaching potential victims to seek disclosures. This is
15 assessed case-by-case. Such approaches are treated with caution to avoid retraumatisation.
16 Investigators may publicise a dedicated 0800 number and e-mail address to

17 encourage potential victims to come forward of their own accord.

18 Specialist child witness interviewing. Sincc 2007, Policc has substantially reformed
19 investigative interviewing, policy and practice. The SCWI modcl follows thc PEACE
20 framework devcloped in the United Kingdom and aligns with intcrnational best practice
21 protocols. An cvaluation of interviews with children in New Zcaland published in 2016
22 identified both strecngths and opportunitics for improvement. Policc and Oranga Tamariki
23 have both made changes, including increased supervision of their interviewers.
24 Receiving and investigating complaints made by vulnerable adults. Police aspires
25 to bring humanity to every policing interaction. Police are trained to be sensitive to the
26 vulnerabilities of persons with whom they interact, adjusting the process to meet the
27 circumstances. A flexible, empathetic approach is considered most appropriate.
28 Prosccution decisions. There arc obstacles to securing convictions for sexual
29 violence offending, particularly historical offending against people who were children at
30 the time. Corroborating evidence can be hard to find, and complainants may be reluctant to
31 disclose what happened to them or engage in a trial process.
32 Charging decisions are commonly made in conjunction with the Crown Solicitor

33 and in line with the Solicitor-General's prosecution guidelines.
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1 It's not unusual for Police to believe a complainant, but not be able to lay charges.
2 Such dccisions do not mean a casc has not becn properly investigated, or that the oftending
3 has not been trcated seriously by Police. Police decisions not to prosccutc allcgations of

4 scxual violencc arc revicwed by the national adult scxual assault and child protcction tcam,
5 helping ensure national consistency.
6 Staffing. Training for interaction with vulnerable people. Police training on
(] responding to situations involving vulnerable people occurs at induction to the organisation,
] initial recruit training and in ongoing workplace learning. Recruits are trained in engaging
L with people experiencing mental distress, including awareness of suicide indicators and

10 how to respond to threcatencd or attcmptced self-harm.

11 There is cultural and awareness training, not directed at children or vulnerable

2 people, but designed to help all staff empathise and engage with different cultures. In

13 addition, the Child Protection Protocol signed between Police and Oranga Tamariki in

14 January 2022 outlines the requirement for Police to access Regional Disability Advisors

15 through Oranga Tamariki where necessary.

16 We are committed to ensuring conscious and unconscious bias are not factors in

17 decision-making and have introduced training accordingly.

18 Vctting of carcgivers and support workers. Policc's vetting scrvice is onc of its

19 general functions under Section 9 of the Policing Act 2008. The aim is to contributc to

20 public safcty, particularly the protection of vulncrable pcoplc and to national sccurity by

21 providing vets for employers and othcrs to asscss the suitability of individuals for scnsitive

22 rolcs.

23 In 1991 there were 24 organisations and relevant organisations who could request a

24 Police vet. Today the Police Vetting Service deals with more than 15,000 approved

25 agencies who collectively request more than 600,000 vets annually. The lack of a clear

26 statutory framework for vetting creates uncertainty about what information can be

27 considercd as part of the vetting proccss.

28 The growth of the NIA, or National Intelligence Application database, and

29 increased information sharing between Government departments means what can be

30 considered Police information is growing significantly and includes information that is

31 subjective and has not been tested, for example, in court.

32 Notification of safety concerns. Responsibility for re-vetting staff members or

33 volunteers lies with the employer or voluntary body. The Children's Act has a requirement
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| that children's workers are re-vetted every three years but there is no formal enforcement or
2 audit proccss to ensure bodies subjcct to the Act comply with this.

3 Finally, lessons learned. Police has had the opportunity to learn lessons from a

4 numbcr of internal and cxternal sourccs. For cxamplc, thc Commission of Inquiry into

5 Police Conduct, or COI, led by Dame Margarct Bazlcy, lcd to a vast range of changcs to

6 adult sexual assault investigation practices.

i In 2019, the Solicitor-General's prosecution guidelines in respect of sexual violence
] allegations were updated by Crown Law to give victims the right to request a review of a

L decision not to prosecute. Those guidelines have been incorporated into Police policy and
10 practice.
11 Police is currently working on a cross government initiative developing a longtcrm
12 strategy to ensure a sustainablc scxual violencc nctwork is availablc to all Ncw Zcalandcrs.
13 Policc is aware that thcre arc more lessons to be Icarned in this spacc and to that cnd we
14 keenly await the Commission's final report and recommendations. Thank you.

15 MR CLARKE-PARKER: Thank you, both, and I'll now hand you over to Counsel Assisting for
16 questioning.

17 CHAIR: Téna koe, Ms Spelman.

18 QUESTIONING BY MS SPELMAN: Te¢na koe.

19 Tena korua. Just to begin with somce timeframcs, Commissioncr Coster, you joincd
20 Police in 1996; is that right?

21 MR COSTER: That's correct.

22 MS SPELMAN: And werc appointcd in your current rolc in 2020.

23 MR COSTER: Correct.

24  MS SPELMAN: And Deputy Commissioner, you joined the Police in 1987?

25 MS KURA: Yes.

26 MS SPELMAN: And also 2020 came into this new role.

27 ~ MS KURA: Idid.

28 MS SPELMAN: Thank you that's some helpful timeframcs as we movce through today.

29 I want to begin with the Police role in cntrics or pathways into carc that you have
30 Just discussed, Commissioner, and as you'll be aware, the Royal Commission is
31 investigating the circumstances that led to individuals being taken into or placed into care

32 and the appropriateness of such placements.
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1 In your statement, Commissioner, and just now, you made reference to Section 208
2 in terms of the principle about not going ahead with criminal proccedings if there's an
3 alternative. Now, that scction that you refer to is from thc 1989 Act, isn't it?

4 MR COSTER: Originally.

5 MS SPELMAN: Ycs, and so that's somcthing in terms of currcnt Police practice that Police

6 would approach matters in that way?

7 MR COSTER: Yes.

8  MS SPELMAN: Considering an alternative before going ahead with criminal proceedings?

* MR COSTER: Correct.
16  CHAIR: JustKecp an eyc on spced, please, we have a long road to travel and we don't want to
11 exhaust our pcoplc.

12 MS SPELMAN: Undcrstood, thank you.

13 Just looking back then betore 1989 to the period that the Commission is looking at,
14 1950 through to 1999, the previous legislation, the Children and Young Persons Act 1974
15 and its predecessor, the Child Welfare Act 1925, to your knowledge was that same

16 provision present in the previous legislation?

17 MR COSTER: I don't believe so, but I obviously have no working knowledge of the previous
18 Icgislation having not had to use it.

19  MS SPELMAN: Sure.

26 MR COSTER: What I would say is thc 1989 Act represcnted a stcp change in the way we dcal

21 with Youth Justice issucs, and what we have scen as a conscquence of that change is an
22 ongoing reduction in youth offending over a 38-year period. So notwithstanding current
23 challenges, it has set us on a good path.

24  MS SPELMAN: Sure, and just for now I'm just going to stick with that period before 1989, we

25 can come to the current and the more recent years a bit later. But looking back again, pre-
26 1989, when that provision didn't exist, would you accept that there wasn't such an

27 imperative for Police to consider altcrnative action and that that was part of the changc that
28 camc in the 1989 Act?

29 MR COSTER: I think that's fair.
3@  MS SPELMAN: In terms of more generally, the period 1950s to the 197@s, we know that,

31 looking back, it's obviously going back some time now, research has characterised that
32 period as one of moral panic more generally, there's lots of research about concerns of
33 youth delinquency. Would you accept that as a general characterisation of that period?

34 MR COSTER: It sccms to be a fecaturc of every gencration unfortunatcly.
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MS SPELMAN: Sure. And during that period, 1 suppose the more criminalising approach, and

2 I say that comparcd to pcrhaps currcnt practice with alternative action, would you say that
3 was somcthing that was approached not just by Policc but that was a gencral attitude in

4 tcrms of politicians and Social Wclfarc and the other agencics that opcrated during that

5 1950s to 1970s period?

6 MR COSTER: I think that's a fair statement. No first hand knowledge though.
7  MS SPELMAN: Looking back, I suppose to someone who does have first hand knowledge, Ta

] Kim Workman, who obviously was a police officer back at that time and you'll be aware

’ he's given evidence at previous Royal Commission hearings, so I just want to read you a
10 brief quote from what he said previously in terms of that particular period and then ask for
11 your commcnt on it.
12 So Ta Kim described that time as:
13 "The whole culturc of Policc was gcarcd towards cnforcement, catching pcople

14 doing stuffand punishing them in the naive belief that that would prevent them from doing
15 it again."

16 I'm not asking you in terms of your first hand experience, but as Commissioner of
17 Police looking back on the organisation that you've inherited, does that generally accord

18 with your understanding of that timc?

19 MR COSTER: I have huge respect for Ta Kim and he is speaking from first hand experience.

20 I certainly couldn't contradict him, and I think it's fair to say the journey the organisation
21 has been on has scen it shift very significantly from a singular focus on cnforccment to a
22 much broadcr focus on prevention and on taking actions that will prevent futurc harm.

23 MS SPELMAN: Sure. Just one other legislative point just in terms of the context for this period.

24 In the 1974 Act, so the one we were just speaking about, the predecessor to the 1989 Act,
25 there was another section, Section 12, which included broad powers for Police to pick up

26 essentially unaccompanied children in public places and if a parent or guardian could not be
27 found to dcliver them into the custody of the Dircctor-General of Social Welfare.

28 Now,-- it's not a quiz on the lcgislation, but simply to sct up that contcxt for the

29 period that we're talking about, I think you would accept that back then there were much

30 more general powers for Police to do that sort of enforcement on the streets, picking up

31 children in a way that perhaps wouldn't be done today?

32 MR COSTER: I certainly know practice has changed. @bviously, the current Act has provision
33 for Police to take into care kids who are at risk unaccompanied, but the provision is

34 differcnt and I'm certain the practice is diff crent.
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1 MS SPELMAN: Thank you. So, in practical terms then, and again I'm asking about the 1950s to

2 1970s sort of historic pcriod, in practical terms the way that children camc, I supposc, many
3 times into carc was Policc picking them up on the strect and bringing them to the Children's
4 Court, sometimes a Police action, somctimes an action of Social Welfarc, but in tcrms of a
5 pathway to coming beforc the court, Policc had a rolc in that?

6 MR COSTER: Yeah, [ can't agree with the suggestion that it was the dominant route, 1 just don't
7 know the answer to that, but I certainly accept that it is a route by which people may enter
] the system of care.

° MS SPELMAN: In terms of that route, whether it was the dominant one or not, that really was

10 the Police, in terms of Policc role, entry into carc, it was who and how the Policc were
11 policing that wc're focused on in terms of what would be the Police rolc of pathways into
2 carc.

13 MR COSTER: Iimaginc, similar to today, that Policc would come across circumstanccs wherc

14 young people were at risk, also in family circumstances and that there would have been

15 routes for young people into care that weren't only about being found unaccompanied, or

16 offending in a public place. So, I think it's certainly a route, but it's quite hard for me to put
17 a finger on exactly at that time what was happening and what was the dominant path for

18 young people and Police's involvement.

19  MS SPELMAN: Surc. So looking back to that period, we also hcard in a previous hearing from

20 Dr Oliver Suthcrland who, as you may be awarc, did a lot of work during this timc pcriod
21 with children and young peoplc who werc held in Police cclls and brought before children's
22 courts, and he makcs refcrence to studics from that time, a study by Ross Hampton of the
23 Justice Department research section looking at 1973 and Auckland Police officers when

24 deciding who to prosecute, and the finding was that when deciding who to prosecute,

25 Paelice:

26 "... discriminated against Maori boys by sending a disproportionate number of them
27 to court, thus inflating their crime ratc in comparison with that of non--Maori children.”

28 MR COSTER: I certainly accept that therc arc a disproportionatc numbcr of Maori boys who

29 went to court and sadly that continues to bc the circumstance in the criminal justice systcm
30 today. What I can't prove out in terms of what was occurring at that time is the cause of

31 that and the statement includes both elements, so that's, in terms of today's practice, one of
32 the areas where we really focus through our understanding, policing delivery programme of
33 work which is about trying to dig in to what is the reason for the disproportionate

34 representation and what role might Police have at that.
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1 MS SPELMAN: I'll justask you, Commissioner, we will come later on today to talk about the

2 current work and in particular that projcct, but at thc moment I would appreciatc it if you
3 would just stay with me in this historical part because it's important that we go through this
4 particular time period.

5 MR COSTER: Of course.

6  MS SPELMAN: There will be time to talk about that project later.

7 MR COSTER: Yes.

2 MS SPELMAN: So, you've said that the quote | read you about the numbers, you're not sure in

L terms of the cause of that, essentially.
18 MR COSTER: I can't spcak to causation, I'vc got no,-- there's nothing in front of mc that helps
11 me with that, and obviously othcr pcople have given testimony on it, but I just can't specak
12 to cxactly what was occurring therc from anything that's availablc to mc.

13 MS SPELMAN: Surc. I'll just read you onc more quote from somconc who was therc at the time

14 and who has given evidence about it, from Dr Sutherland. So, he said in 1979 that in

15 addition to the bias that he says could be seen by Police at the decision to prosecute stage,
16 that:

17 "... racist attitudes among police officers towards Maori children and young people
18 were lcgendary."

19 Now, bear in mind I'm obviously asking about an historical period, but what's your
20 comment on that in tcrms of Police as a historical organisation?

21 MR COSTER: It's very difficult for mc to comment on that. You know, cven within our currcnt

22 workforcc, officcrs who werc working at that time arc few and far between, if they cven
23 exist. So, 1 can't add anything to what's in front of the Commission on that, either to agree
24 or disagree.

25  MS SPELMAN: Okay. We might return to that topic a bit later on today. In terms of the types of

26 issues or offences that young people and children were being picked up for and brought to
27 court at the time, we've heard cvidence from a numbcer of pcople about the types of offences
28 being quitc low lcvel, for examplc things like truancy, stcaling lollics, vagrancy, thosc sorts
29 of offiences and I'm asking you, again looking at that pcriod historically, not what the

30 current practice is, but just would you acknowledge that that's quite different back then, that
31 Police were exercising their authority in terms of quite low level crimes in the way that's

32 perhaps not done these days?

33 MR COSTER: As we've acknowledged, the 1989 Act was a really significant shift in practice, it

34 really, as I undcrstand it, turncd things on thcir head in terms of how we approached
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| offending by young people. In terms of the mix of offences that were being dealt with, I'm
2 surc that that fcaturcd as part of it, but I can't specak with any confidence to what the mix

3 was.

4 MS SPELMAN: I'djust like to tum now to onc cxamplc from a survivor who gavc cvidenec in a

5 previous hearing, their cxperience as a Samoan child in Auckland in the latc 1960s, 70s

6 period. And what he says about his experience then is this, I quote:

i "The Police used to pick on us. 1 had enough. 1 could be walking down the street

] and Police would just pick on me. 1 would be with two white fellas and if there were two

’ of us darkies the cops would pull us up and leave the white guys alone. That's what it was
10 like. It got to the stagc wherc I think because I was being picked up so many times by the
11 Police and labclled as a criminal it becamc normal. They would scc you on the strect and
12 ask you if you had any moncy, then you would bc undcr arrcst for vagabond or somcthing."
13 And again, [ appreciate that you weren't a police officer at this particular time,

14 stopping this particular boy, but what's your comment in terms of survivors who had those
15 experiences and what that might mean about how they feel towards Police?

16 MR COSTER: That's an incredibly sad account and it's someone's experience that | certainly am

17 not here to disagree with, and 1 won't. What 1 can't really speak to confidently is to what
18 extent that was reflective of Police practice at the time and what was going on therc but,
19 you know, I ccrtainly undcerstand, even based on my own cxpcericncc, that diffcrent

20 communities come from quite different starting points in terms of their relationships with
2i Police, and there's a deep history that sits behind that.

22 MS SPELMAN: I should say, of course, Deputy Commissioncr, if you want to contributc on
23 these questions, feel free; is that a question that you'd like to comment on?

24 MS KURA: No, | agree with the understanding what was happening at the time, although joining

25 Police in 1989 I have a little bit more context, joining in 1987 at least before the new Act
26 came in, it was absolutely a change for the organisation, quite a significant change and lots
27 of -it- really challenged the way we practised in 1989 when the ncw Act camc in.

28  MS SPELMAN: Also, in terms of that former period, what were some of the practices that

29 stopped after thc 1989 Act?

38  MS KURA: 1 think it was the inclusion of whanau, the fact that if I and- it's remembering a while
31 back, is -the- being- more cognisant of that this isn't just a single person, to be more

32 inclusive of understanding where the family may fit for a person, and equally about

33 including other agencies in any decisions that were made. So those are just some things

34 I remember from the time of the change when the new Act camc in.
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MS SPELMAN: Thank you. One other part of the new 1989 Act was a principle that criminal
procecdings should not be instituted against a child or young person solcly in order to
provide any assistancc or scrvices necded to advance the welfarc of the child or young
person or his or her family, whanau or family group. Dcputy Commissioncr, is that
previous practice something that would occur, Police in an cffort to get scrvices for a
family would use what powers they had, which essentially was bringing them to court in a
hope that they might get some help that they needed?

MS KURA: 1 don't think | can comment across -consistently across the country what might have
happened, but if | think of my early days, we may have done some things where it was
make a decision about a single child- but I can't comment on gencral practice.

MS SPELMAN: I supposc you would both acccpt, it sccms, that was cnough of a practicc that a
principlc was brought in in the ncw 1989 Act to stop that practicc if it was occurring.

MR COSTER: [ just don't know the origin to that, I imagine it may be covered in the
parliamentary debates at the time, but it's certainly a principle that has persisted and a
recognition that children in Care and Protection aren't well served by Youth Justice
proceedings.

MS SPELMAN: There are just a few other aspects [ want to touch on in terms of Police practice
that may have contributcd to children and young pcople entering into Statc carc. So once
we get to the point where a child is brought to the Children's Court or the Children and
Young Persons Court, or perhaps actually before that when they're still at the police station,
we've heard evidence, again from Dr Suthcrland, at the timc that there were many Police
interviews that took place of children without legal representation, without a family
member being present, and in his evidence that amounted to Police coercively obtaining
confessions from these children, and I'll just read you a brief quote, again from his evidence
at a previous hearing:

"Children were often held in Police cells before they got into Court even. There
was rarcly a parcnt present, there were never lawycrs present, no advocatc was present.
Social Welfare officcrs might have been present but basically they and the Police persuaded
the children to plead guilty."

MR COSTER: [ just can't offer anything particularly on that. 1 know that the practices around
guardians being present, around legal involvement also shifted very significantly with the
1989 Act and [ assume that without those safeguards there was a risk of things occurring
without those protections. But in terms of what the standard organisational practice was, |

can't say.
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1 MS SPELMAN: [ suppose, perhaps, Commissioner it's a similar point to the one you made earlier

2 which is that you weren't there and can't spcak to the first hand cxpcricnce, but you're not
3 disagreeing with the evidence that's been given in terms of the experience of Dr Sutherland
4 as an advocatc for many, many childrcen across the country during that period?

5 MR COSTER: I'm notin a position to agrce or disagree, I just can't add anything to that,
6 unfortunately.
7 MS SPELMAN: Would you accept that based on today's standards, having children, some
] younger than eight years old, even, being interviewed without a legal representative or a
L family member would be something the Police would --
16 MR COSTER: Just would never occur today.
11 MS SPELMAN: And it shouldn't have happened back then cither.
12 MR COSTER: That's hard, I think we can sit today, and wc can say that's thc casc and with a lot

13 of confidence we can say that. What I can't rcally spcak for is the vicws of thec community
14 that existed at that time. And so, there are lots of things that today are obvious good
15 practice to us but may or may not have been obvious good practice back then.

16 MS SPELMAN: Isuppose this is a hindsight question, so instead of asking you put yourself in

17 the shoes, I'm asking for your --

18 MR COSTER: Without a doubt today we know that that is just not the right thing to do.

19  MS SPELMAN: Sorry, Deputy Commissioner, it looked like you had something you were adding
20 therc.

21  MS KURA: I do think about thc practice that we had before the new Act and there would be

22 things that we definitcly wouldn't do now that we may have donc, and I can't think of it

23 being a systemic written "this is how you do things", but for children who may have been
24 on their own or in situations where you might have come across somebody on the street, the
25 fact that we didn't talk to, maybe seek advice from family, is something that comes to mind
26 when you raise the situation now.

27  MS SPELMAN: I suppose you could accept without accepting the details, that if this type of

28 practice was, for examplc, widcspread or perhaps just routine, that that could have had a
29 real influence on how many children werc coming into court and subscqucently cntcring
30 State care if they were being dealt with without the protections of their whanau or a legal
31 representative, is that a fair summary?

32 MR COSTER: Potentially.
33 MS SPELMAN: Another contributing cause we've heard about from many different sources in

34 this Inquiry to, particularly, Maori children and young people coming into care in great
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| numbers during that time period, is the general stereotyping of Maori during that time in the
2 broader society and ofticials linking Maori juvenile off ences to perceived defects in their

3 home life including culture and traditions of Maori communities. And some have also said
4 that this amounted to Statc policics promoting and maintaining the intcntional dismantling
5 of whanau with Police being one part of that strategy. I appreciate that's a broad question,
6 but 1 would like you to comment on it.

7 MR COSTER: I certainly can't say with any confidence what sat by, --sat behind practices that

] failed to recognise the intrinsic value of Maori culture. But I can certainly say that as an

’ organisation, even in the time I've been in, we're in a fundamentally different place in terms
10 of our valuing of Tikanga Maori and valuing of what that can do to support young pcoplc
11 who are at risk, and indeed adults who are having difficulty. AndI fully recognise that
12 insider knowledge did not form part of our practice for the vast majority of the period we're
13 talking about.

14  MS SPELMAN: Thank you. I'd like to move on now to the topic of abuse while in Police care,

15 and 1 note, Commissioner, that you've described this as, in terms of- perhaps- "care

16 provider" is not quite the right phrase in the context of Police, but Police having a limited
17 role as a care provider.

18 Now, just to chcek before we go on, that you're both familiar with the scopc of what
19 the Royal Commission is looking at in tcrms of abusc in rclation to Policc, which includes
20 Police cclls, Police custody, so of coursc that's whilc being undcer arrcst perhaps on the

21 roadsidc, being transportcd in a Police car, Court cclls, where of coursc we know Police arc
22 custodial officers, and abuse on the way to or from or between Statc care facilitics. So,

23 would you accept that's a slightly broader role than perhaps what you've described in terms
24 of, in your statement, as simply a holding facility between arrest and bail?

25 MR COSTER: Yeah, [ guess that was a reference to a place where people stop and are in care,

26 but absolutely, our duty of care starts from the time that someone comes into our custody
27 through to the timc that they arc handed over to another carcr and that's an arca where we
28 have cvolved considerably and continue to evolvc.

29  MS SPELMAN: Sure. So, in addition to, I suppose, the physical Police facilities and cells,

30 there's also all of that on the street and in cars and while someone's in Police custody, you
31 accept that's all part of what we're talking about?

32 MR COSTER: Ofcourse, of course.

33 MS SPELMAN: Great. Another aspect we've heard about is, 1 suppose, a more informal use of

34 Police, which is Social Wclfare cssentially requesting or using Police as their cnforcement
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arm in terms of uplifts or interventions and I'll just for your context give you another quote
from Ta Kim Workman who's featuring heavily today. So, about that point Ta Kim said in
his previous cvidencc:

"The Child Welfare officers often attempted to involve Police in their operational
processes which crcated considerable tension between the two agencics. Child Welfarc
officers had a tendency to portray Youth Aid and the Police as 'the enforcers' when it came
time to remove a child from a family, even though they may have initiated the process."

So that is, I suppose, a slightly additional or informal role that the Police also played
here, but that does again broaden the scope of what we're talking about when Police were
put pcrhaps in the uncnviable position of having to help your collcagucs from Social
Weclfare, Child, Youth and Family, and the present day Oranga Tamariki.

MR COSTER: Ycah. Cecrtainly, Policc assistance was and is still called for in some
circumstances. I can't speak to the prevalence of that and certainly Ta Kim is better placed
than | am to speak to the frequency of that.

MS SPELMAN: [ suppose it just broadens out what we're thinking of, doesn't it, in terms of the
Police being involved not just as a Police initiated action of arrest, but actually being called
in as the strong arm and then having often quite a lot to do with these children and whanau
who were being brought into State care, both historically and today?

MR COSTER: Ycah, as I say, I can't speak to how commonly that occurred but to the cxtent that
occurrcd, then clearly it's relevant.

MS SPELMAN: I want to raise with you just a couple of examples of this, and I'm dealing with
this in this topic of abuse by Police because that's how it has been described in evidence
that the Royal Commission has heard. So, this example is from survivors who gave
evidence as a whanau group at a previous hearing, and they're talking about a period in
1964, being at home and they describe this as "the day we were ripped from our parents".
And I'll just read you a little bit of this for your comment:

"On a datc in 1964 a swarm of pcoplc came to our housc in the carly hours of the
morning, likc thievces they invaded our home. I watched in sheer horror as two uniformed
strangers manhandled my mum. Shc was grasping hold of cupboard handlcs in the kitchen
for dear life, 1 watched as they slammed my mum down to the floor on her back. One of
them dropped knee first on to my mum's stomach to pin her down, the other one quickly
shackled her hands together with handcuffs. They stood up and grabbed a handcuff each.

1 remember they both laughed like they had achieved a great feat and dragged her out the
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1 door. I went into shock after this. 1 was five and a half years old, and 1 had never seen this
2 sort of violence in my cntire childhood."

3 Now, these witnesscs who gave this cvidence arc now in their later ages and this

4 experience from their childhood is obviously very vivid for them in terms of the impact that
5 it's had, and that extension of the risk for and at times the actual abuse of people by Police

6 in that enforcement role for Social Welfare. What's your comment on the experience of

7 those who experienced Police service in that way?

2 MR COSTER: Obviously that's a terrifying account and from the experience of that person it's

L very hard to defend it and | won't try to. Obviously, what isn't available to any of us is
10 what information thosc ofticers were acting on. Policc's rolc in thosc situations when
11 called on to assist is rcally about making the situation safc for the cxcrcisc of a statutory
12 function by another agency. And so, our actions will turn around the information that's
13 been provided to us, but clearly if that's how it playcd, I can't defend that and I won't

14 attempt to, but just to make our role clear, we are not the ones to initiate actions to remove
15 children, but we do support it and clearly it's our job to do that fairly and professionally.
16 So, that kind of situation is not one that would ever have been acceptable.

17 CHAIR: Ms Spelman, you might be coming to this and if you are I'll leave it. Is there any,- what

18 undcrpins that rclationship betwecen the Police and, today, Oranga- Tamariki and do you
19 know anything about what preceded it? Is it statutory, is it a mecmorandum of
20 understanding? Do you know what the arrangement is?

21 MR COSTER: It's a memorandum of understanding that brings the two agencies together around

22 our respective statutory functions, and clearly it has gone under, you know, our practices

23 around that have been very much under the microscope as a result of more recent reports

24 and investigations of this, and practice has shifted considerably, including on our part to the
25 extent possible trying to mobilise appropriate staff to deal with uplift situations, including
26 iwi liaison ofticers who are much, I suppose they're our experts in being culturally

27 equipped to deal with thosc situations, and to thc cxtent possible Police will take a backscat
28 rolc to cnsure safcty for all rather than a hands on rolc.

29 CHAIR: How much of what you've just said is enshrined in the memorandum of understanding?
30 That's one question. And the other question, maybe for you, Deputy Commissioner, before,
31 say, before 1986, was there a formal arrangement or how did it work?

32 MR COSTER: Certainly, the current MOU speaks to roles and responsibilities in terms of that

33 business of uplifting children, and that's something that we --

34 CHAIR: Docs it speak to bringing in the iwi liaison ofticers, for cxample, or is that just --
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| MR COSTER: I believe it does, but clearly we can produce a copy of those documents.

2 CHAIR: I've put you on thc spot, so if you could producc it that would be handy.

3 MR COSTER: Absolutcly, we will do that. I can't spcak to whether something cxisted back in
4 this period,-- you might know the practice, Tania.

5 MS KURA: No, I wasn't involved, as a constablc I wasn't awarc of a mecmorandum of

6 understanding. However, the supporting another agency, whether it be Child, Youth and
7 Family or another agency was common practice because the request may come through a
] Senior Sergeant to direct you to go and support somebody else, just like the same with
’ Court, so I wasn't aware of a memorandum of understanding, but 1 was aware that the

10 practice was that if we werc called upon, we helpcd.

11 CHAIR: It mightbcuseful, I think, if we were to ask if you could provide perhaps any

2 arrangecments, if we don't alrcady have it. Do we know if we have them alrcady?

13 MS SPELMAN: TI'll just check, we don't have it in the bundle for this hearing, but I'll just check if
14 we can bring that up.

15  CHAIR: Something we can do later.

16 MR COSTER: We can confirm in a break on that.

17 CHAIR: Good, thank you.

18 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Can I briefly ask too, in that mcmorandum of undcrstanding is

19 therc clarity about the rolc and responsibility of different agencics when it comes to child
20 offiending? So, OT and Police?

21 MR COSTER: Child offending is a combination of statutory provision and policy and practicc,
22 so slightly diffcrent from Carc and Protection sidc, and it's very dependent on the age of the
23 young person as well. It's actually quite a complicated set of arrangements for who's

24 responsible for what and depends on the seriousness of the offending. It's tricky to

25 navigate, but we have our Youth Aid experts who do that on our behalf.

26 The short answer is there's a bit more to that one than uplifts, which sit very clearly
27 in the Carc and Protcction arcna, lcd by Oranga Tamariki supported by us with an MOU

28 that sits around that.

29 MS SPELMAN: I just want to follow up with onc morc qucstion on thc topic raiscd by our Chair.

30 So you mentioned, Deputy Commissioner, that general practice of a request would come
31 through from someone senior and the officers on the ground would go and do that, and this
32 may be clear, but just to clarify, there wasn't at that time a role for Police in terms of acting
33 as a check on the decision-making of that other agency, for example in this particular case

34 where there werce cight children under 10 ycars old living and the children werce uplifted
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1 due to a perception that they weren't being cared for, that wouldn't be something that Police
2 would have an evaluative function or any sort of monitoring or check function of whether

3 in fact that uplift should be carried out?
4  MS KURA: Idon't recall that practice as such, I rccall it being a support for safcty was the
5 function that we had in my particular cxpericnce.

6 MR COSTER: [ would add to that that even today it's not Police's role to second guess Oranga

i Tamariki's statutory decision-making. However, if an uplift is to be conducted, Police will
] be part of the planning and a key question there would be, what's an appropriate manner for
L this to be undertaken in, and if there have been situations of abuse then clearly we may

10 have some visibility of what those arc from our statutory pcrspcctive.

11 The complcexity that you can get in thesc situations is what do we know about the

12 circumstanccs. Unfortunately today, we may havce situations wherc fircarms arc present,

13 where methamphcetamine is being used, and so therc's actually quitc a lot of planning that
14 may need to go into how to safely effect an uplift. Presumably, there were versions of

15 those kinds of difficulties going back to this period, but it's a little difficult to speak to what

16 the practices were around that.

17 MS SPELMAN: Is it fair to say that it's not a role Police would want to be doing but they only do
18 it if requested and if it's considercd to be nccessary from a safcty perspective?

19 MR COSTER: Absolutcly.

20 MS SPELMAN: So, from thc Policc's view it would be much better if there were other ways to
21 dcal with those typc of uplift situations that didn't rcquirc the presence of uniformed police
22 officers?

23 MR COSTER: Absolutely.

24  MS SPELMAN: And I suppose that situation, we have seen very recently, and 1 know, Deputy

25 Commissioner, in terms of the Hawke's Bay uplift at the time when you were District

26 Commander, we see some of these same themes and issues of the presence of uniformed
27 police officers perhaps aggravating a situation duc to somc of the history that Policc have
28 with particular communities?

29  MS KURA: IfI think about thc Hawke's Bay incident, I also am awarc that we uscd plain clothes

30 officers to try and balance, we used connections with iwi leaders as well, Police connected
31 to those people as a part of trying to understand the circumstances, and I know that our
32 people that were involved in those situations were really mindful of "can I seek some

33 advice and some support from senior leaders about what the best practice is now".
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1 So, if] think about the situations in the 1980s compared to that baby uplift, our

2 peoplc did question a lot more about why herc and why now, but that docsn't mecan we have
3 the statutory obligation to override that or anything like that. So, I think the officers these
4 days will add or qucstion, not becausc they have to, but beecausc they know it's the right

5 thing to do.

6 MR COSTER: And a strength we would bring as an organisation now is the strong relationships

7 we enjoy right across the country with iwi. So, our people are very creative about how to

] try and resolve situations in a way that deescalates, and so we're much less likely to turn up

’ at a home with a show of force than we ever have been in the past. And we continue to try
10 and work on that, and I think our pcoplc arc really smart actually about how they're trying
11 to resolve somce of these very difficult situations we face.

12 MS SPELMAN: It's an interesting point in terms of accountability and decision-making, and

13 I just would like you to clarify, is what you'rc saying that Policc do now have a rolc in
14 acting as a check on the power of Oranga Tamariki, informally as you've said, by asking
15 those sorts of questions and pushing back on what the planning is? Because that does

16 sound quite different to the historical position.

17 MR COSTER: For me, and [ think what Deputy Commissioner Kura was speaking to is we have

18 a role in making sure that thc manner of any uplift in which Policc is involved is

19 appropriatc. It's not our placc and nor should it be to sccond gucss statutory dccision-

20 making of anothcr agency. So, we nced to be ablc to play our part in a way that reflects our
21 values, our Icgal responsibilities, and so that spcaks to manncr of uplift morc than whether
22 an uplift is or isn't thc appropriate thing to do.

23 MS SPELMAN: I'd like to turn now to a different section of this abuse by Police topic, and you'll

24 appreciate that there's been a lot of evidence about this and I'm just selecting particular

25 examples to highlight a broader point. So, there are two examples that have come through
26 in evidence which are quite similar to each other, although from different time periods.

27 And it's about assault by Police for pcople who arc in Police custody as suspccets in order to
28 obtain a confession.

29 So, in the first example, the evidence that was heard was that, I'll just read this part
30 to you:

31 "While | was in Police custody police officer handcuffed my hands behind my chair
32 and hit me around the head with a phone book. He used a phone book so it wouldn't leave
33 marks. While he was hitting me with the phone book 1 could see stars and he kept doing it

34 until I admittcd and confesscd to the crime. [ agrecd with him to makce him stop."
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Now again, I'm not asking you to comment on whether that practice was widespread
or not, that's something that of coursc thc Commission can make its own findings about

CHAIR: Do wc have the age of that pcrson?

MS SPELMAN: 15 at thc time.

CHAIR: Thank you.

MS SPELMAN: But | do want you to comment on that in terms of obviously that is a fairly
widespread allegation in terms of historical, the more, it's still an allegation in current days
of course, but historically a much heavier handed approach from Police in terms of use of
force, excessive force, when manhandling, rough handling, all those sorts of words. Would
you accept that that was considcred more common, morc acceptable back then in terms of
that 1970s, 1980s sort of practicc?

MR COSTER: It's hard to imagine that violencc to that cxtent has cver been acceptablce, although
I accept that situations like that have happened. What does appear to have been acceptable
and in fact we still get community members reflecting positively on what they would think
of as the good old days where the community cop turned up and gave them a kick up the
pants and sent them on their way.

And so, without a doubt, as a community and as an organisation we have shifted
considerably in our vicws about the usc of force to rcsolve situations. And 1 can certainly
say today there are high levels of accountability for any actions that overstep the line and
we do charge our pcoplc when they usc force beyond what's permitted by Icgislation.

MS SPELMAN: I supposc I just want to drill into this I supposc, ask it from a diffcrent way, and
this might be better for you, Deputy Commissioncr, just because of you starting carlicr in
the Police. So, I take your point, Commissioner, that this sort of straight-out assault would
never be acceptable at an official level. But what I'm asking about is more the culture at
that time in ternis of within perhaps constables, more junior, inexperienced Police and what
they were taught and what they saw and how they behaved at that time, which you'll
appreciatc is quitc a separate point to the official Policc linc which I'm surc back then
hopefully would have been "don't assault citizens".

MR COSTER: Even by the time I joined 1 feel like that culturc wasn't where you're talking about,
but...

MS SPELMAN: New Zealand was a different place in the 1970s and 1980s, and I'm sure you'll
both appreciate that our survivors who are here are very interested in your honest

assessment of this time.
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| MS KURA: So, | joined in 1987 and I actually went to Canterbury, 1 was in Christchurch, and for

2 me therc were some instances of knowing, not that I saw, but knowing that potentially

3 somebody had been assaulted for a confession. And I do recall thinking to myself, I don't

4 know about violence, it's not within my remit, that's not how I've been brought up, it's not

5 somcthing I know about; if I have to do that to get a confession from somcebody it's not the
6 organisation for me. What | probably realised, well, what 1 realised is actually that's not a

7 widespread thing that everybody did but when you first start that was something that did

] surprise me, that 1 had heard that that had happened, I didn't see that behaviour, but 1

L had - other- people would talk about it.

10  MS SPELMAN: Ishould make clcar, of course, it's not at all dirccted, any allcgations towards

11 you personally, Dcputy Commissioncr.

12 Just, intcrestingly, another cxample which is strikingly similar of this practicc which
13 is from a woman survivor who was a child --as a Maori child had abusc in carc but this is
14 about an experience as a young adult which of course is within our scope as well. And she
15 describes being interrogated at the Auckland police station by detectives, so not junior

16 police officers, and she said:

17 "When 1 was at the police station they put us in separate rooms, first came in and

18 said to mc..."

19 Wanting hcr to sign a statemcnt, cssentially, it's quitc long so I'll just paraphrasc this
20 section. So, trying to get her to sign a statement, swearing back and forth, and then one of
21 the detectives coming back in and saying:

22 "There's ways that we can make you talk, you know, cithcr you're going to talk or
23 your co-offender's going to talk and | was, like, what are you fucking talking about? He

24 goes, well, we can hit you in places, we can hit you in places where you won't bruise.

25 Well, that's exactly what they done, started hitting me with the phone book in my stomach
26 on the sides of me where 1 wouldn't bruise and then came back in with a statement from the
27 guy and forcibly tried to make me sign it. Yeah, nah, I didn't sign it, I got bashed around,
28 got scnt to Mt Eden Prison and after the medical found out that I was hapu with my son."
29 So, it is similar, that allegation, in terms of quitc stratcgic violence from Policc not
30 only to obtain a confession as the motive, but actually in terms of assaulting someone in

31 such a way where it would be difficult to detect. 1s that level of thinking around the abuse
32 something that you remember when you spoke earlier, Deputy Commissioner, about what

33 you heard as a young police officer?
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MS KURA: Not to the full extent that you talk about there, but for me in a general sense yes, that

2 therc was convcrsation. But as a rclatively, -as a very ncw constable, you listcn and you

3 watch and you try to understand what the culture is and how you might fit, I guess,

4 is -thc and- so for me it was always looking and trying to find out and to listcn to scc what
5 the cues were to the organisation and the insights that you might get. So, I had definitely

6 heard- of those stories in those early 80s, sorry in the late 80s.

7  MS SPELMAN: I suppose for police officers who may have engaged in that sort of practice, is it
] fair to say that for them as young or perhaps not that young police officers, there were

L strong internal rewards around things like arrests, convictions, processing cases through in
10 tcrms of how to succeed and get ahcad in the Policc and do well as a policc officcr, is that
11 what's behind, do you think, some of this bchaviour?

12 MS KURA: Maybe, I couldn't say exactly, and I think that basic human rights havc always

13 existed and so for me the rewarding of that typc of behaviour in the promotion or going to
14 become a detective seems quite perverse in a whole lot of ways, but if | think about it might
15 be that a person got to be a senior in an incident car, or in an i-car, or they might have been,
16 I'm not so sure that it was across everybody, but there might have been some times that that
17 happened.

18 MS SPELMAN: Sorry, I should clarify, I don't mcan rcwarding the abusc, I mcan rewarding

19 police officcrs who have higher arrcst ratcs, who work on cascs where convictions arc

20 sccurcd who gencrally mcect that part, I know thosc arcn't the only cxpcectations of police

2i officers, but who meect those particular expectations, that type of behaviour would be

22 rewarded intcrnally?

23 MR COSTER: Certainly, what we value in frontline staff has shifted considerably over time.

24 And if we go back to sort of the dominant expectation on Police at this time was about

25 enforcement, was about prosecuting offenders for crimes, was about solving crimes, and

26 where that's your dominant lens for success, then obviously, you know, there's desire within
27 the organisation to achievc thosc outcomcs.

28 We have to be clear, though, that doesn't always translate into bad practice, and

29 certainly by the time I joincd, you know, we may have had bad actors, but there was no

30 sense that that was the dominant way of behaving or that those bad actors, you know, went
31 from being detectives who behave like that to being senior leaders who behaved like that.
32 So, you know, my sense was, by the time 1 joined anyway, what we saw was

33 predominantly the right things occurring, but still within the mix of that you would have

34 bad things occur. For mc, thc hardest aspcct of all of this is trying to put a finger on how
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| dominant was bad behaviour like that and to what extent was it accepted, and | don't think
2 it's very ecasy to say that cven for an officer working at that time, you know, back then I'm
3 not surc how big wc were, probably an organisation of somewhcre between 6 and 8,000
4 staff spread across hundreds of locations around the country trying to put your finger on
5 what is the culture, well, actually, there isn't one consistent thing that occurs, particularly
6 then where we were much less connected than we are today. So, at some level you can
7 have things exist within particular stations, that may or may not be representative of what
] was happening across the country.
* MS SPELMAN: Sure, and we might again come back to this in another part of the day, but just
10 now I want to ask you very briefly, I'm conscious of my going over time alrcady, about
11 holding children in Policc cells as a form of abusc. So this topic of having children held in
12 Police cclls is clcarly somcthing that's come up many, many times in rccent years,
13 historically as wcll, and in terms of this Inquiry onc rcport in particular that's been
14 considered is a 1997 report from the then Children's Commissioner which comprehensively
15 sets out all the things that probably are easily accepted today in terms of that practice being
16 in breach of children's rights, in breach of our human rights obligations, in breach with
17 respect to Maori children of Te Tiriti obligations.
18 And my undcrstanding, corrcct me if I'm wrong, is that the Police view gencrally is
19 that you don't want to hold children in Police cclls and you would very much like that
20 practice to stop; is that corrcct?

2i MR COSTER: Absolutely, yeah. I know you've heard from Judge Becrof't, and I think he was

22 very appreciative when we acknowledged at an UN hearing on this point that is Policc's

23 view we shouldn't have children and young people in Police cells. However, we face a

24 very real practical difficulty as a country which is large geography relative to population.
25 Some people for their own safety, young people for their own safety and the safety of the
26 public do need to be in a secure place and it's not always possible, at least on current

24 infrastructure, to have them somewhere other than a Police ccll. So, on rarc occasions it
28 still occurs, and we do our level best, certainly with our undcerstanding today, to make surc
29 that those young pcople arc looked aftcr in the best possiblc way.

30 But those environments are not really suitable for young people, and there's no

31 realistic chance of making them so, given what would be involved in achieving that.

32 MS SPELMAN: Sure. And I suppose there's two points within this, isn't there, there's the first

33 one which is that in many respects Police don't have control over when a child is ordered to
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1 come into Police custody, you're then stuck with them, essentially, and you have to make
2 the best of that situation. But with --

3 MR COSTER: Ithink most commonly it will occur when Policc apprchends a young person

4 who, for whatcver reason, nceds to be in sccurc carc and it will be the gap between when
5 we pick them up and when they're able to be placed somewhere clse.

6  MS SPELMAN: Yes, although I suppose the examples that have been highlighted previously by

7 Judge Becroft and indeed by the former Children's Commissioner back in 1977 also

] referred to examples when there were times where Social Welfare or Child, Youth and

’ Family weren't able to have a place for somebody to go and so instead they had to be
10 ordercd by the Court to be held in Police custody for a period. Sothat is part of that
11 practice as well.
12 But the point, I suppose, that was madc back in 1997 is, scparatc to the fact that
13 Police don't always have control over whether the child is coming into their custody, that
14 once they're there, or knowing that they may be coming, there is a responsibility for Police
15 to ensure that the facilities they're held in are suitable. So, my question is, given we've had
16 this issue in the public forum for 25 years, 1 don't understand there to have been any work
17 done by Police in terms of making Police cells a place where it wouldn't be so traumatic for
18 children to be held in the timcs when they arc.

19 MR COSTER: The nature of Policc cells and the other pcople who come to be in those gencral

20 arcas means that thcy will never be suitable placces for young peoplc, particularly young
21 peoplc who arc therc for Carc and Protection purposcs. And --wc simply don't scc that
22 as-- Police cclls as the appropriate place to be investing in order to address that problem.

23 MS SPELMAN: What would need to be done to Police cells to make it a more appropriate place
24 for a young person or a child to be held?

25 MR COSTER: That's not the way you would set out to solve that problem. It really is looking at
26 how we have other places where young people can go, where they can be cared for.

24 MS SPELMAN: Given that the Police, then, has madc that dccision of over 25 ycars that's a

28 significant investment resource issuc if you werc to change or upgradc your facilitics, and
29 I take your point that's not the dircction you want to go in. I supposc the flip-sidc of that,
30 then, is what has the Police done to end this practice? What's been the role of Police,

31 separate to the point you made about the UN?

32 MR COSTER: I don't think that view has been held by Police for 25 years, not as clearly as 1've
33 stated it. So just to be clear, I think clearly some of this was accepted practice at the time

34 that it occurred. Police is working incredibly hard to improve our custody environments
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not just for young people but for all people who come through them. Clearly, they are
places where there's high risk of suicide and they create extra complication for people who
oftcn are expericncing onc of the worst moments of their lifc.

It's very expensive infrastructure, which is very hard built, you can't just move the
walls because they're thick concrete. So that is a significant and longterm programmce of
work.

For young people our focus is on working with @ranga Tamariki about how we can
ensure suitable care in the places where that is required around the country, and we
carefully monitor the presence of young people in Police cells and work very
hard- including- internal cscalations when that occurs, and work very hard to make surc
that that situation is addresscd as fast as possiblc.

MS SPELMAN: And, of coursc, you can't spcak to the infrastructurc of anothcr agency, but am
I right in taking from what you'rc saying that if thc present day @ranga Tamariki and
broader infrastructure was in place in a way that makes sense for the large geographic
distribution we have of our population, that that will always be preferable than having
children in Police cells?

MR COSTER: Yes.

MS SPELMAN: In that sensc it sounds as though Policc probably would support calls that Judgc
Becroft has made for those particular provisions of the Act to be repealed because without
the repeal it doesn't seem as though this practicce is stopping cven if it has reduced over
time, it does still happcn today.

MR COSTER: The bit that's becyond my remit is whether spending tens of millions of dollars on
addressing that issue is a better investment than intervening to create safer home
environments or intervening to better provide more suitable education for young people
who are struggling or the range of other public investments that you might want to make in
this area.

Thosc dccisions sit with ministcrs, and we can simply agree that Police cclls arc not
the best placc for young pcople.

CHAIR: Justa short qucstion from me, Commissioncr, I don't cxpcet you to know the answer, do
you know ifrecords are kept about the number of children who are kept in custody?

MR COSTER: Yes, we do capture that through our District Command Centres, so -1 would need
to check whether that can be wrapped up into a view that we could provide to the
Commission, but certainly for our own -real-time- internal purposes we keep a track on the

presence of young persons --
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| CHAIR: That would be useful, I'm not sure if we have that already, 1 don't want to put you to any

2 additional work, but if wc haven't, I would bc intercsted to know about trends and patterns,
3 Ict's say from 1989 through to the present about thec numbcer of children per annum, or
4 whatever, have been held in custody by the Police for whatever reason.

5 MR COSTER: Thank you. Wc will scc, I belicve the act of monitoring of this has only been a
6 more recent practice in recent years, but we will check what we can.
7 ~ CHAIR: Whatever you can provide would be welcome, thank you.
2  MS SPELMAN: Thank you.
) CHAIR: Thank you, Ms Spelman.
16 MS SPELMAN: I'd likc to turn now to anothcr topic which is Tc Tiriti o Waitangi and the

11 obligations of Police. So, we've read, of course, the material you've provided in your brief
12 in your responses and as I undcrstand it the first picce of work that was rcally donc on this
13 was, again, Ta Kim Workman back in 1998 and his work on whakakaupapatanga Tc Tiriti;
14 is that correct?

15 MR COSTER: Certainly, there was a lot of thinking that occurred around that time which led to

16 the establishment of our Iwi Liaison @fficer network and the organisation has grown in
17 maturity from late 90s through to where we are today, so that was certainly the time that it
18 occurrcd and therc werc a rangc of pcoplc, I belicve, who contributed to that thinking.

19  MS SPELMAN: Surc. And in many respccts that's carlicr than some othcr agencics, but that sort
20 of mark around thc late 90s seems to bc when that work rcally began within Police.

21 MR COSTER: I'm just actually looking at my material here. The first Iwi Liaison Ofticer was
22 appointed in 1996, but I think thc rcal momentum on that was probably morc like '99, but
23 yeah, late 90s.

24  MS SPELMAN: Sure. You would accept, of course, that the Te Tiriti obligations pre-date that
25 1996 or 1998 date.

26 MR COSTER: @fcourse.

27  MS SPELMAN: Thcy go back. Part of that is that Policc havc an obligation to activcly protcct
28 Maori who are in Policc care.

29 MR COSTER: Wece havc a duty to actively protect all pcople in our carc and Tc Tiriti is obviously
30 a really important founding document in terms of that duty.

31 MS SPELMAN: Sure. Let's perhaps be clear, then. @f course, you have a duty to protect

32 members of the public, that's part of your job, but here I'm asking about specifically your
33 Te Tiriti obligations. So, in terms of those obligation,s you accept that you have an

34 obligation to activcly protcct Maori who arc in Police carc.
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| MR COSTER: Absolutely, yeah.
2 MS SPELMAN: And that the nature of that concept of active protcction mcans active as opposcd
3 to reactive or passivc, is that how you understand it?

4 MR COSTER: Obviously there is a complex interplay between Te Tiriti and statutory

5 frameworks that sct up dutics for difficrent organisations and then the overlay of other
6 policies. So, to speak to what was the understanding of those duties at the time you're
7 talking about, [ think is difficult and [ suspect- hopefully you are not asking me to do that.
] In terms of how we see things today, Te Tiriti- is a really important point of reference for
’ us and that's partly why in our design or thinking about Police custody environments we
10 have bcen cngaging in a conversation with Ngati Kahungunu about proving out what a
11 better approach into custody might look like with a vicw not to just getting a personto a
12 court, but with a vicw to getting them the assistance they nced from the moment of that first
13 intervention.
14 That work is in its early stages, but we have signed a kawenata with Ngati
15 Kahungunu part of which is thinking about that work.

16 MS SPELMAN: Thank you forthat answer. In terms of the question that I asked, though, it was

17 about, | suppose, the nature of these obligations being active, being something that Police
18 arc themsclvces thinking about and taking action on as opposcd to or in addition to rcacting
19 and rcsponding to things as they happen, and I'm just checking --

26 MR COSTER: Certainly, that's truc of our practicc today.
2 MS SPELMAN: That's your undcrstanding.

22 Now, I note your hcsitation to answer qucstions about a historical period but I do
23 have some broad questions for you about that. And, | suppose, particularly looking at that
24 1950 to 1999 period which of course is what the Inquiry is doing, what is your

25 understanding of what Police did, if anything, to uphold those particular obligations?

26 MR COSTER: My understanding is fairly limited. 1 note that across all of Government

27 recognition of the importance of Te Tiriti really didn't start until probably mid-70s and has
28 matured slowly since then. So, I belicve where Policc was at was rcflective of where
29 Government as a wholc and probably socicty as a wholc was at at that timc.

38  MS SPELMAN: Sure. So, it's probably fair to say, then, that pre-1990s Police haven't been
31 particularly responsive to tangata whenua in that more historical period.
32 MR COSTER: [ was responding probably quite specifically to Te Tiriti in terms of its

33 significance but to the best of my knowledge it has been acknowledgment of Te Tiriti that
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1 has enabled better relationships with Maori and more appropriate ways of working with and
;) for Maori.
3 But I'm also confident that at a pcrsonal levcel to the extent that community policing
4 and rclationships with thc community were a fcaturc of what we have always donc, that
5 there will have been relationships in place between local iwi and local police officers. And
6 so, I'm reluctant to tar with one brush everything that happened through this period,
7 because | strongly suspect that there were respectful relationships within communities that
] allowed matters to be resolved without formal criminal justice intervention.
’ That's more a feature, has been a more reliable feature of policing in rural and
10 provincial locations than it has been in our citics.

11 MS SPELMAN: I suppose another aspect of the obligations and relationships between Police and

12 Maori is the nature of the individual world view and the collective world view. 1 think,

13 Deputy Commissioner, you've touched on this a little carlicr in tcrms of that change that

14 came in with the 1989 Act in your experience.

15 On this point, Ta Kim has said that:

16 "Back then the focus was entirely on the individual behaviour of the young offender
17 and the whanau didn't actually figure in the process. The idea of holding a hui with whanau
18 to discuss what happcned and to work out how to prevent future offending was anathecma to
19 most Pakcha officcrs."

20 Is that a fair statement of that historical pcriod wc're talking about?

21 MS KURA: Yes, that would be how that's- why thc change with the Act actually brought- thosc
22 conditions to the fore and asked cveryone to think morc consciously about how we would
23 do that. It was quite a change.

24  MS SPELMAN: In terms of the statistics we've touched on a couple of times, but | haven't gone

25 through them in great detail because 1 trust you're aware of them from the material that

26 we've given you, but the way that Maori children and young people in particular

27 disproportionately feature in the statistics of this time period, 1950s to 1970s in particular,
28 of chargcs, of appearing in the Children's Court, of being held in custody, of being

29 scntenced to institutions, in your view is the disproportionality that's shown in that data

30 inconsistent with Te Tiriti?

31 MR COSTER: At an outcome level I think we have to assume that it is. From a Police

32 perspective, the work that we now have going under the banner of Understanding Policing

33 Delivery is about understanding what sits behind that, because clearly, it's a complex array
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1 of issues that leads to anyone coming to Police attention, and we often are right at the

2 bottom of the cliff.

3 The things that nccd to come togcther for a young person to be well, arc complex,
4 many and varied and almost entirely sit out of thc Policc domain. And so but- I think, you
5 know, I think- it's uncontentious that if we have proportionally many morc Maori in the

6 criminal justice system than we ought to have, that somewhere something has gone wrong.
7 ~ MS SPELMAN: Okay. Interms of -- | know you've raised again the more recent work that

] Police is doing, and in terms of that and of course Police are also involved in some

L proceedings before the Waitangi Tribunal on related topics, you would know then that in
10 terms of the articulation of the tribunal of the rights and thc Maori right to tino
11 rangatiratanga over taonga, do you accept that that includcs whanau and tamariki Maori in
12 that cxpression of taonga which gives rise to thesc obligations?

13 MR COSTER: I just don't think I'm the best or most appropriatc witncss to be forming a view on
14 the scope of Te Tiriti, I can --
15  MS SPELMAN: Fortunately for you the tribunal has formed that view. Whatthis question is is

16 for you as Commissioner of Police, given that's a view that's been articulated in some detail
17 by the tribunal, who as you perhaps allude to, are the ones appropriately placed to describe
18 that. What I'm asking is, the Police as an organisation, do you acccpt that, that that

19 articulation of taonga includes whanau and tamariki Maori?

206 MR COSTER: I can accept that for any culturc our children arc taonga, and that nceds to shapc

21 and inform the way all State agencics treat children. What I can't probably do is speak with
22 confidencc to the extent the Treaty describes that and how it rclates to children and 1 think
23 there's an important cultural aspect to that as well.

24 So, I'm certainly not going to contest it, but [ don't really feel qualified to speak with
25 confidence on the meaning of the Treaty on this topic.

26  MS SPELMAN: It sounds as though you're prepared to accept that as a general point about
27 taonga of all culturcs, that that would includc children and whanau but not prepared to
28 accept that in relation to Maori in the context of these specific obligations?

29 MR COSTER: I think when you posed the question you tied it in with its significance in terms of

30 tino rangatiratanga, which raises a range of questions for me about the role of the State in
31 protecting the wellbeing of young people and how that sits in tension with the concept of
32 tino rangatiratanga under the Treaty and that's just well out of my domain, but at a level of
33 principle for Maori, rangatahi, mokopuna, taonga, well, it's self-evident that they are. And

34 so hopcfully that's clcar.
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1 The bit that 1 would struggle to articulate with confidence is the relationship
2 between the Oranga Tamariki Act, Police's statutory obligations in tcrms of looking after
3 the well-being of young people, and the wording of Tc Tiriti and that rcally gets into an
4 arca of -- that's a legal question and I'm sure it's a qucstion that thc Waitangi Tribunal will
5 answer with much greater qualification than I can.

6  MS SPELMAN: Sure. Before we move on from this topic, I hear the points that you're saying.

7 1 suppose another way to go about this is to think the Police are obviously doing a lot of
] work currently to try to understand those obligations and partnerships, ways of working
L with Maori in part in recognition of some of the history. Is part of that thinking at a
10 conceptual Icvel for Police, how Policc can work to support Maori to be ablc to cxcreisc
11 tino rangatiratanga? Is that part of your stratcgic thinking in thc work you'rc doing?

12 MRCOSTER: Tc Huringa o tec Tai, our Maori stratcgy articulatcs very clcarly that the best

13 solutions for Maori will be with Maori and so when we look at the well-being of young

14 people, there's no doubt that answers sit within whanau and hapii and iwi. And we have

15 worked hard to try and reflect that into our practice to the extent that is Police's role and

16 1 could give you lots of examples of this, but just to pick one, Whangaia Na Pa Harakeke is
17 a Police initiated response to family harm that involves kaiawhina working with whanau to
18 try and address the well-being of the whanau, including the well-being of tamariki within a
19 context where family harm is occurring.

20 To us that way of working with iwi and Maori is incrcasingly a sccond naturc thing,
21 but I would also accept that that's only been part of our journey since those first steps in the
22 late 90s and not somcthing that has been ingrained in the way we opcrated before then.

23 MS SPELMAN: Deputy Commissioner, did you have anything you wanted to add on that?

24 MS KURA: No, I don't.

25 MS SPELMAN: I'm conscious of the time.

26 CHAIR: You choose the time that suits your plan, Ms Spelman.

27  MS SPELMAN: Thcrc's quitc a lot more to go so it's probably a good time for a brecak now.

28 CHAIR: Very well, we'll take the morning adjournment for 15 minutes and return after that.
29 Thank you.

30 Adjournment from 11.30 am to 11.48 am

31 CHAIR: Thank you, Ms Spelman.

32  MS SPELMAN: Another aspect of this section 1 want to ask you about relates to the particular
33 impacts that have been experienced by Maori through abuse in care in relation to Police,

34 and I notc that in your cvidence, your written evidence, you said that Policc have been
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| listening and obviously have had representatives in attendance at previous hearings. 1 just
;) wondcrcd what some of the particular impacts for Maori that Policc have heard and have
3 been struck by, what have some of those rcflections been for you in terms of what survivor

4 evidence we've heard to datc?

s MR COSTER: Obviously the survivor storics that we've heard have been confronting and have

6 reflected circumstances where the Police response did not provide them with the safety or

7 the protection that they would have expected in the circumstances.

] I think as it relates to Maori, this is part of a broader issue around the extent to

° which agency responses are suitable for addressing the issues that exist within Maori
10 communities, and in particular the importance of working in partnership to find solutions.
11 And as I've alluded to, much has changed in that rcgard in the last 20, 25 ycars.

12 But it's evident that the responses that occurred during the period in question didn't
13 reflect the necds of Maori communitics and didn't reflect what for them would have been

14 the best way to resolve the situations that existed.
15 So, you know, that's confronting and our commitment as to where we are today is to
16 make sure that to the extent possible our practice is in partnership with Maori and is getting
17 us to the most appropriate resolutions for the situations that we face.

18~ MS SPELMAN: Going forward,just to build on what you've said and thinking about measuring
19 success or measuring progress in thesc arcas, what docs successfully honouring Te Tiriti
20 look like for Police?

2t MR COSTER: This clearly needs to be multifaceted, because the problems that lead to people

22 coming into contact with Policc arc so many and varicd, you know, across thc spectrum of
23 family harm, mental health, youth offending, youth suicide, gangs, there's no one answer
24 that from a Maori perspective is going to address all of those issues, except for that it's in
25 partnership and that it is culturally appropriate. And so the kinds of things that are making
26 a really big difference here, Te Pae @ranga | mentioned in my evidence, is a marae based
27 response to low levcl oftending, supported by infrastructurc on marac to intcrvenc in the
28 underlying causes of oftending rather than simply respond to symptoms, and as that's been
29 cvaluated, we've proven that it works, it's a 22% rcduction in harm from rcoffending for

30 cases that have gone through Te Pae @ranga as compared to cases that have gone through
31 the mainstream courts. And so, we're expanding that now, including to youth panels to

32 allow a greater range of people to access that response.

33 MS SPELMAN: Would you like to see the threshold in terms of offences that can be referred to

34 Te Pac Oranga incrcascd?
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MR COSTER: There's a balancing act to be struck in all of this, the more serious the offending,

2 clearly community demands a response that rcflects harm donce to a victim. But Policc's

3 driving focus is around our mission which is to prevent crime and harm through exceptional
4 policing and as a decision point we're really trying to push towards what arc the

5 interventions that will prevent crime and harm.

6 And so that tends to take us to asking the question, is there anything that we could

7 do with this offender to reduce the risk of future harm, and that puts a slightly different take
] on some of those issues.

’ I would note that the capability to respond in this way on marae has only really
10 come about through the process of Trecaty settlements where iwi have been able to build the
11 capital and thc, even to some extent the cultural capital, to be able to provide responscs on
12 marace. So, policing and the preventative initiatives that we're putting in place have come
13 partly through the vehicle of Treaty settlements that have enabled iwi to, I suppose, be

14 better placed to have those responses in partnership with us.

15 Clearly that's not an unlimited capacity, so we might desire to put a whole lot more
16 through those kinds of services all around the country, we have to work at the pace of the
17 services that exist in a place and the resourcing available to then be able to take referrals
18 fromus.

19  MS SPELMAN: Surc. So pcrhaps generally supportcd provided it could be -the need could be
20 met by the othcr agencics and the other support that needs to be in placce to cnsurc that
2i something like Te Pac @ranga- is successful.

22 MR COSTER: Yes, qualified by unfortunately many of the people that we deal with have

23 become so entrenched in their offending that despite repeated attempts to deal with the

24 underlying causes, the trauma leaves us with few options. And so, the key in all of this is to
25 avoid that escalation early in people's lives at a stage where it's still possible to have that

26 preventative effect.

27 MS SPELMAN: In tcrms of that succcss, and a futurc looking question, is it fair to say that othcr

28 parts of that would look like continuation of the work you're doing on diversity within the
29 Police force, the training that you've referred to to make surc that all your police officers
30 are fully equipped to deal with the people they're serving?

31 MR COSTER: Diversity is clearly really important. By itself it's not the answer. If you come
32 from a diverse background but you come into a place where the culture doesn't allow you to
33 express that diversity, then it can be squashed, and so diversity is key, a culture that enables

34 that divcrsity to be expressed in the right way in the organisation is key, and also
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1 recognising that all of our staff need a level of competence regardless of their background
2 to cngage with vulncrable people, diverse communitics, and at the same time rccognising
3 that wc put a lot of expcctation on our frontlinc, and we could have them continuously in
4 training and thcy still probably wouldn't know as much as wc'd like them to know about
5 cverything that they might come across with the breadth of their jobs.

6  MS SPELMAN: That point you've just raised, Commissioner about diversity alone is not enough

i and it's very dependent on the culture that someone's going into, [ wonder, I'm conscious,
] Deputy Commissioner, this is probably your particular area, and | anticipate that you will
L both say again that the Police have come a long way from the past. But before we get to
10 that, I do just want to put a couplec more historical points you to, becausc I think it's
11 important context in tcrms of who was in the Policc historically before we move to today.
12 So back in 1950, according to Ta Kim, thcrc was onc Maori policc officer in
13 New Zcaland and this, I should say, we don't nced to bring this document up, but just for
14 reference this is CRN 0000157 from the report Haha-un Haha-tea Maori Involvement in
15 State Care and a quote from Ta Kim that's within that report.
16 So, he says around that same period, the 1950s, the Commissioner surveyed the
17 Police to see how they felt about recruiting Maori into the Police, and the staff were almost
18 unanimously opposed to the idca. The view is that if you cmploycd Maori the Pakcha
19 would resent being dealt with by Maori and that thcy might be inclined to Ict their own
20 peoplce off the hook, so it was dccided that Maori were unsuitable for recruitment at that
21 time. And thcn moving forward to 1965, this is a quotc from Ta Kim's cvidence at the
22 contextual hcaring, which is TRN 0000427, and this is moving forward about 15 ycars to
23 1965:
24 "Maon police officers were very much in the minority and in 1965 Commissioner
25 Urquhart declared that Chinese, Hindu,- I think he meant Indians-,-- and Pacific Islanders
26 were unsuited to policing and would not be recruited. He stated that apart from Maor
27 policing should only be done by the whitc raccs.”
28 So, beforc we spcak about today and the work that obviously is squarcly within
29 your domain, I just want you to both reflect on that, because obviously that whakapapa is
30 very important in terms of the organisation that you're leading today. So, what are your
31 comments on that fairly recent history?

32 MS KURA: 1guessif] think about 1950 1965 it's surprising that I'm still in the Police, isn't it, in
33 2022 if the whakapapa hasn't changed and we haven't had a changing journey? Sad, is

34 probably thc way that I would think about thosc statcments, is that it's sad that for thc
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| Judgments, the discrimination that was exhibited by some of our leaders that don't have the
2 foresight that wc have today, is probably how I fecl about it.

3 MS SPELMAN: And perhaps another aspect of that is that Ta Kim spoke about at the time was

4 that Police culturc is representative in some scnses of broader New Zcaland socicty and so,
5 by and large, Kim said the racism that exists within the Police also exists within our larger
6 society as a reflection of that.

7 Does that accord with your view, Deputy Commissioner?

] MS KURA: Yeah, I think so, I think about probably from a personal level, my parents as a
L Pakeha mother, Maori father, what they would have experienced, so 1 think that
10 that's- back- in those days it would have been exactly what they experienced.
11 MS SPELMAN: So, you alluded just before to the journcy and thc way that's comc, is that
12 something going forward in terms of Police upholding its obligations that you sec is the
13 force being representative of the communitics that it's scrving?

14  MS KURA: Absolutely. Ithink that — I think when 1 joined in 1987 there was about even 10%

15 women and now when we've just hit 25%, significantly different environment for I think

16 our people to be able to thrive in when you can work with somebody else who looks like

17 you, who thinks like you, who has similar values to you, it means that you have the courage
18 to do some things that might want to challecnge status quo, that might want to be forward

19 thinking, so I think the diversity is a kcy for us but it has to be in an cnvironment wherc you
20 fecl safc to be able to express who you really are.

21 MS SPELMAN: And bcaring in mind the progrcess that's beecn madc, where do you sce things in
22 tcrms of how much more therc is to do?

23 MS KURA: How long is a piece of string? There is as much as -1 think we have to be aligned

24 with society, we can't go beyond what is potentially sitting in our communities, because we
25 find -that -1 think about recently in my experience iwi check points during Covid, quite

26 interesting about how that divided New Zealanders and the way that they thought about

27 how Police should be involved in that particular activity. We thought about it from a safety
28 perspective, from about how we keep cverybody safc and yct our communitics may well

29 have had a lot of troublc and it probably divided our organisation in somec ways too about
30 why are we policing in this way, we haven't done this before, but we were willing to

31 actually consider- more than one view and think about doing things difterently.

32 COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Can I just ask a question of clarification. You were talking
33 about how that was reflective of society, so the views within the Police, the culture. Would

34 you say that rather than society views, that was actually those who held power's views?
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MS KURA: I'm not sure about that.

COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Becausc I'm sure Maori who werce part of socicty would have
wanted to have been recruited, for example.

MS KURA: ButI also think that therc would have been Pakeha that -and I think about my own
family, actually, the ability to cven think that that was a possibility probably didn't cxist
either. So,- I do think a little bit about you don't know what you don't you know, or what
you can't dream about, and so being forced to do something different that you don't know is
possible, | do think we were reflective of society.

COMMISSIONER STEENSON: [ guess what I'm getting to, so that reflection of society was in
fact a reflcction of the powcer that was hcld in parts of socicty and not held in others?

MS KURA: I'm not sure I undcrstand that.

MR COSTER: Idon'twantto speak for you, Tania, but it secms to me that cven for Maori in the
organisation at that time, the way of working was, and thc way things wcrc was somcwhat
accepted, not by all, and not in every respect, but the views that exist within Police largely
reflect the dominant views within society. Of course there are always people who see a
different possibility and who come from a very different place.

But it seems as though society at that time was pretty homogenous in the way it
responded to things, you know, in the majority, not in all communities.

As Tania has alluded to, we, --the way I'd say it, it's hard to outpcrform the
community that surrounds you, and whcn you push the boundary on that it crcatcs tension
and it crcates pushback, it doesn't make it the wrong thing to do, but to somc cxtent what
occurred inside of policing in this time, it wouldn't have occurred if society had condemned
it.

COVMMISSIONER STEENSON: [ guess my question is a slightly different way of looking at it.
If Maori, for example, had been in positions like Government and were able to see
possibilities for themselves and have tino rangatiratanga in those spaces, then- and- a say,
then that would have been somewhat a different reflection on socicty. But I take your
point, that becausc they didn't even feel they had that, to mc that kind of gives mc the
answer, thank you.

MS SPELMAN: I'll just stick with this point in a different way, so we've spoken about the
make-up of Police and obviously historically been a predominantly Pakeha organisation,
that changing over time, so that's the inwards culture. And 1 hear your acceptance of that
point about the general reflection of what's in society anyway. But going, 1 suppose, a layer

deceper than that, the way that, again in the cvidence from the contextual hearing Ta Kim
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1 described it, was that you take the general racism in society, and of course police officers

2 arc also members of socicty, but then within the closed culturc of Policc which perhaps

3 particularly at that timc had valucs around loyalty and conformity, uniformity, Ta Kim said
4 in his experience:

5 "... was that within that closed culture therc was reinforccment of practices around
6 the treatment of offenders or of members of the public that sort of scaled that level of

7 racism up some notches."

] And in particular he refers to a few examples, one of them being the Dawn Raids

L which of course targeted Pacific communities which he described as "incomprehensibly
10 racist".
11 So, I wonder if - wc've- got the gencral point about Police being a reflection on
12 society, but what about that decper point of within Policc culturc racist vicws perhaps
13 being, if not cncouraged, but allowed or rcinforced or intensificd. What's your comment on
14 that? And 1 ask that about historical and we'll turn secondly to the future.

15 MR COSTER: There are aspects of policing that -clearly we're dealing with the most problematic

16 behaviours in society and we are at the sharp end of those interactions, and that can, you
17 know, it's been well studied internationally thatthat can lead to a level of animosity

18 between people that you don't sce in other contexts. When you arc interacting with

19 somconc who may be angry or drug or alcohol afficcted or mentally unwecll and there's

20 violenece involved, at a human Icvel that leads to ways of intcracting that have to- be

21 amongst the least healthy ways that people can interact. So that is just a reality of the

22 nature of policing.

23 Issues like Dawn Raids, for example, you know, again reflected attitudes that

24 existed in the community at that time, that was a government policy that clearly had it not
25 been something that was accepted by the community as unlikely to have occurred and

26 Police was the vehicle, or one of the vehicles through which that policy was affected, one
27 of the things we're really emphasising in our strategy today is to bring humanity to every
28 interaction, and it's about the idca of trying to sce the pcople in front of you as human

29 beings even though if in the moment they may not be behaving like one, trying to

30 understand what's happening at a human level to drive someone to behave in the way that
31 they are.

32 That's a pretty different conversation to have inside a Police organisation, | doubt
33 you'll find any other Police organisation that has that in their strategy. But it's a recognition

34 that law enforccment intcractions can tend to dchumanisc in a way that othcer scttings don't.
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And so, | don't think we'll ever change the nature of the interactions per se in terms of the
context, but we can change the way our peoplc approach thosc things and think about them,
and that's got to sit inside of the culture in the organisation.

MS SPELMAN: Thank you for that answer. I'm not surc it did dcal with this qucstion though,
which is just about that historical culturc in the time period that Ta Kim's talking about, and
the perhaps more closed culture back then that Police had as opposed to now where there
seems to be a lot more interaction and working with communities, and whether that culture
did serve to scale up the level of racism that was present.

MR COSTER: Ireally can't speak to that. Ta Kim lived it, he's bringing his experience, [ simply
can't say that. Maybc you havc --

MS KURA: Yeah, I kind of -I think about it as that,- -I think that thc closcd culturc as you talk
about was more prevalent carlier in my career than it was ccrtainly later, and having a
contrary view was quite difficult in thc 80s and 90s than it was latcr on-, so in that sctting I
would understand why that could happen.

MS SPELMAN: Okay. [ suppose another way of looking at this is considering, and again this is
at the historical, and I'll ask about the present in a moment, but about the level of structural
racism that existed, or whether or not it did exist within Police in that period we're talking
about. And I'm thinking about this in rclation to thc Waitangi Tribunal who, as you know,
last ycar had an inquiry into Oranga Tamariki which cxamincd many of thc issucs that arc
also now being cxamined in relation to Police herc. And as part of that thc Crown in thosc
procecdings, and I'm looking herc to the report He Paharakcke MSC 0008144 at page 177.

It's widely known, of coursc, that the Crown madc particular conccssions as part of
those proceedings in relation to Oranga Tamariki. And what that was, the Crown conceded
that:

"Structural racism is a feature of Oranga Tamariki and its predecessors, and has
resulted from various legislative policy and system settings over time. The Crown
acknowlcdgces that this has had advcrsc eftects for tamariki Maori, whanau, hapu and iwi
and has detrimentally affected the relationship between Maori and the Crown. Further, the
Crown acknowledges the role that poor practice, lack of engagement and poor cultural
understanding have played to create distrust throughout the Care and Protection system."

And clearly this hearing and those concessions were fairly fundamental when they
happened. And I just wondered in terms of your Police leadership whether that was
considered by Police. That concession made by Oranga Tamariki in relation to Police's

history, was that something that was considered by your leadership when it happened?
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! MR COSTER: I'm not aware that it was specifically, it may have been but I'm not aware that it

2 was. Clearly, wc've started our own piecc of work aimed at looking at structural incquality
3 insidc of justice, specifically Policc's role in that. It will be considered by the Waitangi
4 Tribunal.

5 MS SPELMAN: Thank you. Wcre you still? --

6 MR COSTER: 1 was just going to say, issues connected with policing will clearly be considered
7 as part of the Waitangi Tribunal's criminal justice kaupapa inquiry which Police is a key

] part. So, yeah, that's all | can say on that.

® MS SPELMAN: Sure, and the very same issues here in this forum, in this Inquiry that we're also

10 dcaling with now.

11 A rclated aspect of that is accountability for you as Policc Commissioncr. In tcrms
12 of that, and your diffcrent functions within your role, who, if you could dcscribe for us how
13 and to whom you're accountablc?

14 MR COSTER: I'm operationally independent in terms of Section 16 of the Policing Act 2008.

15 However, I'm accountable to the Minister of Police for the administrative function of the
16 organisation. So, | have a split there in terms of my functions.

17 MS SPELMAN: And in terms of that administrative side, budget and number of police officers,
18 that sort of thing?

19  MRCOSTER: Ycs.

26 MS SPELMAN: But dccisions about how and wherc Policc arc uscd and dcploycd, that's for you
21 to makc indcpendently.

22 MR COSTER: Correct.

23 MS SPELMAN: In terms of that independence, how do you ensure and not just you but any

24 Commissioner of Police throughout history, how do you ensure that you can exercise that
25 function independently and not, for example, be influenced by whoever the particular
26 minister of the day might be?

27 MR COSTER: Successive ministers have, in my obscrvation, been pretty good about recognising
28 the opcrational indcpendence of Police. The incentives arc not probably to be accountable
29 for something that you don't need to be, and so that division's been respected, and -yeah-.
30 MS SPELMAN: 1 suppose the example we were discussing just before about the Dawn Raids and
31 1 think you mentioned when you were talking about it that being an action reflective of the
32 community at the time but-- obviously that wasn't you as Police Commissioner back then,

33 but that was actually Police agreeing to use Police power in a certain way, which seemed
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perhaps more influenced by the political views of the day; is that a fair summary of that
period?

MR COSTER: I'm not closc cnough to how that playcd in practicce to understand thosc dynamics
at thc time. But I nced to point out that opcerational independence docsn't absolve us from
the general principle that Police will enforce the law, as it stands for the time being. And
so, whilst there's a level of discretion, it's not absolute.

MS SPELMAN: Sure, but the Police enforcement of the law would be done in a way that's non-
discriminatory, that would be the way that it should be enforced.

MR COSTER: It ought to be.

MS SPELMAN: And clearly that wasn't thc casc in relation to the cxamplc of thc Dawn Raids;
would you agrec with that?

MR COSTER: I think therc's a qucstion there about wherc the focus and cffort was dirccted in
terms of the communities that may have been sub ject to immigration action supported by
Police and 1 think there's a pretty strong evidence base to say that the focus of that effort
was on the Pacific community particularly. But again, people more studied in it than 1 am
have looked at those issues and formed views, the Government's recently apologised and
Police actions were clearly part of that apology.

MS SPELMAN: Yes, which would make your acceptance of it I think fairly straightforward
I would have thought.

So, I know that this issue of racism has a historical point -of coursc it's a currcnt
issuc as well in terms of the understanding Policc dclivery work and I know that you've
spoken publicly about that a number of times- and it sccms as though therc's some
misunderstanding perhaps or contention around the terms that are used when we talk about
this issue.

MR COSTER: There certainly can be. For me the most important thing here is that we find a
meeting of minds which we have repeatedly failed to do, between the various reports that
have been written cxpressing vicws around structural racism and I supposc wherc the
Police organisation has sat on those things. Part of thc disagrecement I belicve turns around
the use of terminology. For examplc, for thosc working in this arca structural racism is
simply or systemic racism is a system that repeatedly gets diffierent outcomes for one group
of people than another. But quite naturally when people working in a system hear that, the
assumption is, you know, you're saying that 1 have racist attitudes, but 1 don't. As we've

dug into this we've really focused on, well, what is it that we're particularly looking at here?
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| And it really is the systems, processes, policies, procedures that shape policing, and the way
2 that plays out for difficrent groups of pcople.
3 Indepcndent -sorry, individual attitudcs, whilst potentially rclevant to the
4 convcrsation, arcn't actually where, you know, our indcpendent pancl's perspective, wherc
5 the greatest focus should sit. And so,- wc've been very blessed to have Ta Kim Icading the
6 independent panel overseeing this work, we have practitioners in this field who are very
7 respected, and we've brought in an operational reference group led by officers from around
] the country who are able to engage in a conversation about policing and how these things
L play out in practice.
10 So yes, the terms can be quitc problecmatic and that's why I've resisted the usc of
11 them because I really have felt that they don't get us closcr to a mecting of the minds on
12 wherc the issues sit becausc of the misundcrstandings that cxist around them.

13 MS SPELMAN: I just want to make sure I'm clear on what you'rc saying with that, so therc's

14 1 suppose the difference between structural or organisational racism, and 1 think we all
15 agree that's different to personal racism, but what you've said is that it's difficult for police
16 officers to understand the difference between those terms?

17 MR COSTER: I think any time people hear the term, --or the average person when they hear the
18 term "racism" it immediately conjures up images associated with individual racist attitudes.
19 MS SPELMAN: So, it's that diffcrencc between the individual and the structural which is the

20 issuc there? --

21 MR COSTER: I think that's probably the biggest arca of misundcrstanding which triggers a

22 defensive response that immediatcly shuts down the opportunity for an cxamination of how
23 we're working and what are the consequences of the way we're working.

24  MS SPELMAN: It seems as though as an alternative terminology, going back to your predecessor

25 in 2015, Commissioner Bush, he obviously used different words, he said unconscious bias
26 and accepted that that was present within Police, | think he said as it is in all organisations.
27 And had repcatcd that several times during his term and that's also, I undcrstand, accepted
28 at that general level in terms of your position on that point?

29 MR COSTER: As a matter of fact, all human beings havc unconscious biascs, thosc arc the

30 things that prevent us from stepping out on to a road without first looking as well as a range
31 of other consequences that come from the way our brains work. What we're talking about
32 in the UPD work focuses probably less on unconscious biases, although organisational

33 practices may play into individual unconscious bias as we're talking about policies,
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1 processes, organisational ways of working that may not be suitable for the outcomes we're
2 wying to achicve.

3 MS SPELMAN: And thc work, cven thc small part of it, that is around bias or unconscious bias
4 that you've described in the bricf, that's spccifically talking about unconscious bias in

5 relation to racc or ethnicity as opposcd to other typcs of bias?

6 MR COSTER: The term "unconscious bias" 1 think is less useful for us in this context than

i systemic bias, because unconscious takes it back into the individual space, whereas pretty
] clearly when we look at the criminal justice system, it sits more at the structural systemic
L level.

16  MS SPELMAN: Isupposc you could also have both, right, you could accept, which I think you

11 have publicly previously, that the Policc as an organisation, individual officcrs within the

12 Police have unconscious bias, as do all humans, I think that's generally accepted, and what 1
13 was just clarifying is, in that context you're talking about, unconscious bias in relation to

14 race, or specifically here in terms of the way that non--Pakeha are dealt with by Police as

15 opposed to other types of bias.

16 MR COSTER: I'm generally trying to avoid the use of the term "unconscious bias", I've repeated
17 it in reference to the previous acknowledgment by the previous Commissioner, but it's not a
18 tcrm that I'm routinely using.

19  MS SPELMAN: Surc. So, instcad of thc focus on the individual, your dccision is to focus at a

20 structural Icvel but to spcak about structural bias as opposcd to structural racism; is that

2] correct?

22 MR COSTER: I'm actually,- I actually find the tcrminology lcss helptul than addressing

23 specifically what the behaviours are. Obviously I can talk to them, 1 can reflect on what

24 they tend to mean to diffierent people, but the purpose of the Understanding Policing

25 Delivery work is to get beyond- 1 suppose the labels that are often thrown in different

26 directions when people are talking past each other to try and say, okay, well, we accept that
27 thc criminal justicc outcome has much worse outcomces -- criminal justicc systcm has much
28 worsc outcomes for Maori than for non--Maori. When we dig into that what arc the factors
29 that are Icading to that, what is the Policc contribution to that and what would wc nced to
30 shift. I'll give you a simple example.

31 A construct that has historically been acknowledged within Police is the idea of the
32 attitude test, it's the equivalent of what the courts do when there is a more significant

33 sentence given to someone who hasn't acknowledged their offending. And so, if someone

34 is contrite and says ycs, I did that, you know, and thcy'rc apologctic, they'rc probably going
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| to be sentenced lighter than if there's complete denial. And there's a similar thing that

2 occurs in terms of Police practicc in the cxercise of discrction.

3 Some might arguc that's entirely appropriatc becausc actually it reflects somconc

4 who acknowledges thcir offiending is much lcss likely to rcoffend than somconc who is

5 complctcly in denial. Others might say, actually if that responsc isn't helping to get us to an
6 outcome of the prevention of future harm then is it fit for purpose as something to occur

i inside of Police practices and processes.

] So those are the sorts of things that, you know, quite specific examples of where are
L the decision points, what's happening in the interactions between Police and people that are
10 Icading to diffcrent outcomces for one group than for othcrs.

11 MS SPELMAN: Okay. So, [ undcrstand, I think, your present -day stratcgy in terms of obviously
12 you think that is thc most cftective way to proceed on thesc issucs, is to --

13 MRCOSTER: We havce 14,000 pcoplc who we need to cnsurc arc ablc to opcratc in the most

14 appropriate way for the communities that we Police. And so, whatever we do, if we don't
15 have an effective way of engaging 14,000 people in the conversation, then we're not going
16 to succeed. And the understanding --

17 CHAIR: Can I, --fimish that sentence, please, | am sorry to interrupt you-- if you want to.
18 MR COSTER: No, go ahcad.

19  CHAIR: [Ijust wonder whether we might be going around ahead in circles, because you have

20 addressed the question Ms Spelman is asking in your cvidence, paragraph 4.13, you say:

21 "Policc is continuously working on introducing a varicty of tools that help staff

22 lcarn and addrcss racism, ableism and bias."

23 And then you talk about Manaki Aki, the learning resource. So, it seems to me

24 that - I'm not quite sure what this debate is about really, because you're saying here that you
25 are actually doing- that, you are working --

26 MR COSTER: Absolutely.

27  CHAIR: So, we accept the systemic stuff but you arc actually working with staff members as well
28 in tcrms of their attitudinal framcworks and perceptions, cultural biascs and the like; is that
29 right?

3@ MR COSTER: Absolutely, but I think what we're saying is when it comes to the big outcomes

31 that we're trying to achieve, they come by tackling the systemic things that arise and that's
32 where our effort is focused, most significantly.

33 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: You are definitely making an effort to shift individual attitudes

34 about the bias that they bring to the job and discrimination?
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| MR COSTER: The mindset that we bring to our work is fundamentally important. What I'm

2 very mindful of, though, is there's plenty of evidence internationally that simply rolling out
3 unconscious bias training does nothing to shift bias, in fact sometimes it makes it worse.

4 And so, when we're talking about, you know, where is the biggest opportunity to make a

5 difference, it is looking more at that system process policy level. When we're talking about
6 individual attitudes, it's actually about, you know, on the positive side of the ledger the

7 expectations we set about fairness and equity, about bringing humanity to our interactions,
] and that's the expectation [ have of leaders that that's the environment they will create and
’ that's the way we would speak to our people about it.

1¢  COMMISSIONER ERUETI: What is the science saying, is it saying if you adopt that
11 unconscious bias and it's very individual -centric that pcoplc just becomce, you're saying that
2 peoplc become defensive and shut down and just -therc's sclf---dcenial --

13 MR COSTER: They maybe misinterpret the conversation as being directed at them and their

14 attitudes personally rather than the way an organisation or a system is operating, and

15 internationally there's research that shows unconscious bias training per se tends to identify
16 the cognitive biases that we all hold and then a lot of people then embrace those biases that
17 they think serve them well in their lives. That isn't where we're trying to get to here.

18 So, we've thought quite carefully about the best way to tackle this and that's why

19 we're working with Ta Kim and the pancl and their insights arc informing the approach that
20 we're taking.

21  CHAIR: I think we should move to the next topic.
22 MS SPELMAN: Thank you.

23 So the last point I just wanted to cover on this is obviously with all the work that

24 you've done, | know neither of you are coming today to suggest that things have been fixed
25 or that these problems don't exist anymore, and [ suppose in terms of the more recent

26 examples of these issues coming up you'd be well familiar with the different concerns about
27 differcntial trcatment in rclation to pre-charge warnings, I think that was 2016 from thc

28 IPCA, 2019 in terms of the tactical options reports, and most recently the issue around

29 photographing Maori children in particular out on the street, and so I just wanted to give

30 you a chance to comment, to clarify, 1 think, that these are issues the Police understand are
31 still very much current and ongoing and that's probably no doubt why you're doing this

32 work.
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| MR COSTER: Yeah, certainly Understanding Policing Delivery programme is looking at who
2 we stop and spcak to, our usc of force decisions and our charging dccisions, and thosc arc
3 called out as thc --

4  CHAIR: You're all racing to the line herce a little bit, just slow down, cverybody, including you,

5 Ms Spclman.

6 MR COSTER: In policing internationally those three areas are called out as the biggest points of

7 tension, but there's a lot of complexity that sits underneath it. 1f we take use of force,

] Police doesn't get to choose who presents with a mental health crisis or who has a drug and

’ alcohol problem that leads to a confrontation with Police, but we do get to shape the way
10 we respond to those circumstances when they come, so thosc arc the things we have to dig
11 into.

12 MS SPELMAN: Does that research projcct that is going on, undcrway, also address and asscss

13 how bias or discrimination has impacted the dclivery of scrvice on Pacific pcoples?

14 MR COSTER: Yeah, it's not specifically about Maori, although that in a statistical sense is where
15 the biggest discrepancy lies, it is broad in terms of all of our delivery.

16 MS SPELMAN: So there would be ongoing work specifically in terms of in collaboration with

17 specific communities and with appropriate experts?

18 MR COSTER: Ycah, I'm absolutcly surc that will be part of it and that's wherc the pancl is

19 helping us to make sure we cover the ground we need to.

26 MS SPELMAN: Thank you. That's the end of the qucstions on thosc topics. I know

2] Commissioners had questions throughout but I just thought if there was any other questions
22 in relation to thosc topics beforc 1 pass over to Ms Basirc.

23 CHAIR: Yes, I'm just wondering in terms of time. 1'm conscious of time, we'll just take some

24 short questions now then we can wrap them up at the end. Is that all right?

25  COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Can Itake, just going back to the comment before about

26 historically how racism was prevalent within New Zealand communities and the Police

2: force constitutcd, was representative of thosc communitics, becausc 1 think in fact it was

28 mostly or all Pakeha in the 50s and 60s. With the -you- described how being at the sharp
29 end of policing that intense interaction, that that could have a dehumanising kind of attitude
30 towards the people that Police were dealing with. Would you accept then that those intense
31 interactions could lead to some amplification of the discrimination that the Police officers
32 brought to that interaction?

33 MR COSTER: There's a very real risk of that in policing, you know, alongside the risk that when

34 you're only secing people on the worst days of their lives that bccomes a dominant vicw of
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1 what's happening in the community, so that is something we constantly have to battle with,
2 that the naturc of the intcractions we're having cvery day arcn't nccessarily representative of
3 what's happcning in thec community as a whole.

4  COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Yeah, butyou could scc it could have- it would follow it would

5 have that effect of amplifying attitudes. The other question I had was about the Treaty and
6 it's not in the Policing Act specifically, yet you have taken it upon yourself to spell out what
i your Treaty obligations, and so you've got, is it a policy for giving effect to Te Tiriti- and

] you've divided it into three different, articles one --

* MR COSTER: Three parts.
16  COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Yecah, what do you think drivcs you to do that, to adopt that policy
11 internally if it's not written into the statute?

12 MR COSTER: I think this is somcthing that successive Commissioncrs have scen as important.

13 You know, commitment to Maori and the Treaty is onc of our six corc valucs, it hasn't

14 always been, but it has been certainly for over a decade, or quite a bit longer actually, and |

15 think within the organisation it's accepted as the right thing to do at one level.

16 But there's more, sort of, if people can't agree it's the right thing to do, well, if more

17 than 50% of the prison population is Maori then unless we do things that work with and for
18 Maori, we will ncver achieve our outcome of preventing crime and harm, and we nced to be
19 clearit's offending and victimisation too, so it just makes scnsc, it's the right thing to do.

26 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Yeah, it docs, and there's a scnsc of obligation to do somcthing, to
21 make a diffierence, to make something right.

22 MR COSTER: Absolutcly. The most common thing you will hear from pcople who joincd

23 Police about why they joined is to make a difference. Then the conversation is simply,

24 well, how do you do that, what's the most effective way to make a diffierence? And as

25 we've focused more on prevention, which we have been doing for a decade, or more, then
26 it's obvious that you need to work in partnership because most of the problems that present
27 for Policc occur well prior to Police having contact or indeed actual mandatc.

28 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Thankyou.

29  CHAIR: Thank you, I think Ms Basire's going to takc ovcr; is that right?

30 QUESTIONING BY MS BASIRE: Yes, Madam Chair. E nga Kaikomihana, ko Kathy Basire
31 toku ingoa, t€na koutou. My name is Kathy Basire, for those listening, [ am a middle-

32 aged- Pakeha woman with mid-length grey hair-,-- well, it's grey at the front, apparently at

33 the back it's not so grey, I'm wearing a black jacket and a cream dress.
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1 Now, good afternoon -are we not, yes, we are at -afternoon -Commissioner- and

2 Deputy Commissioner. The focus of the next part of our questioning is going to be about

3 the Police's response to investigating and prosccuting abusc in carc.

4 I want to thank you for your acknowlcdgment today and in your bricf that the Policc

5 have been listening closely to the cvidence given at the hearings, and you havc listencd to

6 the survivors and you have reflected on their accounts of abuse and their accounts of

i engagement with Police.

8 You would have heard common themes emerging from the evidence that the

’ Commission has been gathering over all its hearings. Survivors of abuse in care are both
10 children at the time and adults at the time. They cxpericneed a wide range of abusc, both
11 by thc pcoplc who werc supposcd to be caring for them, and other residents of their carc
12 facilities.
13 The abuse is the type of crime that the Police should focus their most resources on
14 because we're talking about significant sexual violence, significant physical violence,
15 seclusion, restraint, overmedicalisation.

16 You would have heard the survivors say that often they felt they would not be

17 believed if they raised the abuse, or that the abuse was so widespread and normalised in the
18 institution that thcy didn't raisc it. Many fclt that the Policc would not listen or act duc to
19 the reason that they werce in care, that they wouldn't belicve a person who might otherwisc
20 be scen as a bit of a woublcmaker, that the Policc may not belicve them becausc they're a
pA | mental hcalth patient, or beccause they're disabled.
22 You would have heard survivors and family members speak of fcar of specaking out
23 in case it made matters worse for their loved ones. And concerningly, and this is what I'm
24 going to turn to now, for some who did make allegations to the Police, they felt the Police
25 did not listen. Some were returned by Police to the very institution where the abuse was
26 occurring, and we have heard multiple allegations of failures by the Police to investigate at
27 all or investigatc in a timely manncr. The failurcs to investigatc have led to failurcs to
28 prosecutc alleged offcnders and wc've also heard evidencce about allcged oftendcers being
29 ablc to continuc to officnd as they werce just transferred to other institutions.
30 You have acknowledged in your brief of evidence, Commissioner, that at times this
31 has been uncomfortable to hear and 1 just want to emphasise that the wide range of people
32 that we have heard from, so we've heard from Maori, Pacific peoples, but also disabled

33 people who have been disabled in many diffierent ways, and those experiencing mental
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| health conditions, and the range of abuse that they suffiered was in multiple types of
2 institutions and care homes and institutions and hospitals.
3 So, what I want to focus on now is what thc Policc's responsc to investigating this
4 abusc has been historically. But beforc I do, and becausc we sort of went over time so |
5 think we'll just explore this first; would you agree, Commissioner, that there is an inherent
6 power imbalance whenever a child or an adult is in care compared with the adults who

i provide care?
2 MR COSTER: Absolutely.
® MS BASIRE: And you'd agree that violence, whether it's sexual or physical, at its core is abuse of
10 powecr.
11 MR COSTER: Absolutcly I do, noting that for some typcs of violcncc there was tormal
12 recognition of it in the form of corporal punishment so that is a carve-out, but in general
13 tcrms, ycs.

14  MS BASIRE: 1don't want to dwell too much because we've just had a whole discussion about

15 unconscious bias, bias, structural bias, but 1 just want to explore, pick up on something that
16 you said to my colleague, which is that very often the same groups of people are offenders
17 and victims, so offiender groups experience victimisation often at the same rate and that is
18 somcthing that pcrhaps is not widcly knownbut if we take a -- would you agrec?

19 MR COSTER: It's well rccognised within Policc that the pcople we arc dealing with as offendcers
20 today may well present as victims tomorrow, so that is uncontentious for us.

2i MS BASIRE: Yes. And so just tor those listening, you might have an example of somebody

22 who's a gang member who perpctrate a crime and the next week they could be a victim on
23 another file because of what's happening in that group.

24 MR COSTER: I can give you a really relevant example today. We looked at a cohort of 63, 1

25 think it was, young people who had committed ram raid offiences in Auckland in a recent
26 period. More than half of those presented to Police as being present at a family harm event
27 by the age of 3. So, there's a close connection between offending and victimisation.

28 MS BASIRE: Ycs, but when we look at abusc in care, which is the focus of our investigation,

29 would you agrec that there is a differcnce that the Police don't scc as much which is the
30 offender group in abuse in State care, when we're talking about the people who ran these
31 institutions or employed in these institutions, were actually quite different from the victim
32 group. Do you understand what 1 mean?

33 MR COSTER: I'm not -in- terms of their position of power do you mean?
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1 MS BASIRE: Well, in terms of their position of power, but also in terms of their demographics.

2 So perhaps I can explain. We've heard allcgations against psychiatrists, doctors, tcachcers,
3 priests, people who in the past, in the timeframe that we're looking at, would be seen as
4 pillars of society.

5 MR COSTER: Sure, yes, yeah.
6  MS BASIRE: And I don't have the exact statistics, but very often they would have been Pakeha.

7 So, when we look at systemic bias, would it be fair to say that in the past the Police may not
] have recognised the extent of the problem because of the group of oftenders that the
’ allegations were being made against?

16 MR COSTER: It certainly sccms to be true that the awarcness of the risk of, for cxamplc, scxual

11 offending by people in positions of authority through this pcriod docsn't reflect the

12 awarcness that we all have today.

13 I would also notc the challenge spccifically within the justice systcm around

14 credibility and that someone who is maybe a young person in care, you know, be it for

15 offending or whatever the reason, is going to -in that time would have struggled to get

16 cut- through- in the criminal justice system relative to the testimony of someone from the
17 kinds of offices that you're referring to.

18 MSBASIRE: Ycs. So would you agree that these issucs, first of all, of lack of rccognition that

19 pcople in positions of power can do, commit crimcs, and sccondly, that pcoplc in powcer
20 were inhcrently seen as more credible, those two issucs affected the way you investigated
21 and prosecutcd crimce up until, for examplc, 1999?

22 MR COSTER: Look, I think questions of assumed credibility arc kind of at the corc of dccision-

23 making around things like prosecution and actually remain so today when we consider in
24 bringing a case to court, is there evidence that could reasonably lead to a conviction and

25 credibility is one of those really difficult areas within it, particularly where you have a

26 vulnerable victim who may not be articulate, may have had issues in their own background
27 that might be used to undermine their credibility. So, it's very difficult when dealing with
28 vulnerable victims to get this right, and it remains an ongoing focus and challenge for the
29 system today I think.

3@  MS BASIRE: Yes, so taking the focus back to abuse in care rather than victimisation per se,
31 you've recognised, you've agreed with me that there is a power imbalance between the
32 people who are providing care and those in care, and you've accepted that people in the

33 Police in the past most likely were affected by the lack of understanding of what was
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| happening in these care homes or institutions; why is it that the Police do not have a
2 universal policy about reccipt of abusc of -- allegations of abusc in carc cven now?

3 MR COSTER: I think the vulnerability of people in carc as comparcd to others is well

4 undcrstood, as a result of the light that's becn shone on these issucs in the last couplc of

5 decades. The response to people who have been -you- know, any situation of abuse, for

6 example, involving young people gives rise to questions of, for example, is this young

7 person safe, and that could be whether they're in their own family home, whether they're in
] another context, whether the abuser has ongoing access.

’ So up to press, we haven't seen the need for a specific and separate policy from the
10 kinds of guidelincs that inform all of our practice when you get a young person in a

11 situation of abuse.

12 MS BASIRE: Right. Well, of course, it is not only young people that we're looking at, we're

13 looking at adults at risk or adults in care. But just pulling it back to the discussion about the
14 power imbalance, when 1 was growing up, the Police's response to family violence was just
15 another domestic and they wouldn't even turn up. Now we've come a far way from that,

16 and 1 find it interesting that all the policies that have been developed around what was

17 called domestic violence, and now is called family harm violence, acknowledges this

18 inhcrent power imbalances that occur in familics and I've looked on your website and

19 there's lot of really interesting information about wheels, power control wheels, there's a

20 much more greater understanding of psychological abusc, cocrcion, control within familics.
21 However, when we look at abusc in care, you don't appcar to have developed the

22 same sort of policies. Do you think that is somcthing that thc Policc could look at?

23 MR COSTER: I definitely think we should be open to looking at it. My personal view is that the

24 insight people have about vulnerability of -our people have about the vulnerability of

25 children in a family violence situation transfer over pretty easily into any situation where a
26 young person or indeed an adult who has vulnerabilities are at risk but, you know, it's

27 certainly something that could be rcflected in -Police -cxplicitly- in Police training and

28 practice.

29 MS BASIRE: Thank you. Wc'rc going to talk morc this aftcrnoon about data collcction, but at
30 the moment the Police do not have any way of telling the Royal Commission in the

31 last year how many allegations of abuse in care its received, does it?

32 MR COSTER: Not as a statistic, no.

33 MS BASIRE: And that's because the way the data is collected is individual to the person, the

34 people involved?
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MR COSTER: Yes, Police's systems are continuously evolving in terms of the data we collect.

2 Woc have a large numbcer of boxes that can be ticked on any given file to reflect hate crime,
3 family violence, a whole range of different kinds of offending. And abuse in care could be
4 anothcr of thosc. Thc challenge for us in collecting data is that we tack on so much

5 requirement that our frontline staff can't realistically and practically give effect to all of that
6 data gathering requirement.

7 So I think a question we would ask, you know, in considering whether that should
] be part of our system, is for what purpose will this be used and relative to all of the other

’ things that people would like us to collect, is this a good one to include? I accept it would
10 have been incredibly uscful for this Commission to havc that data. I supposc the qucstion
11 would be is there an ongoing need for it. Again, somcthing that we could consider if there
2 was a clcar nced for that kind of ongoing monitoring.

13 MS BASIRE: Becausc you do collect data on family harm violenec?
14 MR COSTER: Yes, we do.
15 MS BASIRE: [ guess part of my point to emphasise is that do you agree the Police need to be

16 carefuil not to have focus on that group of people that they see as problematic, that group of
17 people who are offending against each other, and lose sight that there are other offender

18 groups in Ncw Zcaland who causc significant harm and if it's anything likc what wc've

19 hcard, if any of that is continuing into the futurc it mcans that pcoplc arc going to continuc
20 to be harmed and it's not going to get picked up. Would you agree?

21 MR COSTER: Obviously by the time it's getting to the point of being recorded as data in Police

22 systems it's quitc a long way down the track in tcrms of where you'd want to put your

23 protections for people. So, | can certainly accept that it could be usef'ul to have a lens on
24 that. But I would also note that our child protection policies, our adult sexual assault

25 policies and our monitoring of all of the cases that sit in that category would now pick up
26 the vast majority of the behaviours that are in scope for abuse in care.

27 So, you know, our practices around particularly child protcction and adult scxual

28 assault have moved massively in the last 15 years, such that I would be Icss convinced of
29 the valuc of specific data collcction about carc scttings per sc.

3@  MS BASIRE: But those two policies that you just talked about miss the whole cohort of people
31 aged 16 to 65 who are vulnerable adults who might be --
32 MR COSTER: Ifthe abuse was not sexual, yes, that's correct.
33 MS BASIRE: [ think that probably brings us to an appropriate time to have lunch before 1 start

34 asking you somc morc specific qucstions.
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| CHAIR: We're going to take a shortened lunch ad journment today, we are a going to take 45

2 minutes, so cating will be morc rapid than usual, and that is bccausc we've got a lot of work
3 to do. Thank you, both, and wc'll see you all back hcre at 1.45. Thank you.
4 Lunch adjournment from 12.59 pm to 1.52 pm

5 CHAIR: Welcome back, everybody. Ms Basire.
6  MS BASIRE: Thank you, Madam Chair.

i Before the break, Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner, we were having a
] discussion about victim and offender groups and just before [ go on to ask some more
L detailed questions, there's just one point 1 wanted to raise with you.
10 You gave us the examplc of the young men involved in ram raids and a large
11 percentage of those arc known to Police from family harm incidents when they werce as
12 young as 3. I just wantcd to point out or ask you, arc you awarc of the lcvcel of statistics of
13 current offenders who werc victims of abusc in Statc carc?

14 MR COSTER: No, because we don't have a statistic for abuse in State care per se, but obviously

15 we,-- there is research that looks at, for example, the prevalence of family violence or abuse
16 in the background of inmates generally which is very high, 1 can't put a number on it, but in
17 my mind it's in the vicinity of 50%, it's high.

18 MS BASIRE: And would you accept, and we don't have the statistics cithcr because nobody's

19 kept them, that there's a large percentage of the prison population today would be survivors
20 of abusc in care?

21 MR COSTER: I probably can't say that becausc I just don't know that to be truc. I do know that
22 in a more gencral sensc abusc and family violence fecaturc very highly in the historics of
23 inmates but | have no way of knowing whether that statement is true.

24  MS BASIRE: We have taken many survivor statements who have gone on to offend after they
25 have been victims of abuse in State care rather than family violence, would you accept,

26 even though we don't have the statistics, that abuse in care has been a pathway into crime?
27 MR COSTER: I would certainly acknowledge it is a relevant influence, also recognising that

28 many of the young pcoplc who went into care had a range of challenges in their

29 backgrounds, but you can't deny thc impact of abusc on futurc offending.

3@  MS BASIRE: Thank you.

31 Now, you would agree that the most important tool for prosecution is a thorough
32 investigation?

33 MR COSTER: Sorry, say that again?

3¢ MS BASIRE: The most important tool for prosccution of an offendcr is a thorough investigation?
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1 MR COSTER: Yeah, I think that's fair.

2 MS BASIRE: Becausc without a thorough investigation you don't get the best possible cvidence
3 and it's the best possiblc evidence that you want to put before a court if you charge

4 somcbody.

5 MR COSTER: Absolutcly. Surc, ycah.

6 MS BASIRE: And you would agree that without adequate and timely investigations, often

i prosecutions fail?

2 MR COSTER: Yes.

° MS BASIRE: Now, you have in your brief of evidence acknowledged that Police have made

10 failings in regard to investigating abusc in Statc carc, in particular in rclation to Lake Alicc.
11 I just want to explore some more examples today that the Commission have gathered, and
12 I just want to emphasise that these, hopefully if I have time, I am going to cover three,

13 Ms Spclman is going to cover onc, which arc a very small numbcer of the cxamplcs that

14 have come to our attention.

15 So the first example [ want to talk to you about is a case that was referred to in

16 Detective Kirby's brief of evidence and that is where a survivor, a Deaf survivor who

17 attended a residential Deaf School as a child,-- he attended the residential Deaf School as a
18 child; as an adult hc went with a group of othcr Dcaf former pupils to the Policc in 2008 to
19 open up a convcrsation about allegations about a tcachcr at the school.

20 So wc have to be carcful not to name namcs, but I just want to check with you you
21 undcrstand which case I'm talking about?

22 MR COSTER: Ycs, Ido.
23 MS BASIRE: Thank you. So in 2008 this survivor went with four other people to the Police and

24 we have a job sheet, which is for the Crown and transcript purposes, NZP0049063. For
25 ease | will just paraphrase some information in the job sheet.
26 This was a detective who herself had learned sign language.

27 MR COSTER: A constable, correct.
28 MS BASIRE: Ycs, you're right it was a constable in Hendcrson, and it was through her

29 engagement with the Deaf community that these people came forward. And so, I'm going
30 to ask you a number of questions about this investigation, but would you agree the very fact
31 that it was that point of contact that these people came forward that it is important for the
32 Police to have outreach to, for example, disabled communities?

33 MR COSTER: Yeah, certainly, and | think it was impressive in this case that an of ficer had taken

34 it on herself to learn sign languagc, recognising the nced in her arca. And it's an arca wherc
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we've identified the need for ongoing improvement despite improvements made more
recently.

MS BASIRE: Right. So, she had amccting with these five people, and I understand there was an
interpreter also present, and they raised allcgations of abusc during their school ycars, and
they told her to datc there was at Icast 88 Deaf pcople wanting to make a complaint about
this person, who I'll call Person A, and that a list was being collated of those people and in
this written job sheet she says:

"The complainants are very emotional about this issue, very passionate about
retribution and are ready to speak out about this injustice.”

Attachcd to the job sheet which we got, datcd 2008, is a typcd-up list of about 30
individual people's namcs, the years they would have been at the Deaf School and where in
the country or overscas they werc believed to be residing. Howcever, after that, nothing
happcned, did it, therc was no investigation in 20087

MR COSTER: That's correct, | understand there was a misunderstanding about next steps in
terms of where the initiative sat for what would happen next and that the officer's belief
was that there was a larger list of names to come, and beyond that it was not followed up,
which clearly is a miss on our part.

MS BASIRE: So, you would accept that that was a failing?

MR COSTER: Yecs.

MS BASIRE: And it's a fairly recent failing isn't it, bccausc 2008 is only Icss than 1S ycars ago.

MR COSTER: It is fairly rccent. What happencd also around that timec was a very significant
look into Police's handling of child abusc and scxual abusc cascs within thc Wairarapa arca,
which led to very significant national reflection on Police's protocols, practices, policies,
around the handling of complaints of this kind. That led to the establishment of
additional, - to dedicated investigative groups for particular kinds- of offending, and a
much greater monitoring and awareness of cases of this nature.

So whilst it is relatively recent, it preceded what 1 would describe as the most
significant shift in rccent memory of Police's practices in responding to cascs of this naturc.

CHAIR: Was that as a result of this case or it just happcned to be coincidental?

MR COSTER: Coincidental. So, in connection, or around the time of the Commission of Inquiry
into Police Conduct a related issue was concern about Police practices and to some extent
attitudes in relation to, particularly, sexual assault and it was around that time that it was

identified a massive backlog of cases of this nature in the Wairarapa, which led to a broader
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1 national look. And so, we now have quality assurance frameworks, dedicated investigators,
2 ongoing national monitoring of child protcction and adult scxual assault cascs.

3 MS BASIRE: In what year would you say that things improved?

4 MR COSTER: The look into all of thosc matters in thc Wairarapa was around 2010 as I rccall it,

5 and sincc, -off the back of that we have had an ongoing proccss of improvement. So- it

6 started immediately and quite intensively in the, let's say, few years around the time of

7 where you're talking about, and then has continued through the course of the decade that's
] followed.

®  MS BASIRE: In this case nothing happened in 2008, but in 2010 this survivor with another group

10 of Deaf people, and I'm not surc whethcr they're cxactly the same group or a widcr group,
11 met with the, or went through the Confidential Listening Scrvice process, and they outlined
2 that they had spokcn to a constable from Auckland and nothing had happened, and so

13 again, the Confidcntial Listcning Assistance Scrvice sent through a Policce referral to the

14 same Police Station in 2010, two years later. It sat for over, almost two years four months
15 before it was assigned for somebody to do something about.

16 Would you agree with that from the documents?

17 MR COSTER: I'm not going to dispute the detail of that, I'm not across the fine detail, but

18 certainly would acknowledge that's an unacccptable dclay.

19 MS BASIRE: And just for the record, that's NZP0041742.

20 So, you agrcce it's an unacceptable delay. What I want to talk to you about now is
21 what actually happened when it was "investigated", and I've actually raised my hands and
22 indicated "investigated" with inverted commas, because I'd like to know what your opinion
23 is on the level of investigation that actually occurred.

24 So, I'm going to discuss what then happened in 2012 reliant on a job sheet which is
25 NZP0041743. This was an acting detective sergeant,- no, it was a detective constable who
26 appears to have been given the task of investigating. He is assigned the file, he's told it's an
27 historic filc from 35 years ago and involved a- and --I'm quoting this from the job shcct:

28 "A minor assault on students by a tcacher, it's becen around quite a few people but
29 had not been finaliscd.”

30 Then the police constable outlines the steps that he goes through and the first step
31 he went to was talking to a woman who was a lawyer advocate for three of the students

32 who'd come forward. He then phoned the school that the teacher was currently teaching at
33 and he leaves a message to find out who he should talk to and without ever meeting the

34 complainants or taking a statcment or cvidential intcrvicw from them, he rings the tcacher



TRN0000628_0059

151

| involved and advises him of'the allegations. He then rings the lawyer involved and tells her
2 the threshold to proceed to trial would not be reached.

3 Now, there's a number of things that happen after that, but I just want to discuss,

4 would you call that an adcquate investigation on any level?

5 MR COSTER: My understanding is the investigation filc for this casc was not availablc becausc

6 it was destroyed in line with our normal destruction authority. So I'm a little

7 uncomfortable, based on what I have to hand in front of me right here, about relying on a

8 single job sheet to characterise everything that occurred in the context of that investigation.
’ I think that's a bit unsafe unless I'm misunderstanding the situation.

16  MSBASIRE: Well, the survivor who's given a statcment to us who went to the police station and

11 met the constablc who communicated with him via sign languagc and then went to the

12 Confidential Listening Service has never been evidentially interviewed by the Police, he's
13 ncver given a statcment to the Police, the Police have never been to sce him. You arc

14 correct that whatever was on the investigation file, if there was one, is no longer available
15 because the Police have destroyed it and 1 want to talk to you a little bit about that later; but
16 it seems clear from the job sheet that, and a report form, --what we'll do is just put the job
17 sheet, which is NZP0041743, up on the screens.

18  CHAIR: And for the information of those watching, apologics but you won't be seeing this, so
19 Ms Basire, any parts that arc rclcvant if you could rcad them out.

26  MSBASIRE: Yecs.

21  CHAIR: Thank you.

22 MSBASIRE: So that s the job sheet. So:

23 "25 June 2012, I receive a file from the acting Detective Sergeant, I'm advised it's
24 an historical file from 35 years ago and involved a minor assault on students by a teacher,
25 it's been around a few people, has not yet been finalised."

26 Can you see that first part?

27 MR COSTER: Yecs.
28  MS BASIRE: Ncxt, the first thing he does on that day is ring the lawycr advocatc, spcak about

29 prcevious emails and dcalings she had with other police officers, and he reiterates to her that:
30 "Given the nature of the offences and the historic nature may not reach the court's

31 evidential sufficiency test, and there's issues about what might be illegal now not

32 necessarily illegal back then".

33 She confirms she's realistic about the expectations and she's advised the

34 complainants.
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1 But you will see in this job sheet there is no indication that he ever speaks to the

2 complainants?

3 MR COSTER: Certainly not on what's in front of us, ycah.

4  MSBASIRE: And then if we can have a look at document NZP0041744, and Toni, if that could

5 bc put up on screen.

6 So, this is a report form which, for those not in the know, is something that is a
i summary of an issue that one police officer is seeking approval, to be fair, from a senior
] police officer; is that a fair way of summarising that document?

’ I can see you are nodding.

10 MR COSTER: Yecs.
11 MS BASIRE: So, in this report form, the constable has introduced to his senior the file, he's said

12 that the complaint originally surfaced in 2008 when members of the Deaf community

13 approachced the constablc, and this is wherc there scems a conflict in the cvidence that the
14 Police's understanding was that group of people would appoint a spokesperson about

15 whether they wanted to proceed with the complaint. He then outlines:

16 "The complainants did not get back to the Police but some two years later made

17 contact via a lawyer from Auckland Disability Law as per the attached e-mails on this file."
18 I know you say that you're uncomfortable without secing the investigation file, but
19 it would indicatc in conjunction with that job sheet that it's thc c-mails on thc filc from the
20 lawyecr that is the basis of thc information.

2 MR COSTER: It appears to be.

22 MS BASIRE: And what we know from the later statement that we got from that survivor is that
23 what is summarised under his name is a minimisation of what he's told us.

24 MR COSTER: Sorry, may I just see the next page of that report?

25 MS BASIRE: Yes, yeah, sorry | forgot you can't scroll yourself. So the next page, so we're

26 talking about the person at the top of that page.

27 ~ CHAIR: Ithink it's worth telling the world that it outlines the allegations made by three of the
28 survivors at least. Is this the end of the,- is it just, -the- three- complainants?

29 MSBASIRE: Ycs. And then if we just go to the next page, pagce 3, again it's difticult becausc it
30 says "as part of the Police investigation the following was completed” and there's a list of
31 things that have happened but there's no indication of speaking to the complainants.

32 MR COSTER: Maybe to cut to the chase, certainly it would be normal and expected practice
33 today that if you're going to make a decision on a case that you'll have interviewed the

34 victim by an appropriate mcans and had thc opportunity to asscss what cvidence they would
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give. On the face of it that hasn't occurred here and they've relied on the account from a
lawycr acting on behalf of those complainants for the naturc of the behaviour concerned
and they've described it, accepting that there appears to be a gap between the victim's
account of that behaviour and what's described in this report, and on the face of it have
made the dccision based on an asscssment of how corporal punishment might play into a
prosecution, or the evidential sufficiency for a prosecution in this case, to decide that the
matter is able to go no further.

It doesn't reflect the kind of depth we would expect to see in an investigation of this
kind, and which 1 believe we would see in an investigation of this kind today, particularly
because of the greater awareness that has come around mass allcgation mattcrs, as a result
of the Icarnings from our work on child protection and adult scxual assault cascs sincc
around this time.

So hopefully that's a helpful reflcction.

MS BASIRE: Yes, because bearing in mind the first complaint was that up to 80 people wanted
to speak to the Police about this, this was not a minor issue.

The mass investigation policy that you have, when did you implement that policy?

MR COSTER: I would have to go back, but it's certainly been in the last decade that that's really
come into what I would describe as a solid practice.

MS BASIRE: IthinkI undcrstand it was 2017.

MR COSTER: That sounds about right.

MS BASIRE: Why did it take until 2017 for the Police to develop a policy when large groups of
pcople come to complain?

MR COSTER: 1 can't speak to the genesis of that with great confidence, 1 think we could provide
more context around what led to that. Obviously, this remains a really difficult area.
Knowing when to approach potential victims in a way that doesn't retraumatise, doesn't
contaminate evidence but does ensure that where there are potential for mass allegations
that the scale of thosc can be understood is an art not a scicnce and I think it's an arca where
we will continuc to Icarn, and the practice now I think is much better in tcrms of sctting up
0800 numbers, engaging with the institutions concerned and requesting them to provide a
standard communication out across people who might be affiected to enable them to be
aware that an investigation may occur.

I know we are doing that much better now, but 1 think that continues to evolve.

MS BASIRE: Because the failures that you've acknowledged with Lake Alice pre-dated this,
didn't it?
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1 MR COSTER: Yes. Yes, it did.

2 MS BASIRE: I am not quite surc,-- so herc we have again in 2012 an inadcquatc invcestigation
3 into what could havc been far greater, but we don't know becausc the Police to date still
4 hasn't investigated.

5 MR COSTER: I think wc'd say it was contemporancous with thc Lakc Alicc practicc becausc,
6 you know, the sort of insight about Lake Alice has been really much more recent in terms
7 of getting that investigation to the right place.

8 CHAIR: Can I just ask, make an observation and really ask a question, Commissioner.

’ ] appreciate your remarks about how difficult and how sensitive it is to approach
10 complainants in mattcrs likc this, particularly on a mass scalc, and you've rcferred to the
11 fact that you don't want to subjcct them to re-traumatisation. Can | just sharc this with you,
12 that from all of thc hundreds of survivors to whom wc havce spoken, both personally and in
13 thc contcxt of these hearings, onc of their great complaints is the fact that they arc

14 traumatised by no action being taken at all.

15 MR COSTER: Absolutely, yeah.

16  CHAIR: And | wanted to make sure you understood that perspective.

17 MR COSTER: I'm fully cognisant of that and absolutely accept that.

18  CHAIR: Thankyou.

19  MSBASIRE: Just beforc I Icave this cxample, it did highlight two issucs. Onc is that it appcars

20 that onc of thc reasons this filc was investigated this way was because the complainants
21 were Dcaf. That is that it was much casicr to phonc thc person who said they werc their
22 spokesperson than to speak to the complainants themselves. Would you agree that

23 historically there hasn't been enough support available for police officers, first of all, to

24 communicate with Deaf people?

25 MR COSTER: Yes, yeah, [ would agree with that.

26 MS BASIRE: And that's been a barrier?

27 MR COSTER: Yecs.

28 MS BASIRE: The sccond point that this raises is that thc policc officer involved did make some

29 investigations with the school that the Person A was still tcaching at. Hc has put in his
30 report that the teachers that he spoke to about this teacher said that they hadn't had any
31 recent complaints about him and thought he was quite good, basically. But there was no
32 follow-up, apart from speaking to this person's peers and interviewing Person A, with the

33 children of that school to see if the children in that school were currently safe.
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1 By that 1 mean in some of your NTPs you've talked about school community
2 officers, I think thcy arc, where you can assign a policc officer to work with a school and
3 they can do some cducation programmes so you can bc surc that the best possible chance of
4 children raising allcgations is availablc becausc they're awarc of that pathway.
5 One of the issucs from this complainant, a survivor in carc, is that had hc been
6 talked to and had his fellow students been talked to, the Police would have become aware
7 of the climate of fear that operated in the school when they were children, such that they
] didn't speak out against that teacher. So what is your comment about assessing whether
’ something's currently happening just by speaking to adults in a school?

10 MR COSTER: Certainly, I would think our practicc would be diffcrent today, at Icast in tcrms of

11 our ability to rcach morc effectivcly into the school community. Onc of thc complcxitics
12 around -- onc of the factors it scems to mc in this casc would have been that the offending
13 concerned dated back to a period where corporal punishment was permitted and accepting
14 that the behaviours here appear to go well beyond that, whether it would be seen as

15 analogous to, | suppose, explore with students in the school at the time this was being

16 looked at, expecting to find anything going on, in other words the behaviour at this time

17 would have been visible to other teachers, and possibly accepted as, well, that's what

18 corporal punishment entails, versus the cnvironment that he was tcaching in at the time this
19 was lookcd at.

20 So I can't spcak for the staff concerned and their decision-making, but if we had

21 allegations of assault today where corporal punishment isn't even potentially available as an
22 excusc, I think the posture is going to be quite different and I would have much morc

23 confidence that we would get this right.

24 That said, whether it's -the judgment about whether to open up- a path of inquiry in
25 respect of a specific teacher, you need a strong evidential base to do that to be justified in
26 creating that conversation in a particular environment, particularly if it's a different

2 environment from wherc concerns first arosc. So thosc arc judgment calls, it's not clcar-cut
28 that you would always go down that path. So at lcast as a starting point, cngagement with
29 staff and thosc responsiblc at a school is a rcasonablc starting point, whether it gocs far

30 enough [ think is the question.

31 MS BASIRE: Yes, and | do think that this particular investigation got side-tracked by the
32 corporal punishment question because, as you say, even you just glancing at those

33 documents, you can see what's alleged is way beyond corporal punishment.
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| MR COSTER: It feels to me that it should be, but 1 don't have a good,-- and corporal punishment

2 was gonc by the time I was at sccondary school, I just don't have a gauge on what was
3 accepted under the banner of that, but when I read the description of it, it sounded
4 unpleasant, so I honestly don't know what thc norms werc.

5 MS BASIRE: Another point which you have touched on is discrction. You can have as many

6 policies as you like, but in reality it is one or two police officers on a file, at least
7 historically, who would be the people making an assessment about whether a prosecution is
2 laid?

% MR COSTER: Yes, | mean supervisors would normally have, -even then supervisors would have

10 had oversight in thc context of an investigative unit, because when the file gocs for filing it
11 gocs to a supcervisor, as the report in front of us suggests, it went to a Detective Scnior

12 Scrgeant. So,- the review's always been there, 1 think what's stronger now, particularly in
13 the scxual assault arcna, is the cxtra layer of audit that we have over the top of it and for

14 child abuse.

15 But everything in policing, really, relies on good judgments being made and we put
16 in checks and balances, but we still need good judgments.

17 MS BASIRE: Yes, and the supervisor can only make a decision based on the information he's

18 been given, because everyone's too busy for the supervisor to read everything to check that
19 the person who's making the report to him is summarising things fairly.

26 MR COSTER: Ycah, they certainly won't reinvestigatc it, but I would have cxpcected them to

21 look at the full material on the file and formed a view bascd on what's on there.

22 MS BASIRE: The file in this case was destroyed. What is thc Police's policy on destruction of
23 records?

24 MR COSTER: [t depends on the seriousness of the offences attached to a particular case.

25 1 suspect that this one was destroyed a decade after initial creation, although [ can't say that
26 with confidence without looking specifically at it. So, we have archive policies, | can't give
27 you chaptcr and versc on thosc, but wc can certainly provide them to you.

28 MS BASIRE: Do you think that is an issuc that thc Policc destroy rccords which might be later

29 nceded to support a prosecution?

3@ MR COSTER: I think it's much less likely to occur now simply because the vast majority of what
31 we do is digital and it's much easier to keep it long-term, you know, you don't need to

32 destroy a digital record per se. Clearly it's a very different scenario when everything was

33 paper-based and you just can't store everything forever.
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| I believe our archive policies are appropriate and in line with what would be
2 considercd government best practice. It is going to be dependent, though, on the
3 scriousness of the allegations madc, beeause if it presents as a minor allcgation on a file it
4 will be subjcct to carlier destruction than if it's logged as a scrious allcgation, becausce that's

5 how thc rulcs work.
6  MS BASIRE: Okay, I'll just move on to another example which Detective Kirby looked at for us.
7 This is an investigation into a possible sexual assault on a number of non-verbal men who
] lived in the former Tokanui Hospital.
$ MR COSTER: [Nods].

10  MSBASIRE: So this dates back to carly 90s, 1992, and what happcned was a staff member in a

11 community organisation that had contact with a school that was bascd at Tokanui had

12 concerns that a scnior teacher at that school may havc been scxually abusing the residents.
13 This tcacher lived alone and was in the habit of taking non-verbal boys home at the

14 weekend with no oversight, which I think these days would be ringing alarm bells for

15 anyone, but perhaps wasn't ringing alarm bells back then.

16 It appears from the documentation that the first report of concern was made to the
17 Police on 2 November 1992 where a resident who was non-verbal but used a form of

18 communication pushing ycs/no buttons had indicatcd somcthing may have happened to him
19 at thc weekend. So he was taken to be medically cxamined and the Police werc involved.
20 It the appears the Police, in conjunction with the hospital dccided that they would
21 try and gather evidencc by allowing two furthcr boys, and I call them boys but they were
22 actually young mcn, to go to this tcacher's house over thec weekend and the plan was to take
23 a medical kit on those boys before and then after. Effectively, the boys, or the young men
24 were being used as bait to see if any oftending happened. Would you agree that that

25 practice didn't meet the standards of policing then and wouldn't meet the standards of

26 policing now?

27 MR COSTER: It certainly wouldn't meet the standards of policing now and I would be surpriscd

28 if it would havc been asscssed as a rcasonable tactic then. Putting potential victims in

29 harm's way to sccure cvidencee just is not somcthing that makcs scnsc.

30 What's a bit unclear to me is obviously the conversations that occurred at the time
31 and how it was that he was allowed ongoing access to vulnerable people, although

32 acknowledging if you can't prove what's going on that can create a very difficult chicken
33 and egg situation. But I can't condone the tactic.

34 MS BASIRE: And as you say, we don't know what the convcrsations arc but we do have --
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1 CHAIR: Just a moment, Ms Basire.
2 MR CLARKE-PARKER: I'm loathed to interrupt, it would bc helpful for both counscl and, 1
3 imagine, thc witnesscs to have the documents in front of them that arc being referred to as
4 the basis for all these factual comments.
5 CHAIR: Arc therc documents that arc rclcvant?
6 MS BASIRE: Yes, there are.
7  CHAIR: Thank you for raising that.
2 MS BASIRE: The document, which is NZP0041964, if that can be put up.
® CHAIR: Just for clarity, Commissioner, you have been advised in advance of these cases?
16 MR COSTER: Inbroadtcrms I'm awarc of them but I haven't looked at the specific report forms.
11 CHAIR: So it would be hclptul for you to see this.
12 MR COSTER: It would be helpful, thank you, yes.
13 MSBASIRE: That's the first page of the report form.
14 CHAIR: Again, the public won't see these. The reason is they contain a whole lot of personal
15 private details which can't be redacted but if you could read them out where appropriate.
16 MS BASIRE: So this report form talks about the situation that I've just outlined.
17 MR COSTER: [Nods].
18 MSBASIRE: Andifyou go to thc paragraph that starts "Subscqucntly", this appcars where

19 Police came into the picturc. The policc ofticer says:

20 "Wc werc contacted on 2 November 1992 after a resident had returned from a

21 weekend visit and he was medically examined."

22 And then the next paragraph starting "The idea":

23 "The idea was to leave things as normal but monitor the next pupils he had visit and
24 examine them prior to them going and again when they returned."

25 So on 10 November two named pupils, one was of Rarotongan descent, one appears
26 to be Pakeha, were examined after returning home from weekend visits. The police officer
27 says "I obtaincd the medical kits and forwarded them." And I also have a copy of the

28 medical kits where the police ofticer has signed them.

29 So the question, which you accepted, was that although we don't know what

30 conversations happened, this was done in conjunction with the Police, it's clear, isn't it?

31 MR COSTER: It certainly appears to be, yes, yeah. The worst position to be in, and this can
32 occur today, is where you have someone in a position of trust and authority, a suspicion that
33 something's happening but an inability to prove it. And this tactic is hard to fathom but

34 then there's also the question of the altcrnative. If you don't have the ability to sccurc
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1 evidence to displace someone from the position of trust then it can feel like a bitof a
2 stalcmate and I think in today's cnvironment institutions probably arc preparcd to take a
3 little bit more risk and tackle thesc issucs a bit morc hcad on. But that's certainly not a
4 guarantee that you'rc going to be able to resolve the situation. But at Icast in this casc,
5 presumably, the [&] could have been prevented from taking children to his home
6 and that would have mitigated the risk.
7 MS BASIRE: Yes. ]just want to talk a little bit more about what happened after that. So if we
8 can have a look at document NZP0041943, Toni.
9 This is the detective cffectively signing off on the filc because he couldn't prove
10 anything. He spokc to the suspect. The rcason I wanted to show you this is if you scc
11 midway through that paragraph therc's a linc that says:
12 "The suspect appears to be of genuine naturc and was in fact attempting to train the
13 students to live in a Community House situation rather than have them at the Tokanui
14 Hospital as permanent patients."
15 It goes on to say:
16 "However, in light of this inquiry he's reviewed that aspect, and he's not going to go
17 ahcad with it, he only takcs onc homce with him now, and hc's instigatcd a systcm of
12 medical exams before or after the visits."
19 Again, obviously, that was thc dccision of the school to allow that to go ahcad, but
20 the Police knew about it, clearly. And as things oftcn happen, in 1999 a verbal complainant
21 came to the Police and said that that very same person had sexually abused him for two
22 years prior to the time that he was in Tokanui, and he was convicted.
23 There appears on the file to have been one follow-up back to the Tokanui time and
24 without the whole file we don't know whether there was an attempt to reinvestigate the
25 Tokanui issues.
26 But this is onc of the many cxamples wc've come across where people raisc
27 concerns or suspicions, people in positions of powcr continuc to bec cmploycd, and then
28 cventually enough evidence is found, and you can sce the pattern has been there all along.
29 Would you agree?

3¢ MR COSTER: That absolutely happens, yes. 1 think the difficulty, and 1 want to be realistic that
31 this difficulty continues today, depending on how strong the suspicion is about offending,
32 whether or not it's going to be appropriate to seek to elicit a wider group of complaints from

33 pcoplc who may be the victim of abuse, and whcther we can sccurc cvidence to take it
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1 forward, that's still an uncertain thing, and unfortunately there are examples of situations
2 where complaints arc made maliciously, much less common, I would suggcst, than
3 situations where they're truthful, but it happens, and so in situations of very circumstantial
4 or, you know, suspicion but not evidencc, thc judgments arc incredibly difficult,
5 recognising the reputational impacts on pcoplc who arcn't offcnding to havce it allcged that
6 they are, and conversely, clearly, the impact on victims who are never protected because we

7 can't or don't resolve the situation.

2 MS BASIRE: Yeah, I'm going to talk to you a little bit more this afternoon about your policies

° with vulnerable adults, because this was a really difficult situation, because the
10 complainants were non-verbal and you would struggle with that situation cven today.
11 But just before wc leave this current example, Toni, if you can just put up
12 NZP0042002.
13 I undcrstand this is what we call a NIA noting, so information rccordcd on the
14 computer, Police computer database. That's about this offender, it outlines that he has
15 offended against the boy, that he ends up getting convicted of.

16 But if you scroll down you will see -on- the same page, Toni, sorry, there is a
17 noting:
18 "He is/was a keen photographcr and had taken photos of the victims and other
19 boys."
20 Now, therc's nothing on the file to indicate it, but would that have been a very
21 uscful investigation tool, the photos of the othcr boys?

22 MR COSTER: If you had grounds to scarch for them. So again, it would comc down to, in thc

23 first instance, were there sufficient grounds to get a search warrant to go to the house and,
24 of course, to get a search warrant you're not just -- you don't just need to have reasonable

25 grounds to believe an offence has occurred, you need reasonable grounds to believe that the
26 place you're going to search contains something of evidential value, it's not just a fishing

27 expedition.

28 So, without the full dctail of what was known in thc first instance, I can't say

29 whcther therc would be sufficient grounds to have obtained a scarch warrant to rccover

30 photos if anyone even knew that photos existed.

31 MS BASIRE: We must have known that photos existed because it says "he's taken photos of the
32 victim and other boys."

33 MR COSTER: We knew that in '99, 1 don't know if we knew that in '93.
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MS BASIRE: Yes. No, | wasn't suggesting that, | was suggesting that in terms of reopening then
this 1993 investigation, that although you didn't havc statcments from the boys,
photographs of him eithcr abusing the boys or the boys in compromising situation coupled
with the suspicions in 1992, you may have wcll been able to prosceute him for that
offending.

MR COSTER: Quite possibly. What we can't see on here is whether a search was conducted of
his home address and, if so, what was found. @ne possibility might be that we know photos
were there because his house was searched, so I just can't speak to that.

MS BASIRE: Yes. That's fair.

Another examplc, and this relates to, again, a tcachcr at a girls' home, this is
document number ORT 0082593, and Toni, if you could just highlight, can you scc where
the bluc pcn marks are? The paragraph that starts "Bccausc” --

CHAIR: Could you just cxplain, orient us to thc document, plcasc?

MS BASIRE: Right, so this is a letter from the acting Assistant Director to the Director-General
of the Social Work Division, Palmerston North. No, it appears to be from the Social Work
Division, Palmerston North to the Director-General of Social Welfare.

It's a letter talking about the fact that some former what they call inmates of a girls'
home havc alleged misconduct some two and a half ycars ago and then there was another
complainant that had comc forward and the issuc from the Policc point of view is what
allegcdly the chief detective told the pcople who ran the home.

Toni, the actual quotc starts with "Bccausc of the content.” I'll just rcad it out, we
have it on the screen.

So, they've taken, there's been some complaints and then they've taken another
complaint and it's been investigated by the C1B in Whanganui, and the year that we're
talking about is 1972. In the letter it says:

"Because of its content the chief detective said he was obliged to have a
considerable numbcr of the present inmates of the homce intervicwed unless our department

[ GRO-Bs :|

was willing to arrangc for the immcdiatc rcmoval. Becausce of the certain

disruptive effiects that such actions would have, the people running the children's home

gave the assurance that the M would be removed..."
Now, we're going back to the 70s, but if that is an accurate reflection of what the
Police told the people running the care home, the children's home, that's not adequate

investigation cither, is it?
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| MR COSTER: No, I don't know whether it would have met 1972 standards either, but certainly

2 today you would sec a mass investigation triggercd, we would be sccking to intervicw any
3 young people we could identify as affected, and at the same time working with Oranga

4 Tamariki around how wc ensure the protcction of childrcn who may still be vulncrablc.

5 So, yes, it's not somcthing that we would scc happcning today.

6  MS BASIRE: But it did happen in the past, didn't it?
7 MR COSTER: [ only know what you know in terms of what's in this report.
2  MS BASIRE: Yeah, but would you agree that if that's a theme that we've heard from our

L survivors about the fact that, particularly with females, they're being sexually abused in
10 these carec homcs, and that nothing was cver done about it and of ten the tcacher just moved
11 to another care home, that that's consistent with what wc scc in this document?

12 MR COSTER: Therc certainly appcars to bc somc cvidencc of that in this casc.
13 MSBASIRE: Just for complctcness, in that casc in 2006 -no-, in 2002, onc of the girls who madc

14 allegations about that teacher came forward to Police and made a statement about ongoing
15 sexual abuse when she was in that care home and the Police wrote her a letter in 2006 and
16 said that unfortunately, due to lack of corroboration there would be no prosecution.

17 MR COSTER: Yes, | understand that's the case.

18 MS BASIRE: Yes.

19 MR COSTER: Sorry, was that a qucstion, or it was confirming that that had in fact occurrcd?

20 MS BASIRE: Ycs.

21 MR COSTER: Ycs, it appearcd to be the casc. One thing just to notc on that, it looks as though,

22 well it's-- not clcar whether there was a conversation that went alongsidc that Ictter, but

23 practice today would be in addition to formal communication as that was, there would be
24 time spent with a victim talking them through the reason we have got to where we have.

25 As [ said in my opening statement, the fact that Police doesn't prosecute doesn't

26 necessarily mean Police don't believe the victim or believe that something has occurred but
27 at timcs therc is a gap between our ability to prove thosc things to the cvidential standard
28 required and the cvidence that's actually available in the casc.

29 MS BASIRE: Becausc of the time availablc we haven't been able to put all the cxamplces that
30 we've come across to you, but on behalf of your organisation, do you accept, at least in the
31 time period that the Commission's looking at, 1950 to 1999, there were widespread failures

32 to investigate abuse against children and vulnerable adults in care?
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MR COSTER: 1 certainly accept that there were failures. The piece that is really hard for me to

2 gct clcar on is how widespread they were. I'll just give you a bit of current context that

3 may be helpful with that.

4 Wc took a snapshot carlier this month of thc numbcr of cascs for both adult scxual
5 assault mattcrs and child protection mattcrs and they arc 3,000 and 6,000 cascs

6 respectively. So 9,000 current cases that, you know, are of the character of what we're

7 talking about here today. Dealing with volumes like that, despite our best efforts, we will
] still have occasions where we don't get it right.

L I'm not saying that the volume at this time was at that level, but what 1 would note is
10 we have in front of us certainly too many cascs where there have been failurcs, but not
11 enough for mc to say that thcy werc widespread or representative of all Police practice at
12 that time.

13 MSBASIRE: I'm just going to movc on to another topic. There is onc further cxample, but my

14 colleague Ms Spelman is going to talk to you about it, because it's a case she's very familiar
15 with.

16 I just want to go back to the issue that was raised by the case of the non-verbal men

17 at Tokanui Hospital. You've said in your brief of evidence that Police do not have specific

18 policies for dealing with complaints from vulnerable adults. Is that correct?

19  MRCOSTER: Ycs, in terms of, yeah, spccific policy addressing that, that is correct.
206 MS BASIRE: And]I just want to addrcss the language of "vulncrable adult". Now, "vulncrablc

21 adult" was the term that thc Commission actually used in our qucstions to you in onc of the
22 notices to produce. However, probably the better term when talking about disability, at

23 least, is "adults at risk", and this definition is drawn from the Crimes Amendment Act,

24 which was in 2011:

25 "An adult at risk is an adult who needs care and support, is experiencing or at risk of
26 experiencing harm, abuse or neglect, and because of their need for care, support, they are

27 unablc to protcct themsclves firom harm, abusc, neglect or the risk of that."

28 Would you be comfortable with that dcfinition?

29 MR COSTER: I think so. I ccrtainly don't disagrec with it and acknowlcdge it's an important

30 concept. Within Police parlance today, you often hear people talking about vulnerable
31 victims, which can take many, --can be diffierent in terms of their circumstances, but the
32 idea that the circumstances of the victim may lead to the need for a diffierent response, I'm

33 certainly open to the idea that we could create greater clarity within Police guidance about
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1 some of the different kinds of potential victims there are in this category and special
2 considerations around thcm.

3 MSBASIRE: Ycs. Well, the language is important, because particularly from a disability

4 perspective a person is not inhercntly vulnerable becausc of their disability, it is the

5 situation that society puts them in that actually makes them at risk. Do you belicve that

6 your average police officer would understand the difference between the label "vulnerable
i adult” or "adult at risk"?

2 MR COSTER: The nuance between those terms might be a bit much to expect of the average

’ officer, but if you asked an officer to describe different kind of victims that would be more
10 vulnerable and therefore might need special protection or a different responsc, I have cvery
11 confidencc that they would be able to speak to the kinds of arcas that wc're talking about.
12 So, I believe the knowledge is there, but I think there's opportunity for us to improve the
13 guidance about that to improve undcrstanding and to drive greater consistency of responsc.

14  MS BASIRE: Why is it that you don't have specific policies dealing with complaints coming
15 from adults at risk?

16 MR COSTER: I think the awareness of these issues is probably still emerging, we're in a

17 significantly better place than we were 10 or 15 years ago, predominantly, 1 would say,

18 because of the increased awareness around child protection and adult scxual assault

19 matters, but this is probably -acknowledging- there are some categories of offending that sit
20 outside of both thosc arcas, there's an opportunity to crcatc greater clarity.

21 MS BASIRE: Yes, because I mentioned this before lunch, policies around children for people

22 under 16, policics around scxual assault for adults cover all adults, but we actually havce a
23 large group of people aged 17 to 64, if we leave aside that there might be policies to do
24 with elderly, who come under this term "adults at risk." Would you agree that there is a
25 gap in your policies and procedures about abuse against that group?

26 MR COSTER: [ certainly think there's opportunity to improve. As 1 say, [ do think the level of

27 awarcness today is much better than it's been in the past, but I accept this might be an arca
28 whcre we need to take a specific look, maybe draw on the definition you've called out and
29 speak in a bit more detail to that.

38  MS BASIRE: [ just want to talk about that a little bit more, because we're not actually talking

31 about a small group of people. The statistics, and I think it's even in your disability
32 stocktake paper, show that one in four New Zealanders identify as having a disability,
33 Maori adults have higher rates of disability, sometimes quoted between 26 and 32% of

34 adults, 15% of children. Pacific peoples have higher rates also.
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1 We know in terms of mental health that higher rates of violence and abuse against
2 adults Icads to highcr ratcs of mental illness and higher ratcs of violence arc also
3 expericneed by the most marginalised groups such as Maori, Pacific, womcen, rainbow,
4 peoplc who live in residential carc scrvices, pcople who have Icss access to cducation,
5 employment and income and have incquality and acccss to housing. Would you agrce with

6 all that?
7 MR COSTER: Absolutely, and none of that's lost on us. @ne of the things that came out of

] Prevention First, which was a strategy launched in around 2010, was the idea of victim

’ focus and a system for understanding repeat victimisations, which then led to intervention
10 plans working alongside people who had been repeatedly victimiscd to try and provide
11 better support or address the underlying causes, and through that work we came to scc
12 where morc intensc victimisation was and I think our lcarning around family harm has
13 really helped us to get better insight there.

14 So all of that, I think, is pretty well-understood.

15 Areas that are more emergent | would say are foetal alcohol syndrome and the way
16 that affects the way people present, be it as offenders or victims, and we're seeing through
17 the likes of the Criminal Case Review Commission cases being looked at in respect of
18 offenders who maybc have suffercd from those less obvious disabilitics that we nced an
19 awarcness of within policing.
20 So, I think therc arc areas where we can strengthen our policics.

21  MSBASIRE: Do you bclicve that Policc react quickly enough to information when we look at

22 thc FASD issuc, which now is appearing to bc the overwhelming issuc with offender
23 groups, that's been known about for quite a while and 1 understand that you're only just
24 starting to look at policies around FASD?

25 MR COSTER: [ thinkit's a good question. We willtend to move pretty consistently in pace with

26 where community is at in terms of understanding of these issues. We do try to outperform
27 thc community, we've got an cvidence bascd policing centre that is looking to draw insights
28 from policing around the world and bring thosc in for application within our contcxt. But
29 we don't have a massive infrastructurc ablc to set up to monitor scicnec, hcalth, social

30 issues and be able to magically get us in front of the general awareness that sits inside of

31 community of these issues.

32 So I'm not making an excuse, I'm just observing that Police is forward leaning but
33 there are reasonable limits to how far ahead of scientific insight and general community

34 convcersation we can gct.
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| MS BASIRE: And that's perhaps a discussion that we need to have a look at in terms of future,

2 but rcally this is about partncring with the pcoplc who do understand these things,

3 particularly with disability, and you've talked about intcrnational rescarch -- intcrnational

4 research, and I'm just talking here from a human rights paper that was published in 2021,

5 that international rcsearch says that over 90% of disabled participants in somc intcrnational
6 studies are disclosing physical, sexual, emotional and coercive violence against them, and if
7 one in four New Zealanders identify as disabled, this is a large issue.

] I just want to pull back on, --you've said quite often about family violence, but the

’ point [ want to make about adults at risk is that there is still a large risk factor with them in
10 carc scttings, becausc by thceir very nccessity they live in some sort of residential carce
11 home. We might have closed the psychopaedic hospitals, but they're still in residential care
2 and that raises a huge risk factor for them.
13 In terms of the Police's forward thinking, arc you awarc of the pilot programmc that
14 was done in 2016, 2017 at the Waitemata Police Station in DHB called Safeguarding

15 Adults From Abuse.

16 MR COSTER: No, not specifically.
17 MS BASIRE: Right, I'm sorry, this document didn't seem to make its way into the bundle but as it

18 was one of yours I thought you might know a bit about it.

19 But this is a pilot programme where they very much tried to partner betwecen the
20 Police and DHB to help vulnerable adults and they acknowledge that some of the family
21 harm violcnee policics weren't available to adults at risk, and in tcrms of --

22 CHAIR: Ms Basire, I wondecr,-- I think wc should afford thc Commissioncr the courtcsy of

23 showing him the document.

24 MS BASIRE: Sorry.

25  CHAIR: 1don't know if you have an unmarked version. That one seems to be peppered with

26 sticky notes. Would you like to have a look at it?

27 MR COSTER: I'm certainly happy to take a look if that's helpful, yeah. Obviously, I'll be limited
28 to what I can say without it but --

29 CHAIR: Yes, becauscI don't think you've --

3@ MR COSTER: I can speak in general terms to this if it's helpful. If you think about the vast array

31 of issues that can land with Police from family harm to mental health, to drug abuse, to
32 youth offending, to gangs, we do our level best to work in partnership to improve our
33 practice across all of these areas, and we have literally hundreds, probably thousands of sort

34 of partnership style rclationships operating around the country on diff crent issucs.
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| Our practice has tended to be, as a partnership that's come in a particular place as a
2 result of some good initiative starts to bear fruit to try and sharc it and then ultimatcly turn
3 it into national policy. But wc could havc a university of pcoplc working alongsidc the

4 Police trying to capturc that and turn it into policy and wc probably still wouldn't stay on

5 top of it all. And so clcarly this is an arca where there is some opportunity to takc Icarnings
6 like the one you have in front of you there and bring them through into national policy.

i One of the real challenges for policing is as we get these multiplicity of issues, how
] much do we expect generalists to have their head across them versus creating specialist

’ groups. We're a big organisation, but we're also over many locations and running 24/7 and
10 it's a constant tension between fragmenting our workforce to get pcople with the right
11 expertise to dcal with particular areas of intcrest, versus cquipping the frontlinc to be able
12 to know enough about what they might confront to be able to respond appropriately to it.
13 And we're trying to gct our systems, particularly on our mobility devices, to provide
14 our people with the reference material they need to know in the moment what's required.
15 But it's a constant challenge for us to have them sufficiently expert across the massive

16 range of issues that are relevant to policing.

17 MS BASIRE: And that's probably the reason why 1 raise this pilot, and I can get you a copy in the

18 brecak, I won't ask you spccific questions about the pilot. Howcver, you would, from what
19 you've said, agrcc with me that in order to keep people in carc, which is our corc group that
20 we're talking about, safe, that Police need to partner with other agencics, because you can't
2i be an expert in everything. Would you agree?

22 MR COSTER: I think that's right. Therc'd bc a question for all of Government about what is the

23 best way to bring knowledge, insights and partnership into all of the agencies that touch this
24 space, because we could all try and partner with all of the organisations working in this
25 area, or we could have a Government approach that enables us to share those learnings

26 across agencies.

27 I'm not at the point of being able to say what exactly the solution is, but certainly
28 I've called out three prioritics for my time as Commissioncr, onc of them is focuscd

29 prevention through partnerships and it's really the idea that prevention is core to our

30 business, Police needs to focus on the things that it can do to keep communities safe and
31 prevent crime and harm, and then for the balance of what needs to be done we need to

32 partner.

33 But clearly there are many more agencies that we could partner with than we have

34 pcoplc to do the partnering, and so that is our balancing act in all of thesc things.



TRN0000628_0076

168

1 MS BASIRE: Yes, because for adults in care we don't have an equivalent of Oranga Tamariki, do
2 we?

3 MR COSTER: No, I think that's fair.

4  MS BASIRE: Just bricfly on that point, now you've acknowlcdged in your bricf of cvidence that
5 there are gaps particularly with disabled adults and Police's engagement and working with
6 disabled victims.

7 MR COSTER: Yeah, 1 don't know about engagement, 1 think I've referred to opportunity to

] improve our policies to ensure that we are responding appropriately to that victim group.

9 MS BASIRE: You've referred and some of the NTPs have referred to the fact that when an adult

10 at risk or a disabled adult is being interviewced the Police do have the opportunity to usc the
11 specialist child witncss interview staff and format. Thc information you gave us was that
12 thosc interviewers howcever, their training on disability is just a vidco. I'm not surc, you'rc
13 probably not across that final detail --

14 MR COSTER: [ am not quite at that level of detail, but I accept their primary skill set is aimed
15 more into child victims.

16 ~ MS BASIRE: So there is an opportunity, whether it is those people who are trained or you bring

17 in people from outside who are trained, but you would agree it would be very difficult for
18 onc intcrvicwing officer to be right across all the various mental hecalth impairments and
19 disabilitics that a person could prescnt with and adcquatcly intcrvicw them to get the best
20 cvidence possible?

21 MR COSTER: Absolutcly. Onc thing we are doing as a conscquence of our disability stocktake

22 is aiming to improve access to, for example, sign language interpreters and some of those
23 arguably easier things to achieve in this space. Getting into the expertise to deal with

24 witnesses or victims who have other disabilities is obviously complex and it's not clear to
25 me that there is a workforce available out there with that expertise to come in and be part of
26 a Police interviewing process, I'm just not sure if that capability yet exists.

27 MS BASIRE: Ycs. The Tokanui cxamplc where the survivor communicated by pushing ycs or
28 no, that would be a major challenge for a spccialist child intervicwer, wouldn't it?

29 MR COSTER: Ycs, it would, and I think cven more so it would be a major challenge to get to a

30 standard of evidential sufficiency to prosecute without an expert witness able to reassure
31 the court that the evidence obtained by that method was reliable with an understanding of
32 the victim's disabilities. That will always be a real challenge when we are dealing with

33 victims who have disability.
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1 MS BASIRE: Yes. In terms of record-keeping what's called augmented and alternative

2 communication, such as using some sort of dcvicc, arc rccords kept by the Police of how

3 oftcn those sorts of communication are uscd with victims?

4 MR COSTER: Notto my knowlcdge.

5 MSBASIRE: You touchcd on the issue of credibility. You would agree that before a prosccution

6 goes forward, either the prosecutor or the officer in charge or the supervisor makes their
7 assessment pursuant to the Solicitor-General guidelines, and one of the issues they look at
] is the reasonable prospect of conviction.

L MR COSTER: Yes.
16  MS BASIRE: And credibility throughout the years with our cohort group has been problematic,
11 would you agrec?
12 MR COSTER: I suspcct for most that's truc.
13 MS BASIRE: Yecah, so we're saying that in the past, and the example that Ms Spelman is going to

14 talk about very shortly, is where a female was considered not credible because at 12 she
15 was considered promiscuous, when her father was sexually abusing her, that wouldn't be
16 considered today as a credibility issue, but issues to do with augmented and alternative
17 communication would still be highly controversial today?

18 MR COSTER: Ycah, I think I'd usc a diffcrent tcrm than "credibility” and I would talk about

19 "rcliability”. So where an alternative method of -- an alternative mcthod of communication
20 is being used in a court with which the court is not familiar and with which thc court

2i doesn't understand the mental capability of the person using the device, I'm certain the court
22 would need someone to stand up and say, "I've been working with this person; bascd on my
23 experience, my training, | believe this person is able to communicate reliably through this
24 device" and that then might get you through the starting gate.

25 But the sad reality is that even for entirely able victims, achieving a successful

26 prosecution for, say, a matter of historic sexual abuse is very difficult, because of the

27 challenges of corroborating witness account.

28 So I don't want to sound pessimistic but I want to be rcalistic that the criminal law
29 sets a high bar for conviction and all of these things represent real challenges to reaching

30 that high bar.

31 MS BASIRE: There's no longer a requirement for corroboration. Why is it that the Police still
32 feel they need to find corroboration before a case will go ahead?
33 MR COSTER: [ didn't say that, what I'm saying is we will always look for corroboration, in the

34 absence of'it, then we are rcliant on the testimony of the victim and whatcver cvidencc is
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brought by the defence, and that is a matter that will be relevant to the likelihood of
sccuring conviction, depending on all the circumstances, including the naturc of the account
we've been ablc to achieve from the victim.

Wherc these matters arc for serious offending and line calls then we will, as a matter
of common practicc, engage with Crown solicitors to makc that asscssment.

So this isn't just a Police decision, we will go to the people who will need to be able
to bring the case before the court to present the evidence, to check our own view, and it's
not uncommon for us to then go for another opinion if we're still not happy with where that
assessment has landed.

MS BASIRE: Just bricfly on that, in the Marylands investigation there were some complaints that
didn't go ahcad duc to that assessment that people had Icarning difficultics that mcant they
were vulnerable to cross-examination-. Now, wc've run out of time to talk about it, but
I just wanted to flag that again these are decisions, judgment calls that have to be made by
either the Police or the Crown Solicitor, there is no hard and fast rule, and that brings me
back to the point that ] made right at the start, which is the importance of understanding
people's unconscious bias about - because they bring those biases to play even if those
biases are related to disability in a paternalistic sense, "we don't want to put this poor
person with a learning disability through this situation” as opposed to supported
dccision---making wherc that disabled person makes a decision themsclves about whether
they want to be put through that situation.

But I'vc run out of time to ask you any more about that, so unlcss therc's a comment
you want to make on that, I'm just going to hand ovcr.

MR COSTER: To acknowledge it, and also to note that in a justice system where 12 people from
the public are expected to make that assessment, those biases will also play into their
decision-making potentially affecting the likelihood of a conviction.

MS BASIRE: Thank you.

CHAIR: Wcre you about to cmbark on a new arca, Ms Spelman, or is it --

MS BASIRE: It's just onc case cxamplc.

CHAIR: You'rc going to finish off that aspcct, that's finc.

MS SPELMAN: Happy to take the break if you'd like to.

CHAIR: It's up to you, how long do you think you're going to be? Don't make wild promises you
can't keep, Ms Spelman.

MS SPELMAN: I'm confident I can stick to 10 minutes.

CHAIR: Let's get that donc and then wc'll take the break.
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MR COSTER: You're just going to say yes/no answers.
2 CHAIR: No, I'd nevcr say that.
3 QUESTIONING BY MS SPELMAN CONTINUED: Yes, if the Commissioner cooperates, |

4 will be able to stick to 10 minutes.

5 My colleague has bricfly touched on it but this is the last example. The reason

6 1 want to raise it with you is to just point to some of the things that have changed since this
i example, which is from 1980.

] So, this is one of our Maori survivors who gave evidence at a previous hearing

’ about a range of things, being in care for quite some time, but the beginning of it related to
10 her being scxually abused by her father from about 8 or 9, I think you'rc familiar with the --

11 MRCOSTER: Broadly.
12 MS SPELMAN: So, if we could bring up on the scrcen document WITN 0267004 - sorty-, 7020,

13 my mistake.

14 So we're looking at a Police report form and we can see that it's dated, on the next
15 page, in 1980. It's a few pages long, so 1980 and then through to 1981. So if we could just
16 go to page 4 of that document. And you don't need to read the whole thing but that's just
17 for your context.

18 So interms of these allcgations that were madc by this survivor and there was

19 also - her sister was also spoken to, therc's just some comments in here which -arc -perhaps
20 stick out to us reading it from a 2022 Icns. So- I just want to rcad you a couplc of passagcs
21 for you to comment on. Thc first one:

22 "Difficulties arosc in this inquiry becausc nonc of thc allcgations wcre recent and
23 there was no corroboration of the statement by the sister."

24 Moving further down, there's discussion about other inquiries that were done in

25 relation to the suspect and a suspicion around him attempting or having possibly have had
26 some other sexual, -some other incidences of sexual intercourse with other friends of these
27 sisters, these girls being in the 12 and 13- year- -old age bracket.

28 And then the comment just in that last paragraph:

29 "Again, these allcgations cannot be corroboratcd and nonc arc reeent. Also, the

30 girls themselves are of a promiscuous temperament and all have had intercourse prior to the
31 incidences with this person."

32 So we are going back some way, to 1980. What's your comment on the kind of

33 language that's being used in this report?
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MR COSTER: Clearly that wouldn't even be relevant in today's circumstances. I think there's a
pretty good understanding that sexualiscd behaviour can comc as a conscquence of being
scxually abused. So that today would be complctcly unacceptablc.

In terms of attitudcs at the time, I can't say whcther that reflected a bias that cxisted
generally in community, or whether it was something that was a fcaturc of the Police
mindset, but clearly you would not expect to see something like that today.

MS SPELMAN: Just at the top of the next page there's a comment about "none have made recent
complaints to either their parents or anyone else" and that also seems to be seen as a barrier
in this case. But Police would take a different position on that today?

MR COSTER: [ think therc's a good understanding, particularly in tcrms of child protcction and
scxual assault, that there arc lots of reasons why pcople don't comc forward to a particular
person or come forward at all in tcrms of offcnding or victimisation and that it may takc
somc ycars and that that is not in itself a rcflection of a lack of credibility. So that is, I
think, well understood and I would like to think has been well understood for some time.

MS SPELMAN: And these days Police routinely call counterintuitive expert evidence to
comment on these various issues when they come up?

MR COSTER: Yes.

MS SPELMAN: Without rushing, but just moving a bit further down the page to the paragraph
that begins "It was previously stated." This is, I suppose, the conclusion of this particular
Detective Sergeant about what's to happen and he says:

"In my own mind, I fccl that he has committed the offencces, but the girls he has
committed them on would not makce good witncsscs, character wisc, and therc is nothing to
corroborate their statements."

So for this particular survivor, when they gave evidence before the Commission
about this, it was only prior to that hearing that they had had those documents shown to
them, that was the first time they'd seen themselves described in that way, and their
response, as you can imagine and you may well have scen it at the time, was very
emotional, it was cxtremely upsctting for them to hear themsclves as a 12 ycar old be
described in those terms, and that particular survivor said, and this is, sorry, looking at the
transcript of evidence, which is TRN 0000319, which we don't need to bring up, but just for
your reference, that:

"He" --being this detective- "that he's a detective that knows and believes that, but
still nothing. And again, making us like we're not the victims, anything that we've been

saying from day fuck'n 1 is just, what, ignorcd or thcy don't fuck'n read it, what is it?
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1 Things could have been so different, like 1 read that and I'm just like we would have made
2 good witncsses- character wise. And there was nothing to corroboratc the statcments?
3 Only that we'd been telling the story over and over again and speaking on deaf cars."
4 And appreciate, again, you weren't the police officers involved, but as the head of
5 Police now, what's your comment in rclation not just to this survivor, but pcrhaps othcrs
6 who had similar experiences, how could this have happened?

7 MR COSTER: Yeah, I completely understand and sympathise with that response from that

] survivor, and, you know, the language used in this report and that way of describing victims
’ is not appropriate today, 1 can't say where that sat in terms of ways of working at the time,
10 and whcre you have more than onc person make a complaint, clcarly that adds to the weight

11 of what was being put forward.

12 There's onc thing that I think it is important to notc as a currcnt constraint, which is
13 we still have cascs today where witnesscs are believed but for recasons of cvidential

14 sufficiency matters do not proceed to prosecution.

15 Now, | don't think that that would be -that that would happen in a case like this

16 today, but there are still cases where that can occur. And, you know, as 1've alluded to,

17 there is a gap between what can be brought to criminal trial and where Police's own

18 asscssment of matters might sit. So,- to acknowlcdge that, but also to complctcly

19 undcrstand where that survivor is coming from.

20 MS SPELMAN: Thank you for that.

21 Just in this particular examplc, things did in fact unfortunatcly continuc for this

22 survivor who, about a ycar latcr, madc a furthcr complaint that her father was forcing her to
23 have sexual intercourse with him and she complained a number of other times and nine

24 years later, in 1989, we can then see on document WITN 0267019, on page 2, that the

25 Police case was reopened and there was an investigation and the offender did in fact plead
26 guilty, and guilty pleas were entered in the High Court to ten charges of incest, five charges
27 of indecent assault, and one charge of attempting to dissuade a witness, this particular

28 survivor, from giving cvidence.

29 So, you can imagine again for this particular survivor who had to endure further

30 years of what happened to her before there was action.

31 MR COSTER: Yeah, another point | should just make is certainly in today's context where there's
32 ongoing risk to a victim, that is going to be a factor that weighs more heavily towards

33 prosecution than something where that risk no longer exists. So that is another thing that in
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1 this case ought to have pointed to prosecution, 1 would have thought, without having
2 personally examined all the cvidencc on the file.

3  MS SPELMAN: Sure. SoIsuppose the things that have changed that you're referred to such as

4 now having specialist interviews and counterintuitive evidence and previous sexual

5 expericnee being dealt with differently these days, thosc things of coursc arc all

6 improvements but unfortunately come too late for not just these particular survivors but
7 others like them.

] MR COSTER: [Nods].
® MS SPELMAN: One other aspect that the survivor noted when they gave their evidence was that

10 at the point their fathcr was charged and plcaded guilty, that shc wasn't contacted by Police
11 or any of thc other agencies to talk about why it had takcn so long or to officr any sort of

12 apology for thcir expericnce; what's your position in tcrms of Policc making amends for

13 some of the failings that we've spoken about today?

14 MR COSTER: I can say that in a general sense today where things go wrong we're generally

15 pretty good at fronting up on those issues. Obviously I can't speak to all of the

16 circumstances of the case in front of us but, you know, our posture today is one of learning,
17 and aiming to continually improve, and [ think that's reflected in the pace of change in the
18 organisation in the last 10 to 20 years compared to the period preceding that.

19  MS SPELMAN: Ithink that's exactly 10 minutcs so I better stop.

26 CHAIR: Wcll donc. Ycs, youwerc about to be penaliscd but you just avoided it. Lct's takc a 15
21 minute ad journment and then wc'll return for the final scssion, thank you.

22 Adjournment from 3.36 pm to 3.52 pm

23 CHAIR: Téna koe ano, Ms Spelman.

24  MS SPELMAN: Téna koe.

25 Téna kdrua. Commissioner, just in relation to the document that Ms Basire was

26 referring to before, [ understand a copy of that has now been provided by e-mail, and in

27 order to give you a chance to look at that properly wc'll follow up with some written

28 questions following this hcaring in rclation to that.

29 I'd like to move now to looking morc towards the futurc for Policc in rclation to

30 these topics, and 1 wanted to start with something that you've spoken about a couple of

31 times today, which is, 1 suppose, the expanded role of Police in the last 20 to 30 years or so.
32 And in particular you've made a couple of comments today about things like mental health

33 call-outs, I think you said Police don't choose who presents with a mental health issue, or
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people who present affected by drugs and alcohol, and possibly the third area of sort of
expansion is family violcncc and rclated issucs.

Now, thosc three arcas, family violence, mental health, and drug or alcohol related
issues, they would take up a pretty large chunk of Police resource?

MR COSTER: Certainly, ycs, if you count all of thosc, there'd be few matters that our frontline
responders are dealing with that don't have at least some connection to one of those topics
and the demand is growing. To illustrate, both family harm and mental health demand on
the frontline have increased by 60% over the last five years and we know that less than
30% of all family harm is actually reported to Police, so there's massive unmet potential
demand out therc.

MS SPELMAN: So that placcs your police ofticers in a probably incrcasingly difficult position in
tcrms of the typce of skills or training that they nced to be ablc to go into thesc particular
situations.

MR COSTER: There's certainly been a growing expectation on the Police College, which Deputy
Commissioner Kura is responsible for, to deliver training covering many different topics
that the frontline need to know about. Our balancing act is to recognise they need
awareness to be able to respond appropriately to what's their role without putting them into
the place of actually being the drug counsellors, social workers, whatever it might be, and
then making sure that our systcms enable connections off to the right intcrventions.

An cxample of wherc we've rcally moved forward on that recently is with an
initiative called awhi which, using an application on thc ofticer's phoncs they arc able to
make a social service referral to such scrvices as might be available and relevant within
their area for a particular problem. And we're aiming to try and, 1 suppose, re-engineer our
processes more and more to link people who come to our attention to the right
interventions.

But we also need to acknowledge that there's an increasingly complex range of
issucs prescnting, particularly for young pcople in terms of their mental well-being.
CHAIR: There's another complex issue which is our stenographer, who I think might explode if

you keep going at that rate.

MR COSTER: Sorry.

CHAIR: Just remember it's getting late in the day and she has been going all day -as have our
signers. So- both of you, just please don't rush.

MS SPELMAN: Noted, thank you.
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| Deputy Commissioner, in terms of your role, [ suppose, both in charge of Police
2 College and more generally leadership and capability within the Police, what's your
3 comment on that kind of new skill sct or ncw expectations that arc rcquircd possibly

4 compared to when you began in '87?

5 MS KURA: Vast, there's such a widc range of things that our ncw constablcs nced to Icarn and

6 we're really mindful, we've actually got a review of our initial training package at the
7 moment, we're looking at: is it fit for purpose, is it keeping up with the changes in what our
8 frontline staff are seeing?
’ The things that we know we need to reinforce is the values base, the values are -the
10 organisational values, bringing humanity to all of our interactions, laying a really
11 good- foundation with our rceruits at the college, sctting a good sort of a scene and basc for
12 them to then continue to learn on.
13 So if I look at you have 16 weeks at the Police College where you're Icarning a lot
14 of information, [ think there's more than 200 topics in their first 16 weeks that they're
15 currently learning and then we look at a workplace assessment programme on top of that
16 over the next two years that builds on all of the foundation skills that they've learned at the
17 college and then as they learn in the workplace, and it's a hard environment for them to
18 Icarn in, because they could be, as we had somce recruits straight from Police College into
19 the protests at Parliament, and so it's quitc a dynamic cnvironment that somc of them Icarn
20 in. It's not a gradual situation.

21 MS SPELMAN: And by necessity I suppose having to cover so many topics during 16 weeks the
22 typc of depth that you'd be able to go into is going to be pretty high Ievel on some of thosc
23 topics.

24  MS KURA: Yes, I think that we are really challenged with this about how everybody learns at a
25 different rate, we know we've got adult learners, --I'm mindful of the noise.

26  CHAIR: They are trying to fix the air conditioning so it's life or death for us. So if you could bear
27 the dentist like noises, we'd be gratetul. Thank you.

28  MS KURA: IfI think about the depth that we go into in all of these topics, and what's rclcvant,

29 pcoplc Icarn at diff crent rates, we've got to be mindful of somce pcople can Icarn a lot in 18
30 month and take everything in, but some people, it might take them three years, so we are
31 really cognisant for our new constables it's, you know, a steep learning curve.

32 MS SPELMAN: And | suppose one of the pressures for Police is that given the availability or
33 lack of availability of other services, sometimes Police are the only option in terms of being

34 available 24 hours a day and across the country, so thcre may well be occasions when fairly
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1 new constables are going into complex, fluid, changing mental health situations really
2 without the training that thcy would nced to be able to dcal with that appropriatcly.

3  MS KURA: Yes, I'd agree that's a really high pressurc situation for a number of them.
4 MR COSTER: We arc working with the ncw hcalth arrangements to try and achicve a greater

5 availability of the appropriate response services to support frontline Police because, as you
6 say, you know, we aren't quite the right resource to deal with people who are in mental
7 distress.

2 MS SPELMAN: Absolutely. | suppose another, for another group of people, in terms of some of

’ the historical failings that we've spoken about in this hearing, and that we know in other
10 contexts and the long history that Police havce in this country, there arc also some pcople
11 who will havc a fcar of calling Police, a mistrust, a distrust; do you accept that?

12 MS KURA: Yes.

13 MS SPELMAN: And for some people who we've heard from through this Inquiry, that rclatcs to
14 in times when they perhaps need assistance and would call the Police but the fear of having
15 their children taken away from such a phone call means that they won't call for help.

16 MR COSTER: Yeah, absolutely. One of the positive things under the banner of Te Aorerekura,

17 the new family violence strategy, is the concept of community led responses, particularly to
18 family harm, and recognising that Policc is a responsc but actually most of tcn what's

19 nccded in thesc whanau is supporting them to resolve whatever's causing the stress in their
20 cnvironment.

21 So that is moving forward, but for the timc being, Police arc still the first

22 responders.

23 MS SPELMAN: [ think you mentioned earlier, Commissioner, even more broadly than Police, it's
24 Just often that agency responses, whichever agency, that they're not going to be the right

25 responses to some of these community issues.

26 MR COSTER: Yeah, certainly some of the best responses we're seeing at the moment are coming
27 from iwi and community organisations that arc commissioncd to addrcss whanau in a morc
28 holistic way.

29 MS SPELMAN: Of coursc that docsn't take away from the Policc's obligations and work to

30 improve what work you are doing and to do that to the best of your ability.

31 MR COSTER: [Nods].

32 MS SPELMAN: But it's the probably fair to say that there are some parts of the community that

33 simply will never trust Police due to what's happened in the past.
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MR COSTER: Yeah, I'm more optimistic than that, which is we are working really hard to build

2 relationships with our diverse communities and we've made massive progress through

3 things like our Maori/Pacific/Ethnic focus forums, through our relationships with iwi. 1

4 think for us, as for other agencics, the biggest challenge is building rclationships with thosc
5 who arc disconnccted from their whakapapa, and therefore, you know, have that added

6 disadvantage and that's going to take time to address those issues.

7 MS SPELMAN: [ think another problem that we can see in addition to perhaps those more

] general trust issues, is the tension that exists for Police going into a situation which may

L have many facets, one of which is there may be criminal offences, but actually if the reason
10 Police arc called in the first place is a mental health distress situation, of coursc therc's
11 plenty of cxamples of that type of thing whcre Police go, but ultimatcly it's the person
2 who's arrested for a small amount of mcth they have in their pocket.

13 What's your sense, Deputy Commissioner, in terms of that tension and how you're
14 training the police officers of now to deal with that, given that it's quite different from the
15 past when we spoke about that enforcement lens?

16 MS KURA: 1 think the whole premise of bringing humanity and understanding the whole person

17 is quite diftferent to when [ trained in 1987 and actually probably throughout my policing

18 career, and it's trying to, -I think the diversity of our workforce will actually help- with

19 pcoplc understanding that they come from a more diverse background so they can

20 understand the differences that people presenting might offer. I think that when I joined we
21 were all pretty much the same, and for me to understand what a family harm incident might
22 have looked like, if I saw an offencc that's what you dcal with, whercas now because we've
23 recruited quite differently, and we've been really, I think, deliberate about trying to recruit
24 differently and more diversely, that we are bringing people in who have life experience

25 that's- and they can relate in a different way. And I think that that's,- -that will make a

26 difference to future interactions, and [ can see examples where some of our young people,
27 our staff will say, "I dcalt with someone, I know that thcre's a lot morc going on for them,
28 actually can we look at this with an iwi provider, can wc think about how Tc Pac

29 Oranga- might fit. Could we look at --1 know they've got a social worker." And cven to the
30 point of when we have a mental health nurse that might sit alongside our custody teams to
31 ask them for some background information.

32 So I think there are lots of things in place to help our staff navigate differently, but

33 it's a longjourney as well.
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MS SPELMAN: [t sounds almost as though that shift from Police working mostly on their own
with a focus on enforccment through to these partnerships, do you scc the future of that
being a continuation where, for example, if thcre was a 24/7 mental health or drug support
tcam that could be available, then actually Policc wouldn't nced to have a rolc in
responding to thosc sorts of cvents?

MS KURA: That would be perfect.

MS SPELMAN: I'm sure it would be very inexpensive to set up. But, | mean, that really is the
point here, isn't it, no matter what training you can do in your 16 weeks or beyond, Police
are never going to be mental health nurses, they are never going to be drug and alcohol
clinicians, and duc to the historic issucs, therc arc just, unfortunatcly, somc pcople who will
ncver scek their support.

MS KURA: That's right.

MS SPELMAN: Allright. That sort of brings us, I supposc, into the ncxt part which,
Commissioner, you alluded to before, the by Maori for Maori solutions that of course have
been calls for many, many decades but sort of heightened in recent years.

Part of this changing role of Police, | suppose, might mean a re-definition of what
the Police is, what the Police is for. What would you define at the moment the purpose of
Policcas?

MR COSTER: To prevent crime and harm, which is our current mission. So that is very much
therc and I don't see that shifting significantly, but what's rcquircd to achicve that is still a
work in progress. Our statutory functions still include, law enforcement, and that will
always be the thing that wc can do that most othcr agencics can't. But when we bring a lens
of preventing crime and harm, the key question that 1 think we're increasingly asking is,
what's the response to the situation in front of me that will achieve that outcome?

It is a difficult balance in policing to not step too far into the domain of other
agencies and then spread ourselves too thinly, so in our desire to see better preventative
cffort in areas like family harm, responding to drug addiction issues, mental health, even
gangs, therc are lots of initiatives that Police have -- preventative initiatives that Police
have startcd and lcd and brought othcers to the tablc to try and gcet a responsc.

For me, the maturity of this model would be that once those things are in place,
Police can come back to our core role and make sure that our front line's really well
equipped to feed off to these other mechanisms, but not necessarily have to lead them.

And as always, with these kinds of things, a key challenge is the investment

nccessary to make those preventative efforts fly, and the workforce available to dcliver
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| them and if we think about drugs and mental health workforce is a real challenge at the
2 moment, and so that has a bearing on what comes to Policc.

3 MS SPELMAN: And I suppose your mention of the other agencies is a good reminder, obviously,

4 it's thc criminal justicc systcm wc're talking about, the diffcrent parts of that, not just
5 Police, and I'm thinking of thc analogy of the criminal justicc systcm being like a swift and
6 dangerous river, many points where one can fall in or wade in but once you're in and you're
7 going through those currents, it's very difficult, which is obviously why there's a lot of work
] done in terms of first time offenders, and I'm thinking of the whakatauki that encapsulates
’ this, he au kei uta i taea te kape [karo], he au kei te moana e kore e taea which talks about
10 the rapids on-shorc can be bypasscd, things can be dcalt with at homc, but the whirlpool at
11 sca cannot.
12 And I supposc that's something it sounds likc the Policc arc still mindful of, given
13 your ultimate enforcement role that exists, it's still very dangerous for people in that sense
14 to come into contact with Police because of the consequences that can flow from arrest and
15 criminalisation and the other, sometimes, unintended negative consequences of being
16 involved in any way with the criminal justice system.

17 MR COSTER: My sense is it's better than it has been at any time in our history. There are more

18 and morc opportunitics to get help rather than end up stuck in that flow. Things likc Tc Pac
19 Oranga, a very dcliberate cffort on the part of Police to divert pcoplec away from that path.
20 But to make that a viable and sustainable way of creating community safety requires many
21 othcr hands at work. It's not simply a mattcr of diverting pcople away from the justice

22 systcm, there has to be somcthing or someonc therc to work with them to address the issucs
23 that led to the offending, otherwise we will just see an escalation in reduced public safety.
24 So that is why we've been really motivated to try and work with partners to make

25 sure those options are available.

26 MS SPELMAN: In terms of that transfer of power and resources, it sounds, again, similar to what

27 we spokc about carlier, that you're gencrally supportive as long as the corrcct, appropriatc
28 amount of support and infrastructure and resources arc there to support what nceds to
29 happcn.

3@ MR COSTER: Absolutely, and there are some obvious areas to look for this. The reason family

31 harm has been such a focus for Police is it is the genesis of so many things, future family
32 harm victims and offenders, youth oftending, youth suicide, gangs, many of those things
33 can be tied back to harm in the family context, accepting it's not the only place where harm

34 can occur, clcarly it isn't. But as a strategic intcrvention point it's key.
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1 MS SPELMAN: And | suppose in terms of Police as an organisation and your own leadership,

2 Commissioner, I understand you're a fan of the Pcclian Principlcs and that philosophical

3 approach to policing and in tcrms of those principlcs, rccognising the test of Police

4 cfficicncy is the absence of crime and disorder, not the visible cvidenee of Policc action in
5 dcaling with them. Would it be fair to say that succcssful Policc would look likc a

6 shrinking Police force over time?

7 MR COSTER: That would be the ideal, that we're no longer required. 1 think we're realistic

] about that, but there is, you know, Police is having a really positive effiect for prevention as
° a player in the system in a broader sense, and as long as there's a large volume of
10 unreported crime, which -of - all crime only about a quarter is reported, then there's going to
11 bc work for Police to do.
12 And so, therc's no sign that we'll disappear any timc soon, but I think our aspiration
13 should be the abscnce of crimc and harm.

14  MS SPELMAN: Or at the very least, | suppose, Police reducing its size, it's not an organisations
15 that is seeking to grow for the sake of growth.

16 MR COSTER: Certainly not to do what might have been done in the past, but we have grown as

17 a consequence of investment in preventative activity where Police is seen to have the

18 community relationships, the leadership, the inclination to drive some things forward. But
19 I'm also an advocatc for increasing our family harm investment, our mental health

20 investment, our drug treatment investment, because all of those things are further upstream
21 than us.

22 MS SPELMAN: And would havc a significant efficct on thc work that Policc actually had to dcal
23 with.

24 MR COSTER: Yes.

25 MS SPELMAN: So all these changes that we're talking about today, appreciating that things take

26 time, but given that to date the statistics in terms of disproportionality haven't substantially
27 changcd, what assuranccs are therc that thesc current changes and work that the Policc arc
28 doing arc actually going to rcsult in better outcomes for the groups that have been

29 historically failed by Police and, in particular, I'm thinking of Maori, Pacific pcoplc and

30 disabled people?

31 MR COSTER: I think we need to take it broader than just Police, because even if Police

32 addresses absolutely everything that's within its power to address, as long as we have

33 disproportionality in the problems faced by certain communities more broadly, then there's

34 the real risk of that coming into Policc attention and Policc responsc.  And so, all of thosc
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| things I've just referred to, family harm, mental health, drugs, gangs, all have a tie back into
2 policing, but all comc from complex social issucs that sit outsidc of our domain. So that
3 nceds a system rcsponsc.
4 In terms of Police's part in it, we are really carefully examining exactly what that is,
5 and, you know, through thc coursc of the Undcrstanding Policing Dclivery programme it's
6 not just a kind of wait for a big report to be produced, the dialogue that's occurring between
7 the independent panel and operational staff is leading to insights that will in themselves be
] actionable through the course of that research.

* MS SPELMAN: And it sounds as though from the way you speak about the panel and the work

10 that they're doing that there's a real willingness within Police, bearing in mind you don't
11 know what they're yet going to recommend, but to take on board the advice that they give
12 you.

13 MR COSTER: I think therc's a mutual trust actually building in that rclationship which is what it
14 will take to get to the right solutions.

15 MS SPELMAN: In terms of, particularly, the issues for disabled people, | know my colleague has

16 touched on that quite significantly already, but one point | wanted to ask you about was in
17 termis of prevention work that Police would do. You've outlined in your brief some of the
18 changcs around facilitics and data collcction and that typc of training, but at a stratcgic

19 Ievel, given what we know about people and particularly adults at risk who continuc to be
20 in care to this day, do Policc sce a role in terms of actually doing preventative work, going
21 out to people, knowing the barricrs that cxist to disclosc harm and abusc?

22 MR COSTER: I think that's somcthing for us to turn our minds to. You know, I'll bc honcst and

23 say there isn't resource sitting within Police that is there available to be dedicated to that
24 function. However, there's a question of whether there are existing staff working in the

25 prevention area who could do more in that arena. As I've acknowledged in my evidence, |
26 think, ensuring the right guidance is there to understand the diversity of need that exists

27 within thosc difficrent groups and giving all of our pcoplc some guidance about where they
28 can go to understand that better when thcy come across it, would be a good start.

29 I do think that there's, whatever recommendations come from the Commission, we
30 will need to think about it from an all of government perspective rather than on an agency
31 by agency basis.

32 MS SPELMAN: Sure. Butin terms of, [ guess, the Police as an agency, I'm conscious that when
33 you came in as Commissioner in 2020 you looked at your leadership team and made some

34 changcs to reflect, I think, the strategic goals that you had.
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MR COSTER: Yeah.
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2 MS SPELMAN: In tcrms of recognising the nceds for disabled people, I'm not surc if that's
3 reflected in terms of at your cxecutive Icadership Ievel in terms of somconc who is
4 specifically responsible for thosc areas, is that right?

5 MR COSTER: No, not in tcrms of one person who Icads on that, it sits in two placcs. Onc with

6 Deputy Commissioner Kura in terms of equipping our people, our leadership, our culture,
i and then in a prevention sense within our iwi and communities group under Deputy

] Commissioner Wally Haumaha, which is really the partnership side of that, and then of

’ course there are a range of practices and policies that will exist in different groups that we
10 nced to test and adjust.

11 Clcarly it's not possible to have a dedicated person for cvery group that may need
12 group rcpresentation as my cxecutive would be enormous if that's the way we went, but |
13 think therc's good clarity about where responsibility for diffcrent aspects of this sit, but

14 definitely that's something we can consider, you know, alongside what guidance we also
15 need to ensure that clarity exists.

16  MSSPELMAN: In terms of the historical failings you've spoken about and the resulting trust

17 issues that's meant for Police, what is your comment around how you're measuring the

18 various work programmcs that you'rc doing in tcrms of, arc thcy making any diff crence or
19 not, are they having a positive impact, how are people to know if what you're doing is

20 successful? Therc docsn't scem to be historically a great practice of revicw and mcasuring
21 and making that known to the public.

22 MR COSTER: I think that's truc historically. As I mentioncd carlicr, we now have our cvidence

23 based policing centre which is a partnership between Police, the University of Waikato and
24 the ESR and it involves contribution from other academics looking at policing practice, and
25 trying to turn that into opportunities within the organisation, and part of that is evaluation.
26 So, you know, our people now when we start something new will routinely talk

2 about cvaluation, which wasn't on the radar in the past. So, initiatives likc Tc Pac Oranga
28 arc the subject of cvaluation and that's how I can tcll you that it's a 22% rcduction in harm
29 from reoffiending.

30 So the major things that we do, we will try to evaluate.

31 MS SPELMAN: And you've spoken or we've spoken a lot today about the UPD programme and
32 the ongoing work that's done there. 1 understand that so far there have been two pieces of
33 research published that are on the Police website. 1 think they were published this year,

34 maybc I'm wrong on that.
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MR COSTER: Yes. No, that's right, and they were really in the nature of literature reviews. The
2 first tranche of original rescarch is going out to markct now in tcrms of calling for pcoplc to
3 do that.

4 MS SPELMAN: In tcrms of those two picces of research, I supposc, that's a uscful currcent

5 cxample of work being commissioned and I'm thinking of thc grey literature review, in

6 particular, what action has there been following Police receiving those pieces of research

7 that would perhaps give some assurance to people that, you know, this talk is more than

] talk, that there is some action behind what you're saying?

* MR COSTER: [ would describe those pieces more as foundational than,- because as | say, the
10 first tranche of original rcscarch is starting now. The placc where I'm sceing action and
11 movement already is in the dialoguc that's occurring both between the independent pancl
12 and our opcrational staff, but then in the conversations that spring off that around the
13 organisation, where frontline people are coming forward and saying, you know, I've never
14 thought about this before, but actually having heard about UPD, I'm now thinking about
15 this aspect of our practice and 1 wonder whether dot dot dot-.

16 So that's real gold because when you get frontline coming up with opportunities to
17 improve equity and fairness, you know they're going to be owned and they're actionable.
18 I think the challenge with some of the historical rescarch is it's ended up, for onc
19 reason or another, in the talking past cach othcr spacc rather than in the here's somcething
20 that Police could practically shift that would make the diffcrence kind of arca.

21 MS SPELMAN: Intcrms of a broadcr issuc across Government, therc's somcetimes conversation

22 about the three year political cyclc and how that can stymic cfforts to changc. 1 think your
23 term is a five year one. What's your sense of the shift of culture within Police which would
24 mean perhaps if someone came in after you who had quite different priorities or values,

25 would that mean that this work ground to a halt and perhaps, Deputy Commissioner, that's

26 possibly a better question for you to answer in terms of what you're seeing within your area
27 that you're rcsponsible for.

28 MS KURA: I'm just thinking about thc UPD examplc and wherc the organisation has actually

29 somc initiatives from our frontline staff and the difference that it's making. Wc've got an
30 example in Bay of Plenty where a person has identified that the way that we treat each

31 other in the workforce is actually an opportunity for us to understand, because we've

32 become more diverse, and there are different experiences from people joining the

33 organisation, have they been kept safe when they come in. And one of- this particular

34 inspcctor has crcated a, what hc's called a diversity pancl, where he brings a group of
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| people in who work for us and they talk about their experiences in the workplace and how
2 they arc being treated by their collcagues. And the cxamplc he's trying to make and the onc
3 that comcs through in all of- the training that they've done is that if we can't look after cach
4 othcr and treat cach other with respect and be mindful of our diftcrences, how will we cver
5 police difficrently in the community.
6 Now, he works in a professional conduct role where he sees the behaviours that we
i have complaints about, and he's seen it as a great opportunity to be able to give staff insight
] from their own peers and colleagues and that's landing really well in that they're saying,
L "l didn't realise when I said those things that I'm mistreating you" and we're looking to roll
10 that out across the country by using our own staff for Icssons that we're Icarning about
11 oursclves and that that will then play out in the way that we trcat other peoplc.
12 So I think that there are -- the leadership opportunity, one, for somcbody to takc the
13 initiative to do that becausc they've been cxposed to UPD, and then for them to think I can
14 now go out to the rest of the organisation and take this initiative out and influence other
15 leaders, is, [ think, quite powerful and quite a different way to be -- rather than being told
16 you must do one of these or go to unconscious bias training, they've got their own ideas
17 about what can really influence their peers.
18 So those are the types of things for me that I think will bc morc sustainablc because
19 it comes from the ideas of our own pcoplc.

26 MS SPELMAN: Thank you for that.
21 MR COSTER: To rcspond to the question around backsliding, if we can call it that, that's always

22 arisk. But I personally believe that the idea of prevention as being better than trcatment is
23 now ingrained in the organisation and you would struggle to wind it back, as is the

24 commitment to our values, particularly in terms of Maori and the Treaty.

25 So ,I believe we'll keep moving forward. We are more removed from the political
26 cycle than other agencies because of operational independence and that's quite helpful, but
27 somcthing we always havc to keep our cye on the ball.

28 MS SPELMAN: Thank you.

29 Thosc arc all the questions that I have. Just before finishing up I just want to

30 acknowledge all the survivors whose evidence we've referred to today, ténei te mihi ki a
31 koutou, e mohio ana au e matakitaki mai ana &tahi o koutou, nd reira e mihi ana ki a

32 koutou. [ know that several of them are watching and will be following this keenly to see
33 the responses to the questions that we've asked, so e mihi ana ki a korua, those are all the

34 questions that I have and I'll pass over to you, Madam Chair.
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1 CHAIR: Thank you very much. 1'm now going to invite my colleagues to ask the last questions
2 of thc day, I think we might start with Paul Gibson.
3 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: Kia ora, thanks, Commissioncr, Dcputy Commissioncr. First

4 starting off, looking backwards, I think Commissioncr Urquhart, if I got thc name right,
5 said he had an idea of the idcal policeman, I think was back in the day, not Chincsc, not
6 Hindu, not Pacific Islander. Was he a racist?

7 MR COSTER: I think through today's lens that's exactly how we would describe it. 1 doubt he

] would have been described that way at the time.

* COMMISSIONER GIBSON: I note today's policies or evidence talk a lot about diversity, that
10 the Police force now needs to reflect the communities in which it ¢xists, so that is a lcsson
11 that's been learned and is pretty well embedded in the Police, would you say?

12 MR COSTER: Ironically, or not, the Pcclian Principles which arc over 200 ycars old talked about

13 the Police arc thc community and thc community arc the Police. So that concept in

14 principle has been with modern policing for a long time but seems to have been lost in the
15 execution along the way. So, it's completely uncontentious from my point of view that

16 that's the way things need to be.

17 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: We heard evidence of failures through the Police to keep people
18 safc from harm in an ongoing way within the Dcaf community, how many DcafPolicc arc
19 therc at thc moment?

26 MR COSTER: Nonc to my knowledge.

21 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: Is therc data kept on the breadth of disabled people in Police,

22 Dcaf, mcntal health, wider disability?

23 MR COSTER: [ think at an individual level we would have some visibility of that but in terms of
24 being able to capture that in an organisational sense, we're not there.

25 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: Is that something you intend to collect data on?

26 MR COSTER: [ don't know whether you've got a sense of that, Tania. There's a range of data

27 that we collect, I don't belicve that disability is formally part of that. I think wc'd be

28 intercsted in where the Commission might land on a topic like that. You know, it raiscs
29 questions for mc about whethcr it's cven appropriatc to inquirc aftcr thosc kinds of

30 questions, but no doubt the Commission will have a view on that.

31 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: And proactive recruitment of the diversity of these communities,
32 when is the community sort of in and proactively targeted for recruitment or otherwise?
33 MR COSTER: We've had some initiatives targeting neurodiversity, and 1 think that has been

34 really positive. It's on a very small scale. But we are part of broader Government cfforts in
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1 that regard, and certainly aiming to set up policies and ways of working that can, to the
2 extent possible, cnable and accommodate people with disabilitics in the workforce.

3 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: That sounds great, because, I think, is there a recognition of the

4 scalc,-- I know we've talked about over 50% of Maori within prisons,- the scalc of pcoplc
5 with neurodiversity who go through the justicc systcm; what consciousncss is there of the
6 Police in the workforce at the moment-?

7 MR COSTER: I think there's opportunity to keep learning in terms of that. To my earlier

] comments, it certainly feels to me like the community is continuing to understand
’ neurodiversity and what it means and the extent and scope of it, so there's opportunity for
10 us to improve on that I am certain.

11 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: I'm intercsted, you talked about cvidential sufficicney and often a
12 casc, cven when peoplc arc belicved, doesn't get to prosccution. Do you keep data around
13 thosc cases?

14 MR COSTER: No, not at a level that we can produce as a statistic. Obviously by looking at

15 individual cases we can see in the reasoning that that's where we went. Capturing the

16 nuance of that is somewhat challenging because no sooner would we capture it then people
17 would probably want to know why didn't we reach evidential sufficiency. So, in all of our
18 data, our challenge is keeping the administrative burden at a rcasonable Icvel whilst trying

19 to produce insights that arc useful for interrogating these kinds of issucs.

26 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: I'm imagining if there's discrepancies between different groups

21 that might bc a very uscful insight as to how diffierent issucs arc approached. For cxample
22 if disabled pcoplc, pcople with mental health issucs, don't rcach that cvidential sufficicney
23 threshold more often, speculate, if you have that data might that be useful?

24 MR COSTER: I'm sure it would be. 1 could probably keep our ICT department which has got

25 about 300 people in it busy just responding to the requests for Police to capture and process
26 data diffierently. 1 don't want to make an excuse but just to acknowledge, it's not always

27 casy to add those requirements in at the same time as cnsuring all of the pcoplc who nced to
28 understand how to capture, enter accurately, record those things where they need to be and
29 their knowledge. So, most often, when we're getting to that kind of question, the way to

30 examine it would be with a specific piece of work that looks at 1,000 files of a particular

31 type, seeks to dig in and gets both into the qualitative and quantitative questions that

32 present, because the data only ever tells part of the story, if that makes sense.

33 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: What 1 took from your evidence, you seem to distinguish

34 individual racism and reluctant to name that versus systemic racism or systcmic bias. Is
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1 there a thinking or approach around ableism and disability and how you handle those issues
2 both at an individual lcvel and at a systemic lcvel?

3 MR COSTER: I think that's a really important qucstion. I'm surc that at somc lcvel it will fecaturc

4 in the Understanding Policing Delivery work. But I need to be honest and say, you know,
5 the issucs around disproportionate rcpresentation of Maori in the criminal justice system

6 probably will keep that piece of work very occupied ahead of being able to get into issues
i around ableism and 1 think you raise a really important question that we would need to

8 think quite carefully about how we would begin to interrogate it, recognising that the level
L of awareness around ableism would be much less than exists in terms of racism or other
10 more obvious kinds of bias.

11 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: Would you also say that at a systcmic Icvel it possibly cxists as
12 well in the processes, practices that result in poor outcomes through the Police system?

13 MR COSTER: I certainly think it's a possibility. You know, cven in that narrow arca wc've

14 touched on around thresholds to reach prosecution and likelihood of conviction through the
15 criminal justice process, that's an area that stands out to me as fraught with risk in terms of
16 witnesses who may be less likely to be treated as reliable.

17 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: I'm justtrying to work out what's happening at a strategic level
18 around rescarch panels, does any of that cover the impacts on disabled people specifically?

19 MRCOSTER: As Isay, I think that's somcthing that can bc grappled with within the scope of

20 Understanding Policing Delivery. That work is still obviously in its rclativcly carly stages,
21 and a qucstion for the pancl might be, what's the best way for us to tacklc issucs that sit in
22 that domain as well, as part of that work.

23 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: Am I right, from your evidence, there's no actual strategy around
24 disability labels, the strategy is listening and understanding, it's those two words?

25 MR COSTER: We've undertaken obviously recently a stocktake which is a start to understand

26 where we're at in terms of dealing with disability issues, but it is more nascent in our
27 thinking than, for cxample, responsiveness to Maori, Pacific, cthnic communitics where we
28 have been working for a much longer period of time.

29  COMMISSIONER GIBSON: Some of the morc high profilc cascs around where Police

30 interviews, other things have gone wrong and people have spent a long time in prison for
31 something they -didn't -that they've been wrongly convicted, have featured people with
32 neurodisabilities-. Has that triggered any work in itself? There doesn't seem to be that

33 much happening around this area given what's evidenced before you.
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1 MR COSTER: Yeah. Certainly the high profile cases we've seen around, particularly, foetal

2 alcohol syndrome, havc prompted a lot of thought and rcflcction and awarcncss within our
3 investigators. You know, onc of the kcy things in there will be what safcguards need to be
4 in place in terms of that for the futurc, and it's sobering to scc some of these cascs come

5 through thc Criminal Case Review Commission.

6 Inevitably we will need to work out where to start and prioritising our effort to deal
7 with some of those difficult things and a lot of it obviously sits around the awareness of

] frontline investigators that when you're dealing with somebody who may have that in their
L history, that that will shape the way they respond and so those are issues that can and I'm
10 surc are being addresscd in the context of our dctective qualifying courscs and that kind of
11 thing.
12 But clearly that's just one issue that could play into the criminal justice context.

13 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: You mentioncd safcguarding, I'm intcrested in this and it's

14 probably a question to respond in writing about the Waitemata project, I'm interested in
15 why in the context of wanting more community partnerships that one appears to have
16 ended.

17 MR COSTER: [I'm certainly happy for us to come back on what happened there.
12 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: Youmadc- in- a responsc to Ms Spclman you said it's clcarly not

19 responsiblc to have representation at a senior Ievel across a rangce of issucs. Looking back
20 to what Urquhart said about the diversity of ethnicity within the Police, what do you think
21 the Police and yoursclf, senior Icaders, necd to be doing now so that in a generation's timc,
22 in two gencrations' timc, we don't look at the Policc responsc to ablcism today in the same
23 way that we look at the Police response to racism a couple of generations ago.

24 MR COSTER: [ think it's a really great question. We've made tentative steps into this area, |

25 think, through some of the things we're doing in terms of neurodiversity, in terms of our

26 disability stocktake. What we are doing in respect of other kinds of diversity, for example
27 cthnic diversity, gender diversity, is proactivcly recruiting people from a diversc range of
28 backgrounds and then trying to crcate staft support nctworks that help them through the

29 course of their career, trying to create leadership opportunity for people to step in and grow
30 throughout the organisation.

31 All of those things move much slower than we would like, and, you know, I think
32 it's a fair question to ask of us in terms of ableism and what that looks like for us as an

33 organisation.

34 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: Thanks. Thanks for answering the questions.
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1 CHAIR: Julia Steenson, do you have some questions?

2 COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Kia ora, I'vc only got a couplc of qucstions becausc I realisc

3 it's been a long day, but it is picking up on the point around --in relation to adults at risk and
4 people with disabilities. Because just reflecting on the purpose of the Police that you've

5 told us is to prevent crime and harm, and there's a lot of intcrscctionality between this group
6 with Maori. What interests me is the reliability issues that you spoke about with the

7 victims of abuse and --in terms of the methodologies of collecting evidence.

] I'm just wondering, firstly what would you say about the overall outcome that that

’ has for this group of people who therefore do not get to have the crimes that occur against
10 them prevented or upheld?

11 MR COSTER: I mcan, clcarly for any victim of crimc who is unablc to be vindicated through a

12 justice proccss and ablc to be protccted in the deterrent sensc from peoplce belicving they
13 will be held accountable for offending against a particular group of victims, that's a soul

14 destroying place to be. Police have a part to play in this, including making our best efforts
15 to bring to justice people who oftfend against vulnerable victim groups.

16 There is a broader question here for the entire justice system about how this ought
17 to work, recognising that there are good reasons why the criminal law sets a very high

18 standard in terms of beyond reasonable doubt for proof of criminal offending, and that

19 somc pcoplc face greater hurdles to get over in terms of making out the offending against
20 them against that burden.

21 So yeah.

22 COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Ycah, becausc you talked about the nced for kind of spccialists
23 to come in and confirm that evidence in terms of the way it's gathered, etc. So, is

24 that --does that not occur, what are the barriers from that happening then?

25 MR COSTER: I'm not an expert in this area so I'm speaking from my knowledge of the system
26 and --

27 ~ COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Sorry, I'm just mcaning thc mcthodology for gathcring

28 evidence, I don't expect you to speak on the specialist parts.

29 MR COSTER: No, so for a judge -ultimatcly-, it's a judgc or a jury that nceds to be satisficd that

30 the method in which evidence has been collected is reliable and that the evidence is
31 truthful. I don't think truthfulness is the primary issue here, it's where we're using
32 nonstandard means to capture evidence of a criminal offence, how do we satisfy a court that

33 it's safe to convict on the basis of- that evidence?
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1 And because most people don't have an adequate understanding of the range of
2 conditions that may affiect particular victims, I belicve we would nced to call cxpert
3 cvidencc to makc that out. And I'm imagining that thc varicty of diffcrent cxperts on
4 differcnt conditions that would bc requircd is many and varicd. So thc answer will be very
5 dcpendent on a given circumstance.
6 But what Police would normally do to prove a case in a situation like this would be
7 look for an expert witness that can get us to a point of confidence. For any given type of
8 condition, I imagine it would be dependent on having some understanding or knowledge of
9 the capability of the victim in question.
10 So I'm confident that does happen, but that's a lot, just a lot Icss straightforward,
11 clearly, than somebody who docsn't have that bar to gct over.

12 COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Docs that happcn at the timc of the cvidence gathering or docs
13 it happen subscquently? Like, are there agrcements in place with, say, thosc cxperts in the
14 disability sector who do that, or is it subsequently?

15 MR COSTER: I'm not aware that there are formal agreements that sit around that. 1t would be

16 something that happens at the time where we would be -we- would start by engaging with
17 the caregivers of whoever the person is to understand the nature of their situation and then
18 try and find someone who could speak to the reliability of evidence they might give by

19 whatcver method they arc ablc to usc.

206 COMMISSIONER STEENSON: That's tricky when it's the carcgiver that's --

21 MR COSTER: -- casc by casc. Ycs, but of coursc --

22 COMMISSIONER STEENSON: But I accept what you're saying.

23 MR COSTER: -- if the suggestion was that that was where the problem lay, then we would look
24 elsewhere.

25 COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Thank you. And also just trying to reconcile, coming back to

26 that purpose of prevention of crime and harm and the comment around of not crossing the
27 line into another agency's purpose but then at the same time trying to undcrstand, becausc
28 prevention requircs understanding the causc, rather than dealing with symptoms, I'm

29 assuming that's what you're getting at, which is kind of a holistic approach, which is

30 excellent, but how do you then reconcile that with silos of agency, you know, packages of
31 work?

32 MR COSTER: It's a very significant challenge for us. Most of the problems we deal with are
33 cross-cutting and don't sit tidily within one agency's responsibility. Te Pae Oranga has

34 been a great intervention because iwi don't look at people through silos and often cnd up
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being service aggregators because of what they have available to them within their social
scrvices.

Short of that, we work in multi-agency ways, for example family harm we'll have a
multi-agency mecting that considcrs specific cascs and trics to work out where the best
placc to mobilisc a responsc is, and that can and docs include NGOs who may be
commissioned by multiple agencies to address a range of issues and then in their service
delivery are able to aggregate holistically around an individual or a whanau. But by
definition, our problems are quite complex and cross-cutting.

COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Because it does significantly change the response.

MR COSTER: Yecs.

COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Then just finally, around the filcs that gct kept, and I know
we're circling right back to the carly part of your evidence, but I had a question. So you
said that thcy were now digital, files arc kept --

MR COSTER: Primarily.

COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Are they ever destroyed, are they kept forever or...?

MR COSTER: 1 think we could come back with our archiving rules. There will be digital
archiving rules but my belief is they will be much less strongly adhered to, if you like, than
our paper rules, simply becausc space will tend to be Icss of a pressurc although, clcarly, as
the sizc of digital evidencc increases with high rcsolution photos and vidcos, that will
bccome a pressurc point for us.

So wc'll come back with what those rules arc.

COMMISSIONER STEENSON: So that mcans at thc moment somc things arc archived so
they're not readily available. Just thinking in the context of what we know from survivors,
they don't typically come forward until many years later which means there's, for crimes
that are, say, less severe, that they would be archived, just so I understand, sooner than ones
that were considered higher, whereas what we know for abuse in care situations, survivors
don't come forward and I would imagine some bchaviour cscalatces over time, so you're not
necessarily seeing the same perpetrator issues where they've been lesser versus the setting
and situation, so just trying to understand...

MR COSTER: Yeah, the National Intelligence Application as our sortof probably core
information system has a long memory, but it will be other evidence that sits around it, like
statements and so on, that will be more at risk of archiving and ultimately destruction.

We need to bear in mind that in this context we're trying to interrogate a period not

for the rcasons of bringing criminal prosccution so much as to undcrstand what occurred,
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| and that means we're going back an extremely long way. In our experience it would be
2 relatively unusual to have an allcgation where therc's relevant history that gocs back such a
3 long ways, if that makes scnse.
4 So it's still morc likcly that we would have holdings for an allcgation that might
5 come forward now as compared to some of the things that we're trying to get back to, going
6 back in history.

7 COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Thank you. Sorry, it took a bit longer but thank you very

] much.

* COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Téna korua, kia ora and. @n the subject of child offending, say,
10 between the ages of 10 and 14 about this questionabout -- I know you focus on prevention
11 of crimec and harm, but it's about the role of -- the vicw you would have on, cithcr of you,
12 on Oranga Tamariki and its ability to intervene quickly enough when a flag has been raised
13 to prcvent a situation from escalating to the point where Police have to intcrvenc.

14 MR COSTER: ®ranga Tamariki has a very difficult role. To give you a sense of scale, we make

15 roughly 80,000 reports of concern to @ranga Tamariki every year for children in family

16 harm situations. Now, arguably, every one of those represents an opportunity to intervene

17 and prevent harm, but @ranga Tamariki, by virtue of its size, is focused at a higher level of
18 risk for kids that arc probably closcr to that threshold of the potential to come into Statc

19 carc.

20 So right across our system therc arc opportunitics to intcrvene that we will, as a

21 systcm, struggle to reach because the resourcing simply can't meet the needs of all of those
22 young people.

23 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: So resourcing issue because the thresholds are not meeting those
24 higher thresholds that require intervention?

25 MR COSTER: Yeah, so the best opportunity to intervene would be a low level family harm case

26 where a mum is pregnant or where there's a young baby, because in a lifecycle sense that
27 would be the place to stop the harm. But for the systcm gctting to intcrvenc at that carly

28 level is a challenge when there are cascs that arc, you know, in a risk situation now, where
29 therc's almost a duty to act, becausc of thc harm that's alrcady occurring to the young

30 person in that situation.

31 So investing in the first thousand days as a response to prevent generational harm is
32 one of the hardest things to actually get to as a system.

33 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: 1 wonder whether, do you have a view on whether it might be

34 more cffective for Maori, say when it comcs to whanau Maori or for that mattcr Pasifika,
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1 for them to have the agency to take those steps and intervene at an early stage? Do you
2 have a view on that?

3 MR COSTER: I think that's a really exciting opportunity and probably onc that wc'rc only just

4 really starting to tap into the potential of. It's happening a little bit, I would say, in the

5 family harm arcna and I'm awarc that Oranga Tamariki has been working with iwi to

6 increase their ability to care for whanau in their rohe. So to me the answers have to sit with
] community because our State will never, and [ would argue should never be big enough to
] do all of these things from a State perspective.

* COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Kiaora. On this question of the Treaty clause about there not

10 being onc in the Policing Act, I wonder what your vicw is about, -you talkcd about your

11 tcrm is five ycars and about embedding policy changces, like your focus on Tc Tiriti- and
12 prevention and so forth, about whether you would benefit from having a Treaty clausc that
13 gave clcar statutory dircction to pursue these things.

14 MR COSTER: As, hopefully, you can tell from what we've said today, we are very leaned in to

15 making a difference on these issues and I'm certainly mindful that legislation will send

16 important signals but it doesn't magically fix issues that turn around leadership, culture, etc.
17 However, I'm also aware that over time, more and more legislation has had Treaty clauses
18 and that has a powerful symbolic valuc.

19  COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Just on that kaupapa of culturc, I did wonder when you were

20 talking about the history and the history of discrimination, that because you don't have a
21 scnsc of the extent of the problem of discrimination, historically, that that inhibits your

22 ability to address it now, becausc you don't have a scnsc of the cxtent to which it pervaded
23 the Police force. Because if you don't have a sense of whether it was dominant and it was
24 in fact dominant, how do you now direct your energies towards making change?

25 MR COSTER: So, I think an important part of the Understanding Policing Delivery work is to

26 understand the perspective of different communities that we police and that will be an

27 important foundation for us.

28 I think it's really important for all of our people in the environments they police to
29 understand the history and the context. To illustrate, I started policing in Mangere in 1997.
30 It was close in the living memory of the Pacific communities that had been the subject of
31 the Dawn Raids. 1 had zero awareness of my time at Mangere station that that was the

32 context | was policing in and that that might have shaped community perceptions of

33 policing in that place. And so we're working pretty hard to do that differently now and to

34 incrcasc our people's awareness of the context in which they're policing.
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COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Kia ora, téna korua, thank you so much for your evidence today,
2 appreciatc it.

3 CHAIR: That's a very good segue to Ali'imuamua Sandra Alofivac.

4  COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: Talofa lava, Commissioncr and Dcputy Commissioncr.

5 Actually, in 1997 I was living in Mangere and I knew your local cop shop and the joy that it
6 brought to us was that there were lots of brown cops in there, mainly Island boys, so mmm.
i That's the only upside.
] Just coming back, in terms of a lot of the survivor evidence that we've heard today,
9 and in particular from the disability community, is when you're not counted -if you're not
10 measuring it you'rc not countcd. And it scnds a really strong signal that you just don't
11 matter- and your issucs don't matter.
12 And when you apply that across some of the other cohorts, so we sce Pacific figurcs
13 arc counted, but arc you ablc to assure us that undcrncath that, can you gct the brcakdown
14 of the diffierent ethnic communities, Samoan, Tongan, Cook Island, Niue, the whole
15 variety, because it's not acceptable to Pacific to be treated homogenously like that. And
16 often there are issues that are specific to various ethnic specific communities that don't
17 apply across to others.

18 MR COSTER: Ycah. Yeah, certainly, this is a message that I gt loud and clcar from our Pacific

19 Focus Forum and our Maori Focus Forum in tcrms of hapu and iwi, and our Ethnic Forum,
20 and we have ongoing work to improvce our, both the capability of our systems to rccord and
21 then the competence of our people to inquire after those questions.

22 There arc a couple of things that sort of stand out around that. Onc is the vast

23 number of different ethnicities, 1 think it's about 200 diffierent ethnicities here in Tamaki

24 Makaurau and the challenge of reliably capturing that, particularly when increasingly

25 people will identify with multiple ethnicities. And then also the Police's operating

26 environment or our context is quite a poor moment to be asking people about their

27 backgrounds, you know, particularly in the contcxt of an arrcst.

28 Frequently where drugs and alcohol are involved it's not always the easiest place to
29 get from people a clear answer. That won't stop us trying, but I think it's to acknowlcdge
30 the real limitations on Police's ability to do that.

31 One of the things that we've thought about in that regard is whether, what the

32 balance is between privacy and the State's ability to understand the people that it's dealing

33 with and whether, for example, through the mechanism of driver licences, or another
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| mechanism, there would be a way of having this information available at the system level
2 so that every agency wasn't attempting to collect information in a patchwork.
3 That wouldn't necessarily have to be available to the agency to view, but it could be
4 available at a system level to analyse and get insight, through the IDI data infrastructure
5 which is anonymised.
6 So that is just a thought. At the moment there's no one way across the system to
7 capture this kind of data.

2 COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: And, of course, everything you've said is accepted,

L Commissioner, but one of the lessons that we're learning through this Commission is that
10 actually if you're not counted you don't mattcr. And so moving forward into the futurc, and
11 you've just alluded to Tamaki Makaurau Auckland having around 200 -actually-, I heard it
12 was about 300 cthnicitics and that Auckland itsclf is the sccond most diversc city in the
13 world, sccond only to Toronto. That's quite uniquc --

14 MR COSTER: Yeah.
15 COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: -- for a population of about 4 million people.

16 I don't envy the big task ahead of you in terms of having to drive some real

17 transformative change in being able to cater for all communities going into the future.

18 But you have rcfierred to the fact that family violence is still very much a very big
19 issuc and that it's a scnsitive indicator for lots of things, and that oftcn your frontlinc Policc
20 arc having to attend to prcdominantly, perhaps, psycho-social issucs, you know, things that
21 have gonc wrong in a rclationship, not always what you would considcr at that kind of corc
22 business end of your policing manual. Is that a fair commcent?

23 MR COSTER: It becomes our core business because we're 24/7 and we've got a short phone
24 number, but there are others who should be able to deal with it or would be able to deal
25 with it much more effectively than we can.

26  COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: Then you talked about the triaging which is accepted that that's

27 what agencies, and particularly your agency has had to do, but then it becomes everyone's
28 problem and no one's really responsible, becausc there's no closc off loop, and you'll just,
29 perhaps regrettably, scc them again when therc's another callout and you're having to

30 respond to that same person because other parts of the system haven't been able to deal with
31 the issue like the drug issue or the mental health issue or other issues that would come up.
32 So in order to be successful in the policing role, do you see a leadership role as the
33 Police Commissioner with your senior exec team around some of those core fundamentals

34 that you've alrcady identificd, workforce development, across agencics? You've also
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1 identified investment into the vulnerable adults or adults at risk, into that space. So those
2 arc quitc big issues that the Police can't achieve on their own.

3 MR COSTER: Correct, ycah. Absolutely. And we are taking that leadership role.

4 One of the three priorities, focus, prevention through partnerships, and such a range
5 of initiatives wherc Policc has lcd. In family harm, apologics, Whangaia Na Pa Harakcke,
6 integrated safety response; in mental health, the co-responder model; in drugs, Te Ara
] Oranga, working with DHB; in gangs, Resilience to Organised Crime in Communities, the
] list goes on. There are many, many cross agency initiatives where Police have seen the
’ need and worked to bring others around the table.
10 But for any agency, it won't be a tidy alignment with their functions. The most
11 complcx nceds will combine mental health, drugs and alcohol, maybe family violenee and
12 s0 -maybe- homelessness, so trying to get the right response is just a big challenge for any
13 agency.

14  COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: And so to make that difference, are you doing that through

15 MOQUs, you've referred to an MOU with Oranga Tamariki. Are there any other

16 mechanisms that could be used like, perhaps, your statement of intent, the SPE, Statement
17 of Performance and Expectance, your own accountability documents to be able to hold

18 othcr agencics accountable alongside yoursclves, becausc this is what we're hearing from
19 our survivors in tcrms of what would make a diffcrence to their lives then, but also now,
20 and presumably going into the futurc.

21 MR COSTER: We don't have thc mandatc to hold other agencics accountable. That ultimatcly is

22 the role of ministers. However, we do actively work with other agencies through vehicles
23 like Te Aorerekura, the family violence strategy for which there's an interdepartmental

24 executive board, a creation of the Public Service Act, which makes a group of CEs

25 accountable for implementing that strategy.

26 So there are some machinery of government things that are occurring, and there are,
27 at the operational level, cross agency working groups, daily mectings, all sorts of different
28 things occurring across the spectrum of problems that we deal with.

29  COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: So not wanting to ovcrsimplify mattcrs, but nonc of that is

30 new, none of that is new, and what we're hearing from our survivors is: what's going to

31 change going forward? So, we hear about the capability building that's got to go on within
32 the workforce, and we think "amazing", big tick to that. But in terms of actually having to
33 think outside the square, seeing the themes and the patterns that you're quite privileged to

34 scc, becausc of -- you're a first responder, so you get to scc this and as [ undcrstand your
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1 evidence, Deputy Commissioner, you were talking about how you're beginning to improve
2 processes inhousc, so being able to actually give cach other proper critical feedback in a
3 very safc spacc to improve processes. You then usc that as, perhaps, an advocacy modcl to
4 actually arguc for a truc systcms change, othcrwisc we're just going to keep doing what we
5 currently do, just slicker, better, diffcrent version, without actually moving- some of thosc

6 bigger levers. Any comments?

7 MR COSTER: Tania might have a view, but for me the most significant opportunity in front of

8 us is for community organisations, iwi, who are able to take a holistic view of problems in
9 places with whanau is probably our best hope for an effective -for effectively addressing
10 these complex issucs. Machincry of government has to organisc us some way and for 80%
11 of the issues, maybe 90%, agency silos are the most efficient way to deploy services using
12 taxpaycr- dollars.
13 The cross-cutting picce that represcents our gnarlicst issucs probably, and 1 think
14 almost certainly, is best addressed through community organisations, NGOs that can join
15 services up because they're commissioned to do that, that is we do see that emerging
16 through social sector commissioning work that I imagine Debbie Power would have spoken
17 to yesterday, but we need to prove it out in practice and demonstrate where it works and do
18 morc of that.
19 Tania's led somc of this in Eastern District.

26 MS KURA: In my previous rolc as a district commandcr in Eastcrn, certainly the local

21 community relationships were a kcy part of us taking action as a wholc group and when

22 I think back on my time in that role, wc really cnjoycd a numbcr of good rclationships that
23 were essentially personality driven but equally we all had the same goals in mind and 1

24 think about from an MSD perspective that we had a lead there who wanted to,- knew that
25 she couldn't do her business without engaging with Police, without having TPK at the table,
26 without having Oranga Tamariki, the DHB, the councils, so we had quite a-,-- an informal
27 but formaliscd group that would rcgularly mect to discuss what was happcning in our

28 particular patch.

29 Intcrestingly, Kahungunu also played a big part in this, and I was rcally privilcged,
30 as the District Commander, to be invited with Kahungunu to go to Alaska to look at an

31 alternative indigenous model of care, which I found really insightful that they were thinking
32 of their own solutions and to invite government agencies to come with them on that journey
33 just exposed me to a whole lot of diffierent thinking about how problems could be solved.

34 But that camc about becausc our community, our local rclationships were really strong and
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1 the trust had been built that we might not have got everything right every day but actually
2 we were willing to listen and be open to a diffcrent way of thinking.

3 So I look at where opportunities do sit and I don't know that they can always be

4 mandated, I fcel like therc's a lot about different pcople on diffcrent journcys but local

5 communities rcally buy into making a differencc for their own people. I do think therce's a
6 strong reason to support that and 1 think that having now come to Wellington in a different
i role, | don't think you can mandate for everybody to act in a particular way, you have to do
] it because you believe it and you want to.

¢ COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: And that might work for the Police but can I just ask you one
10 more systcms lcvel question, because most agencics, and I think the Police would be the
11 same, it's an individual cntry point through an offendcr or a victim, right? But you'rc not
12 actually mandated to work with the family or the whanau, arc you? You do that as a mattcr
13 of practice, becausc it's the right thing to do.

14 MR COSTER: Yeah, I think family harm is a place where inevitably that's where you find

15 yourself, but yes, 1 think if you've, let's say an individual shoplifts, Police would

16 traditionally deal with that individual. Under Te Pae @ranga, that becomes a much more
17 whanau led concept, because in the context of marae whanau supports are invited and that
18 sort of process of whakama and then restoration is just a very natural thing that occurs

19 therc.

20 There is a big tension between indigenous concepts of dealing with things as a

pA! community, and our Western thinking around privacy and individualistic world view, and
22 that is a real barricr when we think about privacy particularly, somcthing we need to work
23 through.

24 COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: 1 think it will be an ongoing conversation. But we're able to

25 describe our problems very, very well, it's actually translating it into the how and I think

26 1 just want to reflect back that I'm hearing correctly, actually you're trialling lots of things at
237 a national levcl, at a regional Icvel, at a local level, to find what fits and what works, but a
28 bit slow on thc evaluation to be ablc to actually tcll your story bettcr.

29  MRCOSTER: Ycah, a lot of these initiatives havc cvaluated really well. So Te Pac Oranga has,

30 Whangaia Na Pa Harakeke has, Te Ara @ranga has, co-responder model has. So they've all
31 been evaluated, [ think the challenge is systematising that across the whole country because
32 it requires investment and it will require the effort of a lot of different organisations and

33 agencies, and everyone also has a range of other work programmes they need to land and so

34 that's the challenge.
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COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: It's difficult to scale something that others aren't buying into as
being a potential answer.

MR COSTER: Ithink people buy into it in principle, but it's thc many difficrent things that pcoplc
arc needing to tackle, and particularly in the last two ycars, whilst Covid cnabled us to cut
through somc of thc normal burcaucratic barricrs, it also significantly distractcd us from
some of the long running problems that we have.

COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: Thank you very much.

CHAIR: I'm the lucky last. I just want to raise one issue which, and 1 want to bring it back to the
tino kaupapa o ténei Komihana, abuse in care. When we first started this long journey with
our first hcaring way back in 2019, Dr @liver Sutherland, who you've heard referred to a
lot, gave somc very powerful cvidence, in which he described the taking into carc of
children, particularly in the 70s, at a really rough time in our history for children, tamariki
Maori, Pasifika, and the most powerful words of many powerful words that he said was
"Nobody was listening" -- sorry - "Nobody was looking, nobody was looking". And what
he was talking about was the fact that children were being taken into care, being abused in
care, and no- one was looking. And so the children weren't protected- and the abuse
continued and was perpetuated.

I raisc this with you, as I hope I'll raisc with many of the chicf cxccutives who comce
our way over thc next week or so. You've talked about thc community and somctimcs
you've said, "We have to follow the community" and then sometimes I get the feeling that
you're wanting to move the community.

But it scems to me if we arc going to makc any of the transformational changces we
need, the community must come with us. It must recognise the need for change, it must
demand change and advocate for change.

So my question to you is, we've seen lots and lots of amazingly successful
campaigns led by government agencies, including by the Police, smoking, the road toll,
morc or Icss successful, but public campaigns to raisc awarcncss and raisc consciousncss,
family violence of coursc is the big onc.

I'm just wondering whcther the Police would sce their way or consider being part of
a wide government agency campaign about children and adults who are in care, about
making them visible and making communities keep looking, keep their eyes open and be
prepared to be vigilant in the interests of their safety.

I just wonder how that appeals to you.
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MR COSTER: Yeah, your observation that it requires a movement in the community is exactly

2 the right one. To statc the obvious, the way a democracy works is that pcoplc in positions
3 of power feel like they need to get on and do somc things becausce that's what the
4 community wants and particularly clectcd Mcmbcrs of Parliament becausc ultimatcly
5 agencies will tend to respond to what's important to ministers, and ministers respond to
6 what's important to the community.
7 I think some campaigns have successfully got ahead of the community and brought
] the community along and | would say smoking is a really good example of that, albeit quite
’ a simpler one than some of the more complex problems we grapple with. So there is a
10 leadership role that agencies can play.
11 In relation to carc scttings, thankfully I think in many respects we've moved on in
12 tcrms of care becausc we're simply putting fewer peoplc into thosc scttings than we uscd to
13 and that probably is one of thc best solutions that we've got.
14 I do believe Police has a supporting role to play in this, probably not the lead role,
15 but a supporting role.
16 Bearing in mind that care settings are generally run by people who have either
1%, legislative or contractual accountabilities to the State, and so it ought not to be that difficult
18 to improvc safety in thosc scttings, as comparcd to problcms that cxist purcly in community
19 without those other levers of control.

20 CHAIR: But it does require visibility, doesn't it?

2i MR COSTER: I think it does, and it requires those who make the scttings for those places to get

22 to a point of saying this is rcally important, but we nced to get it right. There's a wholc

23 broader question around, you know, for example, around ableism which isn't just about

24 abuse in care, it's actually about opportunity and whatever else that probably would require
25 a wider range of things to occur.

26  CHAIR: Thank you forthat. Itake slight issue with the fact that there aren't -- well, obviously

27 therc arcn't children going into rcsidential care in the way they were in the great numbers,
28 butthcre arc still children who arc takcn into the guardianship or the legal ownership of the
29 State and therefore the State is responsible for them in various forms, foster children, for
30 example, children living in smaller residences, Youth Justice facilities, and not to mention
31 the vast cohort of people with disabilities who are living in more or less residential care.

32 MR COSTER: Yeah.
33 CHAIR: So they do exist and they're still there.
34 MR COSTER: Agrec.
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| CHAIR: What it needs, in my view, is great vigilance, not just by the authorities, but by the

2 whole of thc community, and that's the contcxt in which I was asking my qucstion.

3 So thank you for your acceptance and undcrstanding, I apprcciate that very much

4 that you get that, and I know you can't commit the Police at this stagce, but I scnsc that therce
5 would be a willingness to cngage in such a campaign should onc arisc.

6 MR COSTER: Sure.
7  CHAIR: It's been a long day. Can [ thank both of you very much indeed for your time and your

] willingness to sit there and be questioned. And thank you to your teams because 1 know

° that a vast -because 1 signed the documents off, the Section 20 notices, there's been a vast
10 number of requests, they will still keep- coming. Thank you to your organisation and the
11 people in it for helping us do our work by responding. Thank you very much indeed.

12 MR COSTER: May I say onc thing in closing which is this: I'vc respondced to a range of specific

13 things about specific cascs today. I've responded without knowledge of thosc spccific cascs
14 beyond what's available to me and had to talk often in generalities and I appreciate that for
15 those who are the subjects of those cases that will in no way feel adequate to reflect what
16 they've been through and 1 just want to acknowledge the gap between that experience and
17 what I've been able to convey today.

18 And I'd also like to say, notwithstanding thc many Icarnings that Policc will take

19 from this Commission, and that we have taken over time, I'm incredibly proud of what

20 Police people do. They go into somce of our most difficult situations and do their Ievel best
21 to makc a difference. And sometimes that isn't where we want it to be, but I'm confident
22 that the people who join Ncw Zealand Police arc there for the right rcasons and it's been a
23 privilege to represent them in front of the Commission today. So thank you.

24 CHAIR: Téna korua. Ka mutu aku mahi i ténei wa, matua, karakia.
25 Waiata He Honore and karakia mutunga by Ngati Whatua Orakei
26 Hearing adjourned at 5.28 pm to Wednesday, 17 August 2022 at 9 am



